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COUNCIL MEETING 
 

1 September 2021 

 

 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

1. Apologies 

2. Notification of Additional Items 

Pursuant to Sections 46A(7) and 46A(7A) of the Local Government 

Official Information and Meetings Act 1987, to receive the 

Chairperson’s explanation that specified item(s), which do not 

appear on the Agenda of this meeting and/or the meeting to be 

held with the public excluded, will be discussed. 

Any additions in accordance with Section 46A(7) must be 

approved by resolution with an explanation as to why they cannot 

be delayed until a future meeting. 

Any additions in accordance with Section 46A(7A) may be 

received or referred to a subsequent meeting for further discussion.  

No resolution, decision or recommendation can be made in 

respect of a minor item. 

 

3. Declarations of Interest (if any) 

Members are reminded of their duty to give a general notice of 

any interest of items to be considered on this agenda and the 

need to declare these interests. 

4. Presentation - Susan Freeman-Greene and Stuart Crosby - Local 

Government New Zealand Page 7 
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5. Presentation - Bill Bayfield, Chief Executive, Taumata Arowai Page 9 

6. Presentation - Craig Hart, Lions Club of Middle Districts Page 11 

7. Confirmation of Minutes Page 13 

“That the minutes of the ordinary meeting of 25 August 2021 Part I 

Public be confirmed as a true and correct record.”  

REPORTS 

8. Victoria Esplanade - Mini Golf Course Lease Proposal Page 19 

Report, presented by Bryce Hosking, Manager - Property and Kathy 

Dever-Tod, Parks & Reserves Manager. 

9. The Globe Theatre Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 Page 31 

Memorandum, presented by Hannah White, Democracy & 

Governance Manager. 

10. The Regent Theatre Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 Page 53 

Memorandum, presented by Hannah White, Democracy & 

Governance Manager. 

11. Te Manawa Museums Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 Page 75 

Memorandum, presented by Hannah White, Democracy & 

Governance Manager. 

12. Caccia Birch Trust Board - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 Page 115 

Memorandum, presented by Hannah White, Democracy & 

Governance Manager. 

13. Elected Member Appointments to the Caccia Birch Trust Board Page 137 

Memorandum, presented by Hannah White, Democracy & 

Governance Manager. 

14. Chief Executive briefing to Council on the next stages of Three 

Waters Service Delivery Reform Page 139 
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Memorandum, presented by Sandra King, Transport & 

Infrastructure Manager. 

15. Clearview Reserve - Easement Proposal to Powerco Page 215 

Report, presented by Bryce Hosking, Manager - Property and Kathy 

Dever-Tod, Parks & Reserves Manager. 

16. Quarterly Performance and Financial Report - Quarter Ending 30 

June 2021 Page 223 

Memorandum, presented by Stuart McKinnon, Chief Financial 

Officer and Andrew Boyle, Head of Community Planning. 

17. Council Work Schedule Page 305 

 18. Exclusion of Public 

 

 To be moved: 

“That the public be excluded from the following parts of the 

proceedings of this meeting listed in the table below. 

The general subject of each matter to be considered while the public is 

excluded, the reason for passing this resolution in relation to each 

matter, and the specific grounds under Section 48(1) of the Local 

Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 for the passing 

of this resolution are as follows: 

 

General subject of each 

matter to be considered 

Reason for passing 

this resolution in 

relation to each 

matter 

Ground(s) under 

Section 48(1) for 

passing this resolution 

19. Award of Contract - 

Crematorium Seismic 

Strengthening 

Third Party 

Commercial 

s7(2)(b)(ii) 

20. Trustee/Director 

Appointments to 

Council Organisations 

Privacy s7(2)(a) 

21. Civic Honours Awards 

2021 

Privacy s7(2)(a) 

22. Tamakuku Terrace - 

Negotiations with 

Affordable Housing 

Providers 

Negotiations s7(2)(i) 



 

P a g e  |    6 

 

This resolution is made in reliance on Section 48(1)(a) of the Local 

Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 and the 

particular interest or interests protected by Section 6 or Section 7 of that 

Act which would be prejudiced by the holding of the whole or the 

relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting in public as stated in 

the above table. 

Also that the persons listed below be permitted to remain after the 

public has been excluded for the reasons stated. 

[Add Third Parties], because of their knowledge and ability to assist the 

meeting in speaking to their report/s [or other matters as specified] and 

answering questions, noting that such person/s will be present at the 

meeting only for the items that relate to their respective report/s [or 

matters as specified]. 
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PRESENTATION 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Presentation - Susan Freeman-Greene and Stuart Crosby - 

Local Government New Zealand 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council receive the presentation for information. 

 

SUMMARY 

Susan Freeman-Greene and Stuart Crosby from Local Government New Zealand will 

speak on the Three Waters proposal. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Nil   
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PRESENTATION 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Presentation - Bill Bayfield, Chief Executive, Taumata Arowai 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council receive the presentation for information. 

 

SUMMARY 

Bill Bayfield, Chief Executive from Taumata Arowai will speak on the Three Waters 

proposal. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Nil   
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PRESENTATION 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Presentation - Craig Hart, Lions Club of Middle Districts 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council receive the presentation for information. 

 

SUMMARY 

Mr Craig Hart from the Lions Club would like to present on the mini golf course 

proposal at the Victoria Esplanade. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Nil   
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PALMERSTON NORTH CITY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Council Meeting Part I Public, held via an Audio 

Visual Meeting on 25 August 2021, commencing at 9.00am 

Members 

Present: 

Grant Smith (The Mayor) (in the Chair) and Councillors Brent Barrett, 

Susan Baty, Rachel Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee 

Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, 

Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée Mickalad, Karen Naylor and 

Aleisha Rutherford. 

Apologies: Councillor Bruno Petrenas. 

 

  

80-21 Apologies 

 Moved Grant Smith, seconded Aleisha Rutherford. 

RESOLVED 

1. That Council receive the apologies. 

 Clause 80-21 above was carried 15 votes to 0, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, 

Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée 

Mickalad, Karen Naylor and Aleisha Rutherford. 

 

81-21 Confirmation of Minutes 

 Moved Grant Smith, seconded Aleisha Rutherford. 

RESOLVED 

1. That the minutes of the ordinary meeting of 4 August 2021 Part I 

Public be confirmed as a true and correct record. 

 Clause 81-21 above was carried 15 votes to 0, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, 

Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée 

Mickalad, Karen Naylor and Aleisha Rutherford. 

 

82-21 Presentation 

 Mr Chris Teo-Sherrell made a presentation on behalf of the Water 

Protection Society regarding item 5 of the Agenda (clause 83-21 
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below). 

Mr Teo-Sherrell supported the land-based wastewater treatment options 

stating that they were more beneficial to life and spiritual values of the 

river and ocean, could create higher economic benefits in the 

community and would contribute to the reduction of greenhouse 

emissions. 

It was pointed out as deficiencies of the land-based discharge options 

that none of them included a front-end treatment wetland component. 

Finally, Mr Teo-Sherrell asked Elected Members to make a decision that 

reflects the values of the community especially those of younger 

people. 

 

 Moved Grant Smith, seconded Aleisha Rutherford. 

RESOLVED 

1. That the presentation from Mr Chris Teo-Sherrell be received. 

 Clause 82-21 above was carried 15 votes to 0, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, 

Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée 

Mickalad, Karen Naylor and Aleisha Rutherford. 

 

REPORTS 

83-21 Wastewater Best Practicable Option: Final Assessment and BPO 

Selection 

Memorandum, presented by Robert van Bentum, PNCC Chief Engineer, 

Melaina Voss, Wastewater BPO Project Manager, David Warburton, BPO 

Project Steering Group Chair, Peter Loughran, Stantec, Oska Rego, 

Simpson Grierson, Jim Bradley Stantec, and  Daryl Irvine,  PDP. 

The meeting adjourned at 10.46am. 

The meeting resumed at 11.00am. 

 

Councillor Naylor’s proposed amendment was considered. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 12.34pm.  

The meeting resumed at 1.45pm.  

 

Councillor Dingwall’s proposed amendment was considered. 

 

 Moved Grant Smith, seconded Aleisha Rutherford. 

RESOLVED 

1. That Council receive the report titled ‘Wastewater Best Practicable 
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Option: Final Assessment and BPO Selection,’ including the 

attachments Appendices 1 to 10. 

2. That Council note the Best Practicable Option (BPO) identified by 

the technical team for consideration by Council based on Officer 

recommendations of scoring and weighting of assessment criteria. 

 Clauses 83.1-21 and 83.2-21 above were carried 15 votes to 0, the voting being 

as follows: 

For: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, 

Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée 

Mickalad, Karen Naylor and Aleisha Rutherford. 

 

 Moved Grant Smith, seconded Aleisha Rutherford. 

RESOLVED 

3. That Council agree the assessment weightings for determining the 

wastewater management solution are as set out in Figure 3: 

Technical Recommendation of Assessment Weightings. 

 Clause 83.3-21 above was carried 14 votes to 1, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, 

Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée 

Mickalad and Aleisha Rutherford. 

Against: 

Councillor Karen Naylor. 

 

 Note: 

Moved Karen Naylor, seconded Vaughan Dennison. 

 

On an amendment to recommendation 3 that: ‘Council agree the assessment 

weightings for determining the wastewater management solution as 

recommended by officers subject to increasing the weighting of cost to 25% 

and reduce MCA, Project objectives and RMA Planning by 5% each’. The 

amendment was lost 2 votes to 13, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

Councillors Vaughan Dennison and Karen Naylor. 

Against: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, Patrick Handcock 

ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée Mickalad and 

Aleisha Rutherford. 
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 Moved Renee Dingwall, seconded Brent Barrett. 

 On an amendment to recommendation 3 that: ‘Council changes the 

assessment weightings to provide 50% to Maori Values and MCA in line with our 

Te Tiriti partnership. The other weightings changed as indicated on page 20 of 

the Draft Interim BPO Assessment & Recommendation will be Multi Criteria 

Assessment 10%,  Project Objectives 10%, RMA Planning 10%’. The amendment 

was lost 2 votes to 13, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

Councillors Brent Barrett and Renee Dingwall. 

Against: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Susan Baty, Rachel Bowen, Zulfiqar 

Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Lew Findlay QSM, Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie 

Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée Mickalad, Karen Naylor and 

Aleisha Rutherford. 

 
84-21 Council Work Schedule 

 Moved Grant Smith, seconded Aleisha Rutherford. 

RESOLVED 

1. That the Council receive its Work Schedule dated August 2021.  

 Clause 84-21 above was carried 15 votes to 0, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, 

Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée 

Mickalad, Karen Naylor and Aleisha Rutherford. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

85-21 Planning & Strategy Committee Part I Public - 11 August 2021 

Consideration was given to Planning & Strategy Committee 

recommendations below. 

 Moved Aleisha Rutherford, seconded Patrick Handcock ONZM. 

RESOLVED 

Draft Trade Waste Bylaw - Approval for Consultation 

1. That the draft Palmerston North Trade Waste Bylaw 2022 

Consultation Document, included as attachment one to the report 

titled ‘Draft Trade Waste Bylaw – approval for consultation’ 

presented to the Planning and Strategy Committee on 11 August 

2021, be amended as follows: 

 Section 1.3(h) of Appendix 2 of the Administration Manual to read: 

‘Radioactive material, unless the material is discharged in 
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accordance with the Code of Practice for Unsealed Radioactive 

Material published by the Ministry of Health.’ 

2. That the Council approve the draft Palmerston North Trade Waste 

Bylaw 2022 Consultation Document, included as attachment one to 

the report titled ‘Draft Trade Waste Bylaw – approval for 

consultation’ presented to the Planning & Strategy Committee on 11 

August 2021 (as amended), for consultation with the public. 

3. That the Mayor and Deputy Mayor be authorised to approve minor 

amendments to the consultation document prior to publication. 

 

Mitigating East Street Traffic Safety Concerns 

1. That the Council provide additional funding (up to $24,000) to install 

temporary safety treatments in East Street in Financial Year 2021-22 

(Year 1) immediately, and proceed to install permanent safety 

treatments as planned in Financial Year 2023-24 (Year 3). 

 

 Clause 85-21 above was carried 15 votes to 0, the voting being as follows: 

For: 

The Mayor (Grant Smith) and Councillors Brent Barrett, Susan Baty, Rachel 

Bowen, Zulfiqar Butt, Vaughan Dennison, Renee Dingwall, Lew Findlay QSM, 

Patrick Handcock ONZM, Leonie Hapeta, Lorna Johnson, Billy Meehan, Orphée 

Mickalad, Karen Naylor and Aleisha Rutherford. 

 

The meeting finished at 2.36pm 

 

Confirmed 1 September 2021 

 

 

 

Mayor
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Report 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Victoria Esplanade - Mini Golf Course Lease Proposal 

PRESENTED BY: Bryce Hosking, Manager - Property and Kathy Dever-Tod, Parks 

& Reserves Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sarah Sinclair, Chief Infrastructure Officer  

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL 

1. That Council agrees to: 

a) Approve the extended lease term of ten (10) years for The Lions Club of 

Middle Districts Incorporated to enable development of an 18-hole mini 

golf course within the Play Zone of the Victoria Esplanade, and remove 

the early termination clause within the Lease;  

or 

b) Approve the extended lease term of ten (10) years for The Lions Club of 

Middle Districts Incorporated to enable development of an 18-hole mini 

golf course within the Play Zone of the Victoria Esplanade, and retain the 

early termination clause within the Lease. 
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SUMMARY OF OPTIONS ANALYSIS FOR 

Problem or 

Opportunity 

The Victoria Esplanade Masterplan 2018 has provision for an 18-

hole mini golf course to be located within the Play Zone of the 

Victoria Esplanade. 

The Lions Club of Middle Districts Incorporated (“the Lions”) 

provided a submission as part of the 2018-28 Ten Year Plan to 

develop and operate the mini golf facilities at their cost.  This 

was approved by Council.  

Once the Lions had obtained the resource consent in early 2021, 

negotiations commenced to determine the proposed lease 

terms.  

Council’s policy for leasing land within reserves directs that the 

length of the lease term is no longer than five (5) years with a 

single right of renewal of another five (5) years. It is also standard 

practise for an early termination clause to be included in all 

recreational leases. 

Given the Lions’ level of capital investment in the Project, they 

have requested a ten (10) year lease term with a right of 

renewal of another ten (10) years. In addition, they have also 

requested that the early termination clause be removed from 

the lease documentation. 

As the Lion’s request differs from Council’s policy and standard 

practice, this report seeks approval from Council of these 

extended terms, so a lease can be formally entered into. 

OPTION 1:  Approve the extended lease term and remove the early 

termination clause within the Lease 

Benefits This is the Lion’s preferred Option.  

• A 20-year lease term will provide security to the Lions and 

will support their internal fund-raising efforts for the 

project.  

• The longer lease term will support the Lions to continue to 

invest in the project through ongoing maintenance 

expenses for the operation of the mini golf facilities. 

Risks • Should the mini golf course not be operating in 

accordance with the consent conditions or the general 

principles of the proposal consented upon, or the course 

not be operating in a way that meets Council’s 

expectations and these matters cannot be resolved 

through arbitration, Council would not be able to bring 

the Lease to an end without the agreement of the Lions.  

• The lease term of 20 years may limit Council’s strategic 

options around the future use of the lease area. However, 
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the risk is low as this proposal has been consulted and 

approved by Council in the Long Term Plan and the 

Esplanade Master Plan. 

Financial • Council will receive an annual rental of $150 + GST.  

OPTION 2:  Approve the extended lease term but retain the early 

termination clause within the Lease 

Benefits • The Lions are still provided with considerable lease 

security and can continue to invest in the project through 

ongoing maintenance expenses for the operation of the 

mini golf facilities with confidence. 

• In the event that the mini golf is not operated in 

accordance with the resource consent conditions or the 

general principles of the proposal consented upon, or the 

course is not operating in a way that meets Council’s 

expectations and these matters cannot be resolved 

through arbitration, the inclusion of the early termination 

clause helps to mitigate Council’s risk to enable Council 

to bring the lease to an end.   

Risks • The lease term of 20 years may limit Council’s strategic 

options around the future use of the lease area. 

• The inclusion of a termination clause will be viewed 

negatively by the Lions as they consider it reduces their 

lease security moving forward. 

Financial • Council will receive an annual rental of $150 + GST.  

OPTION 3:  Decline the current proposed lease terms, with Council Officers 

entering back into negotiations to determine new lease terms in 

line with Council’s policy and standard practice 

Benefits • Council Officers will negotiate the lease terms in 

accordance with existing policy and standard practice, 

consistent with the approach taken for other community 

groups. 

Risks • The Lions may not agree with the terms in line with 

Council’s policy and standard practice which may delay 

or jeopardise the project. 

• The Lions may perceive Council as being difficult to deal 

with and causing unnecessary delays. 

Financial • As negotiations would be recommencing, no rental 

income will be received until terms have been reached. 

• It is likely that the final rental received will remain the 
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same at $150 + GST as this is already in line with Council’s 

policy. 

 

RATIONALE FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. OVERVIEW OF THE PROBLEM OR OPPORTUNITY 

1.1 The Victoria Esplanade Masterplan 2018 has provision for an 18-hole mini golf 

course to be located within the Play Zone of the Victoria Esplanade. 

1.2 The Lions Club of Middle Districts Incorporated (“the Lions”) provided a 

submission as part of the 2018-28 Long Term Plan to develop and operate the 

mini golf facilities at their cost.  This was approved by Council. 

1.3 Once the Lions had obtained the resource consent in early 2021, negotiations 

commenced to determine the proposed lease terms.  

1.4 The proposed location and site plan approved under the resource consent is 

shown in Figure 1. 

 

Figure 1:  Mini golf course plan as per Resource Consent 

1.5 Council’s policy for leasing land within reserves directs that the length of the 

lease term is no longer than five (5) years with a single right of renewal of 

another five (5) years. It is also standard practise for an early termination 

clause to be included in all recreational leases. 

1.6 Given the Lions’ level of capital investment in the Project, they have 

requested a ten (10) year lease term with a right of renewal of another ten 

(10) years. In addition, they have also requested that the early termination 

clause be removed from the lease documentation. 
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1.7 As the Lion’s request differs from Council’s policy and standard practice, this 

report seeks approval from Council of these extended terms, so a lease can 

be formally entered into. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Victoria Esplanade Masterplan was developed in 2017 and 2018 to guide 

the development of the Victoria Esplanade. 

2.2 It identified the Lions’ mini golf as a development project within the Play Zone, 

as per Figure Two. 

 

Figure 2:  Mini golf in the Victoria Esplanade Masterplan - page 89 

2.3 The Masterplan was consulted with the Victoria Esplanade User Group and 

community, and the mini golf proposal was well received. 

Extended Lease Terms 

2.4 For most of Council’s existing recreation leases, the lease terms are capped 

to no more than ten (10) years in accordance with the existing Council Policy, 

ie. a 5-year term with a right of renewal of another 5 years. 



 
 

P a g e  |    24 

IT
E
M

 8
 

2.5 There are seven (7) approved leases that have lease terms longer than 10 

years. These leases are: 

Tenant Location Lease Term 

Manawatu Smallbore Rifle 

Association 

Totara Road 15 Years 

Manawatu Cricket Association Practice-wicket, Park Road 15 Years 

Palmerston North Golf Club Brightwater Terrace 30 Years 

Menzshed Manawatu Rangitāne Pavilion 25 Years 

Palmerston North Esplanade 

Scenic Railway 

The Esplanade 20 Years 

YMCA Central Park Road 31 Years 

The Scout Association NZ  Ashhurst Domain 20 Years 

 

2.6 The above leases were granted extended lease terms to provide additional 

security of lease term to reflect the organisation’s considerable financial 

investment into their respective facilities.  

3. LEASE TERMINATION 

3.1 Within Council’s standard lease documentation for recreational leases or 

leases on reserves there are two clauses that enable Council to terminate a 

lease early; a clause for a breach of lease conditions, and a more 

broadened early termination clause. These are explored below.  

Lease Termination – Breach of Lease 

3.2 If a tenant is breaching the lease conditions such as not paying rent or not 

using a lease area for the use prescribed/ agreed to within the lease, Council 

can terminate the lease through Clause 9.2. This clause reads: 

“If the Landlord after making such enquiries as it thinks fit and giving the 

Tenant the opportunity of explaining the usage of the property is satisfied that 

the property is not being used or being sufficiently used for the Prescribed Use 

then the Landlord may terminate this lease on such terms as it thinks fit but 

without prejudice to any antecedent right or action which the Landlord may 

have against the Tenant however it arose.” 

3.3 In the situation where a breach of lease had occurred, prior to any 

termination of the lease being sought, the two parties would always look to 

engage in a thorough arbitration process to try to resolve the issues. However, 

should the issue/s not be able to be resolved, the legal process to terminate 

the lease can begin.  

3.4 This clause will remain in all lease documentation, including the proposed 

lease discussed in this report with the Lions.  
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3.5 However, providing a tenant is not breaching the terms of a lease, this clause 

does not allow Council to terminate a lease should the operation of that 

facility not meet Council’s expectations, ie. providing poor service, not being 

opened for desired hours, not upkeeping the facility to Council’s desired 

standards, etc.  

Early Termination Clause 

3.6 To reduce Council’s risk in relation to the operation of the facility not meeting 

Council’s expectations, it is standard practice for Council to also include a 

more broadened early termination clause in its lease documentation, in 

addition to Clause 9.2, for recreational leases or leases on reserves. This is 

Clause 47 which reads: 

“Notwithstanding any other provision in this Lease, the Landlord may 

terminate this Lease by giving three (3) months’ notice in writing to the 

Tenant. Termination pursuant to this clause shall not give the Tenant any right 

or claim whatsoever against the Landlord.”  

3.7 For clarity, an arbitration process like that mentioned above to resolve lease 

issues would still be undertaken in this instance, however, should a resolution 

of issues that do not constitute a breach of lease not be able to be reached, 

Council will have the ability to terminate a lease. If this clause is not included 

in the lease, these types of issues are very difficult to address. 

3.8 Whilst this clause is included in leases to help mitigate Council’s risk, Council 

does have two (2) approved leases which have had this clause removed. 

They are: 

Tenant Location Lease Term 

Manawatu Cricket Association Practice-wicket, Park Road 15 Years 

YMCA Central Park Road 31 Years 

 

3.9 As with the extended lease terms, the early termination clause was removed 

from these leases to reflect the considerable financial investment from the 

organisations into their respective facilities. 

4. DESCRIPTION OF OPTIONS 

4.1 Council has three (3) options to consider: 

• Approve the extended lease term and remove the early termination 

clause within the Lease; 

• Approve the extended lease term but retain the early termination 

clause with the Lease; or 

• Decline the current proposed lease terms, with Council Officers 

entering back into negotiation to determine new lease terms in line 

with Council’s policy and standard practice. 
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5. ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS 

OPTION 1:  Approve the extended lease term and remove the early 

termination clause with the Lease 

5.1 Option 1 sees Council enter a lease with the Lions within the Victoria 

Esplanade.  

5.2 The lease is proposed to be for a ten (10) year lease term with a right of 

renewal of another ten (10) years. In addition, the Lions have requested that 

the standard early termination clause be removed from the lease 

documentation. 

5.3 This is the Lion’s preferred option.  

5.4 Note:  The benefits and risks within this report relate to the options being 

considered, not in relation to having a mini golf course within the Victoria 

Esplanade. 

Benefits 

5.5 Option 1 has the following benefits: 

• A 20-year lease term clause will provide security to the Lions and will 

support their internal fund-raising efforts for the project.  

• The added security of the lease will support the Lions to continue to 

invest in the project through ongoing maintenance expenses for the 

operation of the mini golf facilities with confidence. 

• The Lions perceive that the removal of the early termination clause will 

give them more security of the Lease. 

Risks 

5.6 The risks identified for Option 1 are: 

• Should the mini golf course not be operating in accordance with the 

consent conditions or the general principles of the proposal consented 

upon, or the course not be operating in a way that meets Council’s 

expectations and these matters cannot be resolved through 

arbitration, Council would not be able to bring the Lease to an end 

without the agreement of the Lions.  

• The lease term of 20 years may limit Council’s strategic options around 

the future use of the lease area. However, the risk is low as this proposal 

has been consulted and approved by Council in the Long Term Plan 

and the Esplanade Master Plan. 

Financial 

5.7 Council will receive an annual rental of $150 + GST.  
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5.8 There will be no ongoing operational costs to Council associated with the 

lease as it is a land lease only.  The club will be responsible for their own repair 

and maintenance of the mini golf facilities. 

OPTION 2:  Approve the extended lease term but retain the early termination 

clause with the Lease. 

5.9 As with Option 1, Option 2 sees Council enter a lease with the Lions within the 

Victoria Esplanade.  

5.10 Again, the lease is proposed to be for a ten (10) year lease term with a right 

of renewal of another ten (10) years. However, this option will retain the early 

termination clause in the lease documentation in line with Council’s standard 

practice.  

Benefits 

5.11 Option 2 has the following benefits: 

• The Lions are still provided considerable lease security and can 

continue to invest in the project through ongoing maintenance 

expenses for the operation of the mini golf facilities with confidence. 

• In the event that the mini golf is not operated in accordance with the 

resource consent conditions or the general principles of the proposal 

consented upon, or the course was not operating in a way that meets 

Council’s expectations and these matters cannot be resolved through 

arbitration, the inclusion of the early termination clause helps to 

mitigate Council’s risk to enable Council to bring the lease to an end.  

Risks 

5.12 The risks identified for Option 2 are: 

• Given the proposed lease will be potentially 20 years, this may limit 

Council’s strategic options around the future use of the lease area. 

• The inclusion of a termination clause will be viewed negatively by the 

Lions as they consider it to reduce their lease security moving forward. 

Financial 

5.13 Council will receive an annual rental of $150 + GST.  

5.14 As with Option 1, there will be no ongoing operational costs to Council 

associated with the lease as it is a land lease only.  The club will be 

responsible for their own repair and maintenance of the mini golf facilities. 
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OPTION 3:  Decline the current proposed lease terms, with Council Officers 

entering back into negotiations to determine new lease terms in line with 

Council’s policy and standard practice 

5.15 Option 3 sees Council decline the current proposed lease terms and directs 

Council Officers to go back to the Lions and renegotiate terms that are in line 

with Council’s policy and standard practice.  

5.16 This would be the least favourable option for the Lions and will at minimum 

cause delays to the project.  

Benefits 

5.17 Council Officers will negotiate the lease terms in accordance with existing 

policy and standard practice. 

Risks 

5.18 The risks identified for Option 3 are: 

• The Lions may not agree with the terms in line with Council’s policy and 

standard practice which may delay or jeopardise the project. 

• The wider public and the Lions may perceive Council as being difficult 

to deal with and causing unnecessary delays. 

Financial 

5.19 As negotiations would be recommencing, no rental income will be received 

until terms have been reached. 

5.20 It is likely that the final rental received will remain the same at $150 + GST as 

this is already in line with Council’s policy. 

6. CONCLUSION 

Options 1 and 2 

6.1 Despite the extended lease term limiting Council’s future use of the site upon 

which it will sit, given the mini golf course was included in the 2018 Victoria 

Esplanade Masterplan, this is considered a low and unlikely risk to Council.  

6.2 The removal of the early termination clause increases Council’s risk should the 

venture not be operated in a way that meets Council’s expectations. Whilst 

this is also considered an unlikely risk, Council will need to decide whether 

they are willing to accept this risk. 

Option 3 

6.3 Unlike the risks for Options 1 and 2, the risks associated with Option 3 are 

considerably more likely to occur and will potentially have a much higher 

impact.  
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6.4 The risks around delay, straining Council’s relationship with the Lions, and even 

jeopardising the project altogether if terms cannot be reached, are 

considered to far outweigh the benefits of this option.  

6.5 Considering the above, it is recommended that Council proceed with either 

Option 1 or 2 depending on their risk appetite around the removal of the 

early termination clause.  

7. NEXT ACTIONS 

7.1 Proceed with signing a Deed of Lease between Council and The Lions for the 

mini golf course land within Victoria Esplanade. 

8. OUTLINE OF COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT PROCESS 

8.1 The Victoria Esplanade is subject to the Palmerston North Reserves Act 1922 

and has its own Reserve Management Plan and therefore is not subject to the 

consultation requirements of the Reserves Act 1977.  

8.2 Given this the lease proposal was not required to be publicly notified. 

8.3 The Esplanade Steering Group was consulted on this lease proposal and there 

were no objections.  

8.4 Council Officers presented the Club’s proposal in the bimonthly meeting with 

Rangitāne o Manawatu on 28 June 2019 and Iwi representatives were 

supportive of the lease term and suggested that the signage have dual 

English and Te Reo wording to be consistent with new signage across the city. 

This recommendation was adopted as a condition of the resource consent. 

8.5 Iwi were further consulted on this matter in July 2021 as part of the July 2021 

bimonthly meeting with Council Officers. They had no objections to either 

option 1 or option 2. 

COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do, they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special Consultative 

procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? Yes 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 2: A Creative and Exciting City 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in     Active 
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Communities 

The action is: To carry out recreation and reserves planning functions under the 

Palmerston North Reserves Act 1922 and Local Government Act including the 

preparation of Reserve Management and Development Plans and Master Plans. 

Contribution to 

strategic direction and 

to social, economic, 

environmental and 

cultural well-being 

This aligns will with the direction to create a city that has 

great places for all people, particularly families, and have 

the most active community in New Zealand (Priorities 1 

and 5, Creative Land Liveable Strategy). 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Nil   
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: The Globe Theatre Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 

PRESENTED BY: Hannah White, Democracy & Governance Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sheryl Bryant, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

  

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council agree the Statement of Intent 2021-2024 submitted by the Globe 

Theatre Trust, attached as Appendix 1 of the report titled ‘The Globe Theatre Trust 

- Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024’  

 

1. ISSUE 

1.1 The Statement of Intent (SOI) sets out the objectives and activities of The 

Globe Theatre Trust (the Globe) for the next three years. It serves as a basis for 

accountability to the Council, as the shareholder, and provides an 

opportunity for the Council to influence The Globe’s direction. The 

requirements for the Statement of Intent are set out in Schedule 8 of the Local 

Government Act 2002 (LGA). 

1.2 Under the LGA, a local authority has the power to modify a SOI to ensure it 

adequately reflects the Council’s strategic priorities if it considers that is 

necessary. 

1.3 In November 2020, the Council resolved to retain the Statement of 

Expectations 2020/21 for all cultural Council Controlled Organisations (CCOs) 

for the forthcoming year 2021/22.  

1.4 The Globe delivered its final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 to Council officers 

before the legal deadline of 30 June 2021. 

1.5 The purpose of this report is for the Council to fulfil the requirement under s 

65(2) of the LGA to agree the final SOI, or if it does not agree, to require the 

SOI to be modified as set out in clause 6, Schedule 8 of the LGA. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Globe is a CCO, which was set up to independently manage the Globe 

Theatre. A CCO is an organisation in which Council has the right to appoint at 

least fifty percent of the trustees and must work towards Council’s objectives 
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on its behalf. The Globe is managed by a Board of Trustees made up of 

committed volunteers. 

2.2 The Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee received the Globe’s draft SOI at its 

meeting on 14 April 2021 and made recommendations for the Globe Trust 

Board to consider in developing its final SOI. These recommended changes 

were approved by Council on 5 May 2021.  

2.3 The Globe Theatre Trust Board has considered the Council’s comments on the 

draft SOI and made changes in response, as summarised in Table 1.  

2.4 Officers consider that comments have been adequately addressed in the 

final SOI and that new performance measures can be developed before the 

draft SOI 2022-25 is submitted in March 2022. 

Table 1:  Comparison of Council comments with the Globe’s final SOI 2021-24 

Council comments on draft SOI Is it dealt with in the SOI? 

Develop 4-6 high-quality performance 

measures with Officers. 

No - The performance measures have not 

changed in this SOI.  A comment to 

develop new measures for next year is 

mentioned in the foreword.  

The Globe has confirmed that work will be 

completed before the draft SOI 2022-25 is 

presented to Committee in 2022. 

Actively explore collaboration with other 

CCOs on a one-stop front of house 

booking operation. 

Yes - Mentioned in foreword. 

Actively explore with other CCOs 

opportunities for bringing ticketing 

functions under one umbrella for city 

venues. 

Yes - Mentioned in foreword. 

Work with Council and other agencies to 

develop Economic Impact reporting for 

regionally/nationally significant events. 

Yes - Mentioned in foreword. 

 

2.5 Collaboration with other CCOs and Council officers has already begun 

through the quarterly CCO meetings, to explore options for: 

• A one-stop front of house booking operation 

• Bringing ticketing functions under one umbrella for city venues  

• Developing Economic Impact reporting for regionally/nationally 

significant events. 
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3. NEXT STEPS 

3.1 The Globe’s Annual Report 2020-21 is due to Council officers on 30 September 

2021 and will be presented to the Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee in 

November. 

3.2 Statements of Expectation for 2022-25 will be drafted by officers and 

presented to the Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee in November. 

4. COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special 

Consultative procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? Yes 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 2: A Creative and Exciting City 

The recommendations contribute to the outcomes of the Creative and Liveable 

Strategy 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in the Arts 

Plan 

The action is: to support CCOs to achieve the objectives of the arts plan. 

Contribution to 

strategic 

direction and to 

social, 

economic, 

environmental 

and cultural well-

being 

Agreeing the Statements of Intent is a mechanism for Council to 

provide guidance and direction to the cultural CCOs and meets 

Council’s responsibility to monitor the CCOs under the LGA. 

 

  

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. The Globe Theatre: Statement of Intent 2021-24 ⇩   

    

COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25720_1.PDF
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Globe Theatre Trust 
Statement of Intent 

For the three years to 30 June 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version: FINAL 

Date: 21/06/2021 

Prepared by: Globe Theatre Trust Board 

 

  

address: PO Box 132, 132 Main Street 

Palmerston North 

website: www.globetheatre.co.nz 

email: info@theglobe.co.nz 

phone: 06 351 4409  

 



 

P a g e  |    35 

IT
E
M

 9
 -

 A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
1

 

   

  Page 2 of 19 

 

CONTENTS 

Trust Details as at 30 June 2021 ................................................................................ 3 
Foreword .................................................................................................................... 4 
Purpose of the Statement of Intent ............................................................................. 5 
About the Globe Theatre Trust ................................................................................... 5 

Governance Statements ..................................................................................... 5 
Core Purpose ...................................................................................................... 6 
Vision .................................................................................................................. 6 
Mission…………………………………………………………………………………..6 
Values ................................................................................................................. 6 

Contribution to small city benefits, big city ambition ................................................... 6 
The Globe Theatre Trust’s Strategic Objectives ......................................................... 7 

Nature and scope of activities of the Trust Board – what we do ................................. 7 
Performance Measures .............................................................................................. 8 

Definitions ........................................................................................................... 8 
Strategic priorities and performance monitoring for 2021/22, 2022/23, 2023/24 ........ 9 
How we operate ....................................................................................................... 12 
Working together ...................................................................................................... 12 

Half-yearly report ............................................................................................... 12 
Annual report..................................................................................................... 12 

Forecast financial statements ................................................................................... 14 
Statement of Financial Performance for the years ended 30 June 2022, 2023, 
2024 .................................................................................................................. 14 
Statement of Financial Position for the years ended 30 June 2022, 2023, 2024..
 .......................................................................................................................... 15 
Statement of changes in accumulated funds for the years ended 30 June 2022, 
2023, 2024 ........................................................................................................ 14 
Statement of cashflow for the years ended 30 June 2022, 2023, 2024............. 16 

Summary of significant accounting policies .............................................................. 17 
 



 

P a g e  |    36 

IT
E
M

 9
 -

 A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
1

 

   

  Page 3 of 19 

Trust Details as at 30 June 2021 

Nature of Business Theatre 

Establishment Date 15 April 2002 

Trustees J Adams (Chairperson) 
M Dale 
R Harris 
G Hudson  
M May 

Treasurer G Hudson 

Secretary M May 

Theatre Manager G Keating 

Address 312 Main Street 
PO Box 132 
Palmerston North 

Telephone (06) 351 4409 

Website www.globetheatre.co.nz 

Email info@globetheatre.co.nz 

Bankers Bank of New Zealand 

Solicitors Cooper Rapley 

Registered Office C/ Palmerston North City Council 
Civic Administration Building 
The Square 
Palmerston North 

Incorporation Number 1206039 

Charity Registration Number CC28111 

Inland Revenue Number 43-006-495 
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Foreword 
The Globe Theatre Trust Board is pleased to present its Statement of Intent for the three-year period from July 
2021 to June 2024. The Board continues to be driven by its vision of the Globe Theatre as the home of the local 
performing arts community in Palmerston North.  

In 2020, the Board reviewed its 5-Year Strategic Plan and following that review, created a 10-Year Strategic Plan 
with a view to review every year. The 10-Year Strategic Plan was attached to the Statement of Intent 2020-2023. 

The Statement of Intent is presented under a “business as usual” scenario. The Board is, however, mindful of 
the COVID Pandemic and whilst the theatre is operating under “business as usual”, we are only one step away 
from being closed for any length of time. After the initial lockdown of March – May 2020, the theatre reopened 
to many events and good crowds. Even during the Level 2 lockdown of August & September 2020, the theatre 
was able to function to the best of its ability under social distancing restrictions. 

The Board anticipates further growth in business but not to the extent of previous years. The Board has 
requested additional funding from the 2021/22 year for increased technical support with a view to growing this 
position into a permanent paid position funded by the growth in hire income and ticketing business. 

The Board is confident that the theatre is making excellent progress toward its vision to be “A dynamic, bustling, 
vibrant centre for the performing arts community in Palmerston North”. Even allowing for the closure of the 
theatre for over two months in 2020, the theatre was still on track results wise. 

 Theatre Usage 
Theatre 

Performances Audience Participants/Performers Hours of Use 

2019/20 533 221 15393 2801 1988 

2018/19 680 253 21409 1843 2544 
 

Our focus for the coming year will be as follows: 

• Work with council officers on the following: 

o the refurbishment of the Globe 1 theatre back stage toilets 

o to develop new performance measures 

o to actively explore a one-stop front of house booking operation 

o to actively explore bringing ticketing functions under one umbrella for city venues 

o to develop Economic Impact reporting for regional/national significant events 

• Look at how we can utilise the limited storage space available at the theatre. 

• Liaise with our Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) groups at how best to fulfil their needs. 

• Increase the promotion of events and the theatre to reach a wider audience within Palmerston North 
& Manawatu 

• Upgrade our equipment to meet industry standards and the needs of our clients. 

• Collaborate with the Papaioea Festival of the Arts for 2022 & beyond 

 

Globe Theatre Trust Board 
June 2021  



 

P a g e  |    38 

IT
E
M

 9
 -

 A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
1

 

   

  Page 5 of 19 

Purpose of the Statement of Intent 
This Statement of Intent is presented by The Globe Theatre Trust in accordance with the requirements of s 64(1) 
of the Local Government Act 2002. 

In accordance with the Local Government Act 2002, this annual Statement of Intent (SOI) publicly states the 
activities and intention of The Globe Theatre Trust for the next three years, and the objectives to which those 
activities will contribute. 

This SOI takes shareholder comments into consideration and includes performance measures and targets as the 
basis of organisational accountability. 

About the Globe Theatre Trust 

GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 

The Globe Theatre Trust is established and governed by the Globe Theatre Trust Deed, available on request from 
the contact officer. 
 
Objectives of Globe Theatre Trust Deed 
The objectives of the Trust Deed provide the framework for the Trust to control, develop, promote, enhance, 
and maintain the Globe Theatre so that it may be used and enjoyed by the inhabitants of the Manawatu area 
including: 

(i) Securing the future of the Globe Theatre. 

(ii) Preparing, in consultation with the Council, a Strategic Plan and an Annual Plan for attaining 

these objectives. 

(iii) Acknowledging the Globe Theatre as the home of the Manawatu Theatre Society. 

(iv) Ensuring the Globe Theatre remains accessible to the community (both physically and financially). 

(v) Fostering a sense of community by encouraging youth, assisting amateurs, and promoting 

participation. 

The primary objective of the Trust is to promote the performing arts within Palmerston North by catering for a 
variety of local and touring arts and cultural events such as drama, comedy, musical theatre, dance and musical 
recitals, public artistic competitions, conferences, and seminars, rather than making a financial return.  

 
Structure and governance 
The Board of up to seven Trustees (5 appointed by Palmerston North City Council and up to 2 co-opted Trustees) 
is responsible for the strategic direction and control of The Globe Theatre Trust’s activities. The Board guides 
and monitors the business and affairs of the Trust, in accordance with the Trustee Act 1956, the Local 
Government Act 2002, the Trust Deed and this Statement of Intent. The Board’s approach to governance is to 
adopt “good practice” with respect to:  

(i) the operation and performance of the Board, including being a good employer  

(ii) managing the relationship with the Theatre Manager  

(iii) being accountable to the community and reporting to the Palmerston North City Council 

The Theatre Manager is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Globe Theatre, engaging and oversight 
of staff/volunteers and reporting to the Trustees on performance against The Trust’s objectives. 
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CORE PURPOSE 

“To be the home of the local performing arts community in Palmerston North.” 

VISION 

“A dynamic, bustling, vibrant centre for the performing arts community in Palmerston North.” 

AIM 

“To be recognised as the most collaborative and co-operative organisation amongst the city’s cultural 
organisations.” 

 

VALUES 

Customer Focus – We listen and understand the interests and important concerns of our internal and external 
stakeholders and business partners (patrons, hirers, suppliers). 

Teamwork – We work cooperatively with others to produce innovative solutions that meet the needs of all. 

Respect for others – We listen and respond constructively and promptly and try to understand alternative 
points of view and accommodate these into our core business. 

Accountability – We focus on making things happen fast - solving problems and getting work done. We identify 
what needs to be done and act before being asked or the situation requires it. 

Honesty and integrity - We will be straightforward in conducting ourselves and our business. We will be 
trustworthy, loyal, fair, and sincere. 

Contribution to small city benefits, big city ambition 
Palmerston North is the heart of the Manawatū region within central New Zealand - a small city with a lot to 
offer, and ambitious about where it is going. The City Council vision is Palmerston North: Small city benefits, 
big city ambition. 

Council has identified five strategic goals for achieving this vision and the Globe Theatre Trust contributes 
primarily to Goal 2: A creative and exciting city. Council has developed strategies to support achievement of its 
goals, and the Globe Theatre Trust contributes primarily to the Creative and Liveable Strategy. Within this 
Strategy, Council has identified priorities and the Globe Theatre Trust contributes primarily to Priority 3, to 
develop the city into an arts powerhouse with a national reputation for creativity and the arts, and to a lesser 
but still significant extent, Priority 4, to develop a national and international reputation as an exciting city with 
plenty to do at night and on weekends. 

The Globe Theatre Trust also has a part to play in Goal 4: An eco-city, particularly in Priority 2 to work with 
Council to reduce carbon emissions. 

The Globe Theatre Trust believes that its contribution to the Council’s vision, strategic goals and underpinning 
strategies can be realized as it works towards its vision to deliver a dynamic, bustling, vibrant centre for the 
performing arts community in Palmerston North. It has in turn developed strategic objectives and strategies to 
support it to achieve this within the framework of its Trust Deed. 
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The Globe Theatre Trust’s Strategic Objectives 
The Trust Board has identified three strategic objectives which describe the change that it will endeavour to 
bring about to support the Council to develop the City into an arts powerhouse with a national reputation for 
creativity and the arts. 

Firstly, it will ensure that there are more, and more visible, arts and activities at the Globe that contribute to 
the Council’s aspirations as an arts powerhouse. 

Secondly, it will support the local performing arts community to showcase their diverse talents at the Globe. 

Thirdly, it will maintain and develop facilities that enable our communities to produce and enjoy the very best 
performing arts that can be offered, ensuring that the Globe remains a cutting edge, visible and resilient 
cultural institution/facility. In addition, the Board will encourage and support Council, as asset manager, to 
ensure that these developments incorporate incremental sustainability and environmental improvements to 
contribute to the reduction in CO2 emissions. 

Nature and scope of activities of the Trust Board – what we do 
To achieve its objectives, the Trust Board aims to: 

1. Increase the number of events that take place at the Globe Theatre and the number of people who 

are involved in these events (actively organising or participating in a performance or performing art). 

This will entail: 

• Providing a seamless, customer-focused hire service that is responsive to the needs of hirers 

and is enabling and supportive.  

• Ensuring that there are friendly, helpful, and knowledgeable staff/volunteers who can 

support our hirers in delivering a successful event, whether it is negotiating an appropriate 

contract, advising on promotion, securing front of house/ushering volunteers, or providing 

technical support.  

• Encouraging national and international visiting productions and artists to perform at the 

venue. 

 

2. Maximize the use of the venues by local community performing arts groups and events and to 

represent the diversity of the Palmerston North community.  

This will entail: 

• Undertaking community outreach and collaborating with other agencies and organisations to 

demonstrate how the Globe may contribute to their aspirations to showcase and develop 

their cultural heritage. 

• Working particularly with community hirers to support them to showcase their cultural and 

performing arts heritage, ensuring that the venues are available and accessible for them and 

encouraging them to become regular users of the theatres. 

 

3. Maintain the fixtures, fittings, and theatre equipment to ensure it continues to offer a professional 

experience to all its clients/customers/users.  

This will entail: 

• Working with the local performing arts community to identify future needs and advancing 

technologies to support developing performing arts practice. 

• Working closely with PNCC as the building owner, local suppliers with theatre specialisms 

and local philanthropic organisations which contribute necessary funding. 

• Encouraging and supporting PNCC as the building owner, working closely with local suppliers 

with theatre specialisms and local philanthropic organisations, to incorporate low carbon 

choices. 
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Performance Measures 

DEFINITIONS 

USER GROUPS 
MOU Group – has an MOU arrangement with the Globe Theatre, is performance-based, may be a community 
group or professional group 
Art School – is performance based, where the performance is delivered by students whether or not the 
organisation is a commercial company 
Community Group – the hirer is a community organisation, may or may not be performance based 
Professional Group – the hirer is a professional performing arts practitioner, a private individual or a 
commercial company (may or may not be performance based) 
Community Festival – the Globe Theatre participates in a city-wide/cultural precinct-wide series of events that 
form part of a festival. May or may not be performance based, may or may not attract a hire fee 
 
USAGE AND PERFORMANCE 
Usage – A space in the theatre is set aside for a specific event, activity, or exclusive use by a hirer. 
Performance – The “usage” involves an audience of any description 
 
PERFORMANCE BASED USEAGE: 
Theatre Performance – a dramatic or dance performance on stage to an audience, open to the public, may be 
ticketed or not, or a rehearsal towards a performance in front of an audience 
Musical Performance – a musical performance on stage to an audience, open to the public, may be ticketed or 
not, or a rehearsal towards a performance in front of an audience 
Film Performance – a film shown to an audience, open to the public, may be ticketed or not 
 
NON-PERFORMANCE BASED USEAGE: 
Conference – a presentation on stage to an audience, may be open to the public or may be pre-registered 
delegates, may be ticketed or not 
Celebration – a ceremony, party, or other festive event, may be open to the public or not, may involve a 
“performance” to an audience, may be ticketed or not 
Misc. meeting – anything else! 
 
HOURS OF USE BY HIRERS 
Approximate length of each usage from pack in to pack out (does not include box office or café opening hours) 
NO. OF DISCREET PARTICIPANTS 
People taking part in multiple “usages” for a single event are counted only once. For example, a play that is 
rehearsed at the Globe and shown at the Globe with 10 participants is only counted as 10 participants 
although each rehearsal and performance is a separate hire or “usage” 
NO. OF VISITORS/AUDIENCE MEMBERS  
People participating at the Globe as an audience member/attending an event but not as an organiser or 
performer. For example, someone who has been to multiple events at the Globe as an audience member 
would be counted for each event they attend. It does not include people visiting the box office or café.) 
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Strategic priorities and performance monitoring for 
2021/22, 2022/23, 2023/24 
 Strategic Priority 1: Ensure that there are more, and more visible, arts and activities at the Globe that contribute 
to the Council’s aspirations as an arts powerhouse. 

Performance 
measure, at 30 June 

2020 

 Actual Target 

2019/20 at 30 
December 
2020 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Number of usages 534 309 

 

650 
Commentary on 
issues 

675 
Commentary on 
issues 

675 
Commentary on 
issues 

Number of 
performances 

215 151 220 
Commentary on 
issues 

240 
Commentary on 
issues 

240 
Commentary on 
issues 

Hours of Use by Hirers 1,988 1,295 2,600 
Commentary on 
issues 

2,800 
Commentary on 
issues 

2,800 
Commentary on 
issues 

No. of discreet 
participants 

1,785 1,970 1,750 
Commentary on 
issues 

1,850 
Commentary on 
issues 

1,850 
Commentary on 
issues 

No. of 
visitors/audience 
members 

15,487 13,079 26,000 
Commentary on 
issues 

27,000 
Commentary on 
issues 

27,000 
Commentary on 
issues 

Maintain or improve 
satisfaction ratings of 
hirers 

(n=33) 94% 
rate the 
theatre as an 
Excellent or a 
Good venue 

(n=16) 94% 
rate the 
theatre as an 
Excellent or a 
Good venue 

2021/22 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary on 
issues  

2022/23 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary on 
issues 

2023/24 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary on 
issues 

Maintain or improve 
satisfaction ratings of 
visitors/audiences 

(n=119) 
93% rate the 
Globe 
Theatre as an 
Excellent or a 
Very Good 
venue 

93% rate the 
performances 
they 
attended as 
Excellent or 
Very Good 

(n=114) 
72% rate the 
theatre as an 
Excellent 
28% rate the 
theatre as a 
Very Good or 
Good venue 

77% rate the 
performances 
they 
attended as 
Excellent 
22% rate the 
performance 
they 
attended as 
Very Good or 
Good 

Provide annual 
result and 
commentary on 
any issues 

Provide annual 
result and 
commentary on 
any issues 

Provide annual 
result and 
commentary on 
any issues 

Number of 
national/international 
visiting productions 
performing at the 
theatre 

22 10 
 

15 17 17 
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Strategic Priority 2: Support the local performing arts community to showcase their diverse talents at the 
Globe, and working to ensure our users represent the diversity of the Palmerston North community 

Performance measure, at 
30 June 2020 

 Actual Target  

2019/20 at 30 
December 

2020 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Proportion of use driven 
through MOU 
arrangements 

54% 35% 70% 70% 70%  

Proportion of MOU-driven 
use that is performance-
based 

45% 53% 95% 95% 95% 

Proportion of overall 

usage from community 

groups 

31% 52% 
 

2021/22 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary on 
issues  

2022/23 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary 
on issues 

2023/24 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary 
on issues 

Proportion of overall 
usage from new 
community groups 

8.8% 7.1% 2021/22 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary on 
issues  

2022/23 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary 
on issues 

2023/24 result 
maintained or 
improved – 
commentary 
on issues 

 
  



 

P a g e  |    44 

IT
E
M

 9
 -

 A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
1

 

   

  Page 11 of 19 

Strategic Priority 3: Maintain and develop facilities that enable our communities to produce and enjoy the 
very best performing arts that can be offered, ensuring that the Globe remains a cutting edge, visible and 
resilient cultural institution/facility. 

Performance 
measure 

 Actual Target 

2019/20 at 30 December 
2020 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Carry out capital 
development 
programme  

Globe 1: new 
digitally 
enabled rig 
installed. 

New projector 
for Globe 1 with 
electric screen 

Globe 1: New 
Roller 
door/backstage 
storage 

Investigate 
digital signage 
options 

Upgrade sound 
system in Globe 
1 and Globe 2 

Funding capital 

renewal 

programme 

from 

depreciation 

fund 

50% 

depreciation 

funded 

Not measured; 

capitalisation 

not done until 

year end 

60% depreciation 

costs available for 

capital renewal 

60% 

depreciation 

costs available 

for capital 

renewal 

60% 

depreciation 

costs available 

for capital 

renewal 
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How we operate 
The team at the Globe Theatre are a passionate group of people driven to grow and develop the performing arts in the City and 

wider region. We recognise, and take responsibility for, our role in contributing to the common vision to develop the City into an 

arts powerhouse with a national reputation for arts and creativity. We will work to:  

• Increase the culture of supporting performing arts events from the local community (residents and businesses) to grow the 

sector. 

• Collaborate with all cultural organisations to support each other’s contribution towards the common vision 

• Liaise effectively with a city council committed to and contributing to the common vision. 

• Participate in decision-making – governance and operational – that is co-creational building trust and capacity within and 

between each collaboration partner 

In keeping with best management practice, the Globe Theatre Trust aims to operate efficiently and effectively, reducing any adverse 

impacts on the natural and built environment. The Theatre management will work towards zero waste in its operations and in 

developing technologies and processes which reduce the carbon footprint of the theatre’s day-to-day operations. 

As a future-focused organisation, we aim to promote the social and cultural well-being of our communities through participation in 

the arts. The Trust regularly reviews its internal processes, seeking continuous improvement to deliver value for money to the 

shareholders and the rate payer. As a Council Controlled Organisation (CCO), the Trust is also aware that much of its funding is 

derived from public monies and therefore all expenditure should be subject to a standard of probity and financial prudence that is 

to be expected of a CCO and be able to withstand public scrutiny. The Trust recognises the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi and 

acknowledges the importance of partnering with local Iwi and recognition of Tangata Whenua in the region.  

The Trust is committed to the health and safety of all workers, volunteers, visitors, and the public across its premises by undertaking 

all measures reasonably practicable to provide a safe working environment. The Trust believes that creating and maintaining a 

healthy work environment is a shared, co-operative venture, where employees, volunteers and employers have roles and 

responsibilities, including the maintenance of a balance between work and non-work activities. As such, the Trust will ensure it 

meets its obligations with respect to New Zealand laws and regulations and will undertake annual reviews based on established best 

practice guidelines.  

Working together 

HALF-YEARLY REPORT 

By the end of February each year, The Globe Theatre Trust will provide the Council with a half-yearly report complying with s 66 of 

the Local Government Act 2002. The report will include the following information: 

• Theatre Manager’s commentary on operations for the relevant six-month period. 

• Comparison of The Globe Theatre Trust’s performance to the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI, with 

an explanation of any material variances. 

• Un-audited half-yearly financial statements incorporating a statement of financial performance, statement of financial 

position, statement of changes in equity and statement of cashflows. 

ANNUAL REPORT 

By 30 September each year, The Globe Theatre Trust will provide the Council with an annual report complying with ss 67–69 of the 

Local Government Act 2002. Financial statements and audit clearance will be provided in early August to ensure timely availability 

of PNCC’s annual report. 

The annual report will contain the information necessary to enable an informed assessment of the operations of The Globe Theatre 

Trust, and will include the following information: 
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• Commentary on operations for the year. 

• Comparison of The Globe Theatre Trust’s performance to the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI, with 

an explanation of any material variances. 

• Financial statements incorporating a statement of financial performance, statement of financial position, statement of 

changes in equity, statement of cashflows, statement of accounting policies and notes to the accounts. 

• Auditor’s report on the financial statements and the performance targets. 

• Any other information that the Trustees consider appropriate. 

This Statement of Intent was approved by the Globe Theatre Trust Board on 29th March 2021. 

 

Signed:  

John Adams, Chairperson, Globe Theatre Trust Board 
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Forecast financial statements  

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE 2022, 2023, 2024 

 Actual 2020 
Forecast 
2021 

Indicative 
2022 

Indicative 
2023 

Indicative 
2024 

   
1% inflation 
adjustment 

1% inflation 
adjustment 

1% inflation 
adjustment 

Revenue      

Donations, fundraising and other similar income 120,387 34,335 25,000 15,000 15,000 

COVID-19 Wage Subsidy 26,202 11,230 0 0 0 

Council funding 115,748 116,855 118,075 119,255 120,448 

Investment income 375 262 350 400 400 

Sales of Goods and Services 71,463 110,370 100,000 110,000 120,000 

Total Revenue 334,175 273,052 243,425 244,655 255,848 

      

Expenditure      

Costs related to providing goods and services 13,670 32,720 30,000 35,000 40,000 

Administration and Overhead Costs 27,880 28,055 20,000 25,000 30,000 

Employee, Trustee and Contractor Costs 132,195 84,038 126,944 128,308 129,591 

Other Expenses 39,575 20,599 21,678 22,112 22,333 

Asset Write offs 0 0 0 0 0 

Depreciation 47,432 36,722 58,789 56,630 55,102 

Total Expenditure 260,752 202,134 257,411 267,050 277,026 

      

Net surplus/(Deficit) 73,423 70,918 -13,987 -22,395 -21,178 

 
 
Note 1: Funding for capital additions and renewals is recorded as income whilst the corresponding expenditure is recorded as an 

increase in assets. Large capital programmes are reflected in the Net surplus in those years and consequently (through increased 

depreciation) as a net deficit in the 2022, 2023 and 2024 financial years. The Globe Theatre Trust has traditionally not funded 

depreciation but is moving towards partially funding depreciation through this SOI period. 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION FOR THE YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE 2022, 2023, 2024 

 Actual Forecast Indicative Indicative Indicative 

 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Assets      

Bank      

Cash and Cash Equivalents 104,362 112,034 146,837 181,072 214,995 

Total Bank 104,362 112,034 146,837 181,072 214,995 

Current Assets      

Accounts Receivable 978 17,000 17,000 17,000 17,000 

Provision for impairment 0     

Accrued Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 

GST Receivable 0 0 0 0 0 
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Prepayments 0 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 

Sundry debtor accruals 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Current Assets 105,340 130,234 165,037 199,272 233,195 

      

Fixed Assets      

Property, Plant and Equipment      

Value of equipment purchased 693,676 693,676 723,676 733,676 733,676 

Less accumulated depreciation  -344,440 -381,162 -439,951 -496,581 -551,683 

New Capital purchase  30,000 10,000 0 0 

Total Property Plant and Equipment 349,236 342,514 293,725 237,095 181,993 

      

Total Fixed Assets 349,236 342,514 293,725 237,095 181,993 

      

Total Assets 454,576 472,748 458,762 436,366 415,188 

      

Liabilities      

Current Liabilities      

Creditors and Other Payables      

Accounts payable 31,749 17,000 17,000 17,000 17,000 

Income in advance 3,140 0 0 0 0 

Grants in advance 0 0 0 0 0 

Accrued Expenses 11,826 0 0 0 0 

PAYE Payable 1,868 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 

Unpaid Expense Claim 288 0 0 0 0 

GST 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Creditors & Other Payables 48,871 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 

Employee Costs Payable      

Holiday pay liability 5,005 0 0 0 0 

Wages accrual 4,966 0 0 0 0 

Total Employee Costs Payable 9,971 0 0 0 0 

Unused Grants/Donations with conditions      

COVID-19 Wage Subsidy Extension 11,230 0 0 0 0 

Grants/Donations 874 0 0 0 0 

Total Unused Grants/Donations with 
conditions 

12,104 0 0 0 0 

Total Current Liabilities 70,946 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 

Total Liabilities 70,946 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 

      

Net Assets 383,630 454,548 440,562 418,166 396,988 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE 2022, 2023, 2024 

 Actual Forecast Indicative Indicative Indicative 

 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Opening balance as at 1 July 310,206 383,630 454,548 440,562 418,166 

Comprehensive Income      

      

Surplus/(Deficit) 73,423 70,918 -13,987 -22,395 -21,178 

Balance at 30 June 383,630 454,548 440,562 418,166 396,988 

 

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOW FOR THE YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE 2022, 2023, 2024 

 Actual Forecast 
Indicativ

e 
Indicativ

e 
Indicativ

e 

 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

Donations and Fundraising 115,632 34,335 25,000 15,000 15,000 

Receipts from Council grants 115,748 116,855 118,075 119,255 120,448 

Receipts from sale of goods and 
services 

86,555 111,348 100,000 110,000 120,000 

COVID-19 Wage Subsidy 37,432 0 0 0 0 

Interest Received 375 262 350 400 400 

Payments to Suppliers & staff -225,056 -225,128 -198,622 -210,420 -221,924 

Goods and Services Tax (net) 208     

Net Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities 

130,894 37,672 44,803 34,235 33,924 

      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Purchase of Fixed Assets -97,331 -30,000 -10,000 0 0 

Sales of Fixed Assets 0 0 0 0 0 

Net Cash Flow from Investing 
Activities 

-97,331 -30,000 -10,000 0 0 

      

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and 
Cash Equivalents 

33,563 7,672 34,803 34,235 33,924 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the start 
of the Year 

70,799 104,362 112,034 146,837 181,072 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End 
of the Year 

104,362 112,034 146,837 181,072 214,995 
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Summary of significant accounting policies 

Changes in Accounting Policies  

There have been no changes to accounting policies this year. 

GST 

The Trust is registered for GST.  All amounts are recorded exclusive of GST, except for Debtors and Creditors which are stated 
inclusive of GST. 

Sale of goods  

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are sold to the customer.  

Sale of services  

Revenue from the sale of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the services delivered at balance date as 
a percentage of the total services to be provided.  

Theatre Hire 

Charges for Theatre Hire are recognised when the Theatre is hired to the customer. 

Interest Revenue 

Interest revenue is recorded as it is earned during the year.  

Grants 

Grants received from the Palmerston North City Council are the primary source of funding to the Trust and are restricted for the 
purposes of the Trust meeting its objectives as specified in the Trust’s trust deed. 
Council, government, and non-government grants are recognised as revenue when they are received unless there is an obligation to 
return the funds if conditions of the grant are not met. If there is such an obligation, the grants are initially recorded as grants 
received in advance and recognised as revenue when conditions of the grant are satisfied. 

Fundraising and Donations 

Fundraising and donations are recognised as revenue when cash is received unless the donations have a “use or return” condition 
attached. If there is such a condition, then the donation is initially recorded as a liability on receipt and recognised as revenue when 
conditions of the donation are met. 

Donated assets revenue 

Revenue from donated assets is recognised upon receipt of the asset if the asset has a useful life of 12 months or more, and the 
value of the asset is readily obtainable and significant. 

Advertising, marketing, administration, overhead and fundraising costs 

These are expensed when the related service has been received. 

Bank Accounts and Cash 

Bank accounts and cash comprise cash on hand, cheque or savings accounts, and deposits held at call with 
banks. Bank overdrafts are presented as a current liability in the statement of financial position. 

Debtors and other receivables 

Debtors are initially recorded at the amount owed. When it is likely the amount owed (or some portion) will not be collected, a 
provision for impairment is recognised and the loss is recorded as a bad debt expense. 

Investments 

Deposits with banks are initially recorded at the amount paid. If it appears that the carrying amount of the 
investment will not be recovered; it is written down to the expected recoverable amount. 

Property, plant, and equipment 

Property, plant, and equipment is recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and impairment losses. 
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Donated assets are recognised upon receipt of the asset if the asset has a useful life of 12 months or more, and the current value of 
the asset is readily obtainable and significant. Significant donated assets for which current values are not readily obtainable are not 
recognised. 
 
For an asset to be sold, the asset is impaired if the market price for an equivalent asset falls below its carrying amount.  
 
For an asset to be used by the Trust, the asset is impaired if the value to the Trust in using the asset falls below the carrying amount 
of the asset. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates that will write off the cost of the assets over their useful lives. The useful 
lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows: 

• Theatre Equipment 10 years (10%) 

• Computer Equipment 5 years (20%) 

• Furniture & Fittings 10 years (10%) 

Creditors and other payables 

Creditors and accrued expenses are measured at the amount owed. 

Employee and contractor costs 

Wages, salaries, and annual leave are recorded as an expense as staff provide services and become entitled to wages, salaries and 
leave entitlements. Independent contractor costs are also included where at the discretion of management these services could 
equally have been delivered by an employee. 
 
Performance payments are recorded when the employee has been notified that the payment has been granted. 
 
Superannuation contributions are recorded as an expense as staff provide services. 

Employee Costs Payable 

A liability for employee costs payable is recognised when an employee has earned the entitlement. 
 
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance date. A liability 
and expense for long service leave and retirement gratuities is recognised when the entitlement becomes available to the 
employee. 

Provisions 

The Trust recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present obligation because of 
a past event, it is probable that expenditure will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 

Income Tax 

The Trust has been granted Charitable Status by the Inland Revenue Department and therefore is exempt from income tax. 

Accumulated Funds 

Accumulated Funds are measured through the following components:  
 
• Retained Earnings  
• Contributed Capital  

Budget figures 

The budget figures are derived from the statement of intent as approved by the Board at the beginning of the financial year. The 
budget figures have been prepared in accordance with Tier 3 standards, using accounting policies that are consistent with those 
adopted by the Board in preparing these financial statements.  

Tier 2 PBE Accounting Standards applied 

The Trust has applied the following Tier 2 Accounting Standards in preparing its financial statements. 
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Grant expenditure  

Non-discretionary grants are those grants awarded if the grant application meets the specified criteria and are recognised as 
expenditure when an application that meets the specified criteria for the grant has been received.  
Discretionary grants are those grants where the Globe Theatre Trust has no obligation to award on receipt of the grant application 
and are recognised as expenditure when approved by the Grants Approval Committee and the approval has been communicated to 
the applicant. The Globe Theatre Trust’s grants awarded have no substantive conditions attached. 
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: The Regent Theatre Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 

PRESENTED BY: Hannah White, Democracy & Governance Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sheryl Bryant, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

  

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council agree the Statement of Intent 2021-2024 submitted by the 

Regent Theatre Trust, attached as Appendix 1 of the report titled ‘The Regent 

Theatre Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024’. 

 

1. ISSUE 

1.1 The Statement of Intent (SOI) sets out the objectives and activities of the 

Regent Theatre Trust (the Regent) for the next three years. It serves as a basis 

for accountability to the Council, as the shareholder, and provides an 

opportunity for the Council to influence the Regent’s direction. The 

requirements for the SOI are set out in Schedule 8 of the Local Government 

Act 2002 (LGA). 

1.2 Under the LGA, the Council has the ability to modify a SOI to ensure it 

adequately reflects the Council’s strategic priorities if it considers that is 

necessary. 

1.3 In November 2020, the Council resolved to retain the Statement of 

Expectations 2020/21 for all cultural Council Controlled Organisations (CCOs) 

for the forthcoming year 2021/22.  

1.4 The Regent delivered its final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 to Council officers 

before the legal deadline of 30 June 2021. 

1.5 The purpose of this report is for the Council to fulfil the requirement under s 

65(2) of the LGA to agree the final SOI, or if it does not agree, to require the 

SOI to be modified as set out in clause 6, Schedule 8 of the LGA. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Regent is a CCO, which was set up to independently manage and 

promote the Regent Theatre as the preferred local venue of choice for 

international, national and local performing arts experiences. A CCO is an 

organisation in which Council has the right to appoint at least fifty percent of 
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the trustees and must work towards Council’s objectives on its behalf. The 

Regent is managed by a Board of Trustees made up of committed volunteers. 

2.2 The Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee received the Regent’s draft SOI at its 

meeting on 14 April 2021 and made recommendations for the Regent Theatre 

Trust Board to consider in developing its final SOI. These recommended 

changes were approved by the Council on 5 May 2021.  

2.1 The Regent Theatre Trust Board has considered the Council’s comments on 

the draft SOI and made changes in response, as summarised in Table 1.  

2.2 Officers consider that the recommended changes have been addressed in 

the final SOI. Work with Council officers to develop performance measures 

and review the Trust Deed is ongoing and should be completed in time for 

the draft SOI 2022/25. 

Table 1:  Comparison of Council comments with the Regent’s final SOI 

Council comments on the draft SOI Is it dealt with in the SOI? 

Work with Council officers to review 

changing the Trust Deed. 

Yes - Has been added as an activity under 

Objective 2 (page 8). 

Develop 4-6 high-quality performance 

measures with Council officers. 

Yes - Has been added as an activity under 

Objective 2 (page 8). 

Officers will work with the Regent to 

support this activity. 

Actively explore collaboration with other 

CCOs on a one-stop front of house 

booking operation. 

Yes - Has been added as an activity under 

Objective 2 (Page 7). 

Actively explore with other CCOs 

opportunities for bringing ticketing 

functions under one umbrella for city 

venues. 

Yes - Has been added as an activity under 

Objective 2 (page 7). 

Work with Council and other agencies to 

develop Economic Impact reporting for 

regionally/nationally significant events. 

Yes - Has been added as an activity under 

Objective 2 (page 7). 

Review the employee leave procedures 

to reduce the employee cost liabilities in 

the Statement of Position. 

Yes - Has been added as an activity under 

Objective 2 (page 7). 
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2.3 Work has already begun between Council officers and the Regent to 

progress some of the work listed in Table 1. This includes: 

• Reviewing the Trust Deed; and 

• Collaborating with other CCOs to explore: 

o A one-stop front of house booking operation 

o Bringing ticketing functions under one umbrella for city venues 

o Developing Economic Impact reporting for regionally/nationally 

significant events 

3. NEXT STEPS 

3.1 The Regent’s Annual Report 2020-21 is due to Council officers on 30 

September 2021 and will be presented to the Arts, Culture & Heritage 

Committee in November 2021. 

3.2 Statements of Expectation for 2022-25 will be drafted by officers and 

presented to the Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee in November. 

4. COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special 

Consultative procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? Yes 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 2: A Creative and Exciting City 

The recommendations contribute to the outcomes of the Creative and Liveable 

Strategy 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in the Arts 

Plan 

The action is: to support CCOs to achieve the objectives of the arts plan. 

Contribution to 

strategic 

direction and to 

social, 

economic, 

environmental 

and cultural well-

being 

Agreeing to the final Statements of Intent is a mechanism for 

Council to provide guidance and direction to the cultural CCOs 

and meets Council’s responsibility to monitor the CCOs under 

the LGA. 
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ATTACHMENTS 

1. The Regent Theatre Trust - Statement of Intent 2021-24 ⇩   

    

COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25721_1.PDF


 

P a g e  |    57 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    58 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    59 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    60 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    61 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    62 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    63 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    64 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    65 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    66 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    67 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    68 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    69 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    70 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    71 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    72 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    73 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  



 

P a g e  |    74 

IT
E
M

 1
0

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

 



 
 

P a g e  |    75 

IT
E
M

 1
1

 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Te Manawa Museums Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 

PRESENTED BY: Hannah White, Democracy & Governance Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sheryl Bryant, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

  

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council agree the final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 submitted by Te 

Manawa Museums Trust, attached as Appendix 1 of the report titled ‘Te Manawa 

Museums Trust - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024’. 

 

1. ISSUE 

1.1 The Statement of Intent (SOI) sets out the objectives and activities of Te 

Manawa Museums Board (Te Manawa) for the next three years. It serves as a 

basis for accountability to the Council, as the shareholder, and provides an 

opportunity for the Council to influence Te Manawa’s direction. The 

requirements for the SOI are set out in Schedule 8 of the Local Government 

Act 2002 (LGA). 

1.2 Under the LGA, the Council has the ability to modify a SOI to ensure it 

adequately reflects the Council’s strategic priorities if it considers that is 

necessary. 

1.3 In November 2020, the Council resolved to retain the Statement of 

Expectations 2020/21 for all cultural Council Controlled Organisations (CCOs) 

for the forthcoming year 2021/22.  

1.4 Te Manawa delivered its final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 to Council 

officers before the legal deadline of 30 June 2021.  

1.5 The purpose of this report is for the Council to fulfil the requirement under s 

65(2) of the LGA to agree the final SOI, or if it does not agree, to require the 

SOI to be modified as set out in clause 6, Schedule 8 of the LGA. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 Te Manawa is a CCO, which was set up to independently manage the Te 

Manawa Museum. A CCO is an organisation in which Council has the right to 

appoint at least fifty percent of the trustees and must work towards Council’s 
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objectives on its behalf. Te Manawa is managed by a Board of Trustees made 

up of committed volunteers. 

2.2 The Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee received Te Manawa’s draft SOI at its 

meeting on 14 April 2021 and made recommendations for the Te Manawa 

Board to consider when developing its final SOI. These recommendations 

were approved by the Council on 5 May 2021.  

2.3 Te Manawa Museums Trust Board has considered the Council’s comments on 

the draft SOI and made changes in response, as summarised in Table 1.  

Officers consider that comments have been adequately addressed in the 

final SOI.  

Table 1:  Comparison of Council comments with Te Manawa’s final SOI 2021-24 

Council comments on draft SOI 2021-24 Is it dealt with in the SOI? 

Revise targets that are already being 

achieved (Online reach and visitor 

satisfaction), and either make them more 

ambitious or remove the measure 

completely. 

Partially - Te Manawa has removed the 

performance measure ‘Online Reach’. 

Te Manawa has not changed the target for 

‘visitor satisfaction’.  

Clarify how the performance measures: 

‘Likelihood of visitors to positively endorse 

Te Manawa to others’ and ‘Strength of 

relationship with strategic partners’ will 

be measured. 

Partially - Te Manawa has not clarified how 

the measure ‘Likelihood of visitors to positively 

endorse Te Manawa to others’ will be 

measured. Feedback from Te Manawa, 

shared with Council in April, was that this 

target will be based on results from the Visitor 

Monitoring Research roject, general visitor 

feedback and Economic Impact project and 

that this work is currently being 

commissioned. 

In terms of clarifying the measure ‘Strength of 

relationship with strategic partners’ the target 

over the next 2 years is to: 

1) define who the strategic partners are, 

from the Strategic Relationship Strategy.  

2) define the target(s) in conjunction with 

strategic partners. 
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Ambitious proposal ‘to become carbon-

negative and sustainable by 2025’ – 

however no reference on how this is 

going to be achieved in performance 

measures or ‘How we Operate’ section. 

Add actions to the ‘How we Operate’ 

section or a performance measure to 

calculate carbon produced by Te 

Manawa. 

Yes - Te Manawa has altered the proposal to 

‘reduce carbon emissions’ (Strategic 

objective 1) and has included the 

performance measure ‘Develop measures 

towards reduction of carbon emissions.’ The 

2021/22 target is to ‘Measure baseline carbon 

emissions’ and the 2022/23 target is to reduce 

carbon produced by 10%. 

 

3. NEXT STEPS 

3.1 Te Manawa’s Annual Report 2020-21 is due to Council officers on 30 

September 2021 and will be presented to the Arts, Culture & Heritage 

Committee in November. 

3.2 Statements of Expectation for 2022-25 will be drafted by officers and 

presented to the Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee in November. 

4. COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special 

Consultative procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? Yes 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 2: A Creative and Exciting City 

The recommendations contribute to the outcomes of the Creative and Liveable 

Strategy 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in the Arts 

Plan 

The action is: to support CCOs to achieve the objectives of the arts plan. 

Contribution to 

strategic 

direction and to 

social, 

economic, 

environmental 

Agreeing to the final Statements of Intent is a mechanism for 

Council to provide guidance and direction to the CCOs and 

meets Council’s responsibility to monitor the CCOs under the 

LGA. 
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and cultural well-

being 

  

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Te Manawa Statement of Intent 2021-2024 ⇩   

    

COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25719_1.PDF
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TE MANAWA MUSEUMS TRUST    

PRIVATE BAG 11055 PALMERSTON NORTH 4442 | TEMANAWA.NZ  

 

 
 
 
Te Ara Hihiri 
Statement of Intent 
 
2021/22 – 2023/24  

TE MANAWA MUSEUMS TRUST 
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Contact details 

Address Te Manawa Museums 
Trust Private Bag 
11055 Palmerston 
North 

Legal Status Te Manawa Museums Trust is 
a Council-Controlled 
Organisation (CCO) for the 
purposes of the Local 
Government Act 2002 and 
operates as a charitable trust 
under the Charitable Trust Act 
1957. 

It is a not-for-profit CCO. 

Website www.temanawa.co.nz 

Phone (06) 355-5000 

Email enquiries@temanawa.
co.nz 

Main 
Contact 

Andy Lowe Charities 
Registration 
number 

CC38836 

Role in 
CCO 

Chief Executive Trustees John Fowke - Chair 
Geoffrey Jameson 
Nuwyne Te Awe Awe Mohi 
Adrian van Dyk 
Sarah Bell 
Caroline Tate 
 

Phone 06 351-4492 

Email andy.lowe@temanawa
.co.nz  
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Introduction 
This Statement of Intent (SOI) follows on from last year’s post COVID-19 document, produced 
as we emerged from lock down and planned for the new future that those events had prompted 
for us.  It’s timely to note that we have just had another skirmish with the new plague, 
successfully navigated (by most measures) but nevertheless still rightfully in our 
consciousness. 

But that is no cause for alarm or ‘pulling back.’  Far from it, our team demonstrated a willingness 
to think outside the square and maximise our gains during COVID-19, post COVID-19 and now 
COVID-19 2.0. 

Last year’s SOI was heavily influenced and guided by a workshop that was held with PNCC 
councillors and officials and much of the result of that deep communication remains reflected 
in our thinking; including the participation in the sesquicentennial aligned with PNCC’s 
planning. 

Looking ahead though, our ten year business plan is nearing release and as we have 
broadened and lengthened our horizons, we have taken the opportunity to take some things 
as given (e.g. the limitations of our buildings) and just as our team thought outside the square 
during COVID-19  1.0, we have looked to innovations and projects that can move us forward 
acknowledging but not being totally constrained by them. 

A significant harbinger of this approach is the enhanced partnership with Rangitāne that has 
resulted in a commercial agreement being entered into with PNCC’s blessing that will move 
our collaboration forward into a new and energising phase.  This new model of partnership is 
a first we believe for museums in New Zealand and while it will require some hard work and 
strong communication, we are excited by the possibilities. 

The TM team has worked hard to develop this SOI not the least in the development of 
programmes and a budget that allows us to maintain good stewardship and move forward – 
we thank them for their efforts.  As always, we thank our partners, our principal funder PNCC, 
Iwi, our societies and all the organisations and communities that support and work with us.  

      

John Fowke 
Chair, Te Manawa Museums Trust 
25 February 2021 
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Purpose of the Statement of Intent 
This Statement of Intent is presented by Te Manawa Museums Trust in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 64(1) of the Local Government Act 2002. 

In accordance with the Local Government Act 2002, this annual Statement of Intent publicly 
states the activities and intention of Te Manawa Museums Trust for the next three years, and 
the objectives to which those activities will contribute. 

This final Statement of Intent has taken shareholder comments into consideration and include 
performance measures and targets as the basis of organisational accountability. 

 

About Te Manawa Museums Trust 

Purpose 
Amplifying possibilities  

 

Vision 
‘Working Beyond Boundaries’ 
Built on a foundation of manaakitanga (inclusion, kindness, safety, hospitality)  

 

Mission 
We will partner with communities, thought leaders, change makers and supporters, to inspire, 
broker and deepen connections among them, and with our world’s tangible and intangible 
treasures, so that we can create and deliver relevant, engaging programmes and 
experiences with and for our communities. 
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Values 
To co-create an energetic, surprising museum with multiple communities we embody these 
values: 

• Kaitiakitanga 
We are passionate about the treasures we care for on behalf of the community, and 
their power to inform and transform us, now and into the future. 

• Courageous and experimental 
We are committed to making a real and positive difference, thinking clearly and openly 
about how Te Manawa can best evolve to achieve this – and when and how we need 
to think outside the box, and be brave, daring and fearless in our thinking and actions. 

• Open and inclusive 
The concept of TĀTOU / WE together is central to everything we do – acknowledging 
the mana of each person and the collective mana of all. 
Open communication – the ability to listen actively, with respect, and to frame relevant 
questions that will unlock meaning, insights and value – underpins our culture. 

• Smart and strategic 
Our responsibility to our communities means we are strategic about where we are 
going, and smart, rigorous and pragmatic about how we will get there. 
Our decisions are based on prioritising and growing our resources and monitoring 
outcomes, with a focus on building our ability to impact and achieve sustainable 
success. 

• Generous and entrepreneurial 
We believe our communities are part of a world full of the possibilities, talent, solutions 
and insight our future relies on. To realise this potential, we are generous in our 
approach - our ability to have fun, enjoy life and value each other underpins the spirit 
of entrepreneurship that drives us forward. 
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Objectives of the Te Manawa Museums Trust deed 
• To provide governance of an organisation which is a regional museum complex, 

advancing interest in art, heritage and science (including interactive science) 
 

• To provide study, educational and enjoyment opportunities through acquiring, 
conserving, researching, communicating and exhibiting material evidence of people 
and their environment 
 
 

• To develop, promote, enhance and maintain collections to make them relevant to the 
peoples of the Manawatū and New Zealand 
 

• To recognise and act in accordance with the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi and to 
involve and give special attention to the history of the Tangata Whenua in the Region 
 
 

• To ensure that the facility functions as a valued professional education resource and 
community asset for the citizens of Palmerston North and the Manawatū Region 
 

• To encourage and support the kindred Societies in accordance with the objects of this 
Trust Deed 
 
 

• To recognise the organisation’s location in the Manawatū and to be aware of the 
Regional focus  
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Statement of the Board’s approach to 
governance 
Te Manawa Museums Trust Board is established and governed in accordance with the Te 
Manawa Trust Deed; available on request from the Executive Assistant of Te Manawa. 

The Board of up to seven trustees, is responsible for the strategic direction and control of Te 
Manawa’s activities. 

The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of Te Manawa, in accordance with 
the Charitable Trusts Act 1957, the Local Government Act 2002, the Trust Deed and this 
Statement of Intent. 

The Board’s approach to governance is to adopt “good practice” with respect to: 

• the operation and performance of the Board 
• managing the relationship with the Chief Executive 
• being accountable to the community and regularly reporting to the Arts, Culture and 

Heritage Committee of Palmerston North City Council 
• enhancing Te Manawa’s environmental sustainability. 

The Chief Executive is responsible for the day-to-day operations of Te Manawa, engaging 
and oversight of staff and reporting to the trustees on performance against Te Manawa’s 
performance objectives. 

The Board encourages engagement on our strategic direction by stakeholders through three 
main avenues: the development and presentation of this Statement of Intent, a public Annual 
General Meeting held each year, and through presentations at Council’s quarterly Arts, 
Culture and Heritage to report and outline new initiatives. 
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Contribution to ‘Small city benefits, big city 
ambition’ 
Palmerston North City Council’s vision for the city is Small city benefits, big city ambition. 

Council has identified five strategic goals for achieving this vision: Goal 1: An innovative and 
growing city; Goal 2: A creative and exciting city; Goal 3: A connected and safe community; 
Goal 4: An eco-city; and Goal 5: A driven and enabling Council. 

Te Manawa contributes to all goals, but primarily to these priorities under Goal 2: 

• Celebrate the city’s history and diversity, and build on the strength of being a city of 
many cultures and languages; and  

• Develop the city into an arts powerhouse with a national reputation for creativity and 
the arts. 

Te Manawa received a Statement of Expectation stating Council’s objectives relating to Te 
Manawa. The Board has worked through the Statement of Expectation and has responded to 
this throughout this Statement of Intent. 
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Strategic objectives 
We have identified interrelated areas of focus for the next three years to achieve our vision of 
a museum working beyond boundaries. 

• Objective 1: A collaborative and future-focussed organisation 

          Te Manawa will connect to and amplify what’s already happening in the community to 
make a bigger impact. Maintaining and enhancing our strategic relationships is key our 
success.  
          We will build Te Manawa’s environmental and financial sustainability, ensuring it is 
well-placed to challenge boundaries and respond proactively to change. Te Manawa seeks to 
reduce carbon emissions.  We will work strategically to accelerate revenue generation and 
embed a business development mindset within Te Manawa. 
          We will build our reputation as a creative and vibrant organisation, encouraging 
experimentation. Te Manawa will act as a testing ground for prototyping ideas. 

 
• Objective 2: Innovative experiences that attract visitors 

          Te Manawa’s multi-layered experiences champion the uniqueness of our region. We 
will focus on developing and hosting vibrant exhibitions, spanning and interconnecting art, 
heritage and science, that attract visitors, contributing to the city’s liveability and sense of 
place. We will carry out creative marketing to build visitation, third-party investment, and Te 
Manawa’s profile. 
          Through our exhibitions, both conventional and challenging, Te Manawa builds a 
national reputation. Digital engagement will help attract physical visitors but also provide for 
our collections and activities to be enjoyed and interacted with by those in our community 
who cannot visit our facilities. 
          By caring for its collections, Te Manawa provides access to the region’s diverse 
cultural heritage. Existing collections are brought to life so residents and visitors can engage 
with the history of the Manawatū and New Zealand. 

• Objective 3: Enhanced learning and engagement  

          Te Manawa, as a gathering place, builds tolerance and connections among 
Palmerston North’s diverse cultures – one community, many cultures. We will ensure that Te 
Manawa enhances creativity, gives visibility to diverse viewpoints, and supports an inclusive 
community. We will provide opportunities to incubate ideas through collaboration and 
experimentation, leveraging opportunities to co-create with local communities.  
          Te Manawa opens doors for different conversations and engages people in learning 
experiences that are relevant and meaningful to them. Te Manawa, through its links to 
education, research institutes and local technology industries, develops science and 
technology-focussed exhibitions of local and national interest. 
          Our relationship with Rangitāne o Manawatū, as mana whenua, will evolve in line with 
their post-settlement aspirations. Te Manawa, in partnership with Rangitāne, protects its 
taonga, tells its stories and moves forward under the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi.  
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What we will do 

Objective 1: A collaborative and future-focussed 
organisation 
To achieve this objective, we will: 

• Continue to maintain strong relationships with Rangitāne at governance levels and 
through activity-based approaches 

• Complete the Strategic Relationship Strategy (2021/22). 
• Implement a partner-based exhibition (by end of 2022/23).  
• Develop short and long-term fundraising projects to realise the goal of sustainable 

external funding for programmes and exhibitions (2021-24). 
• Finalise and make public a ten year business plan (to be reviewed annually) which 

provides a clear focus of long term development (2021-24). 
• Trial and review one environmentally focussed project by end of 22/23. 
• Promote and promulgate thought leadership across the national museum sector 

(2021-24). 
• Initiate a project to scope, develop and increase revenue-generating product and 

services.  
 

Objective 2: Innovative experiences that attract and 
engage visitors 
To achieve this objective, we will: 

• Develop a Visitor Experience Plan to act on the findings of the visitor market research. 
• Care for, develop, and add to Te Manawa’s collections. 
• Maintain a vibrant and balanced programme of exhibitions to engage audiences and 

contribute to building visitation (digital and physical), third-party investment and Te 
Manawa’s profile locally and nationally. 

• Continue with the established plan to exhibit the art collection physically and digitally 
within three years (by end of 2023/24). 

• Implement and evaluate success of Exhibitions Strategy (by end of 2021/22). 
• Develop a Digital Strategy to support development of online experiences that attract 

increasing interest. (by end of 2021/22). Implement and evaluate success by end of 
22/23. 

• Develop two new digital creative projects (by end of 2022/23), and two more by end of 
2023/24.  

• Develop economic impact reporting for major exhibitions hosted by Te Manawa (by 
end of 2021/22). 
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Objective 3: Enhanced learning and engagement  
To achieve this objective, we will: 

• Develop a strategic approach to the implementation of international community 
engagement mentoring programme OF|BY|FOR ALL through the development of 
stakeholder and visitor experience strategies (21/23) 

• Increase the impact of learning programmes and activities in formal and informal 
environments through Te Rangahau Curiosity Centre (2021-24). 

• Implement a communications and marketing plan for learning activities (2021-24). 
• Evaluate success of two creative projects (by end of 2021/22). Deliver two more 

projects (by end of 2022/23). 
• Support implementation of phase 1 of Te Rangimārie project, a dual venue cultural 

tourism project undertaken by Te Rangimārie Marae Trustees (by end of 2021/22). 
Phase 1 includes training for Front of House staff to confidently engage with visitors, 
and co-creation of activities linked to Te Rangi Whenua.
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How we operate 
We aim to provide a hub for significantly growing the city’s levels of learning and 
engagement, social cohesion and wellbeing, civic pride and vibrancy, and national reputation. 
We work to: 

• open doors for different conversations; 
• enhance through creativity; 
• build a profile of and champion the uniqueness of our region; 
• connect people with each other and unlock the riches of our treasures and stories; 
• incubate ideas through collaboration and experimentation; 
• amplify possibilities and potential, with and for our communities; 
• challenge boundaries and respond proactively to change; 
• develop a well-informed community armed with knowledge and understanding. 

We are committed to staff development and provide training, performance reviews and 
development plans.  

Our staff are qualified and experienced, and we adhere to rigorous and inclusive processes 
to ensure the best experience of, by and for the public.  

 

Working together 

Quarterly Report 
Te Manawa Museums Trust will present at Palmerston North City Council’s quarterly Arts, 
Culture and Heritage Committee meeting to report on progress against the SOI and outline 
new initiatives (unless the half-yearly or annual report is to be presented at the same 
meeting). 

Half-Yearly Report 
By the end of February each year, Te Manawa Museums Trust will provide the Council with a 
half-yearly report complying with s 66 of the Local Government Act 2002. The report will 
include the following information:  

• Chief Executive’s commentary on operations for the relevant six-month period. 
• Comparison of Te Manawa Museums Trust’s performance with the objectives, 

planned activities and performance targets set out in the SOI, with an explanation of 
any material variances. 

• Un-audited half-yearly financial statements incorporating a statement of financial 
performance, statement of financial position, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cashflows. 
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Annual Report 
By 30 September each year, Te Manawa Museums Trust will provide the Council with an 
annual report complying with s 67–69 of the Local Government Act 2002. Financial 
statements and audit clearance will be provided in early August to ensure timely availability of 
Council’s annual report. 

The annual report will contain the information necessary to enable an informed assessment 
of the operations of Te Manawa Museums Trust, and will include the following information: 

• Chief Executive’s commentary on operations for the relevant year. 
• Comparison of Te Manawa Museums Trust’s performance to the objectives, planned 

activities and performance targets set out in the SOI, with an explanation of any 
material variances. 

• Financial statements incorporating a statement of financial performance, statement of 
financial position, statement of changes in equity, statement of cashflows, statement of 
accounting policies and notes to the accounts. 

• Auditor’s report on the financial statements and the performance targets. 
• Any other information that the Trustees consider appropriate.  

 

Signature 
 
This Statement of Intent was approved by the Te Manawa Museums Trust Board on 2 June 
2021 

 

 

 

Caroline Tate  

Acting Chair, Te Manawa Museums Trust Board  
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Te Ara Tahua 
Statement of Intent (Financials) 
 
BUDGET FOR THE YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE 2022, 2023 AND 2024 

TE MANAWA MUSEUMS TRUST 
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 Budget Assumptions and Comments: 
 
  

Revenue 
1. Palmerston North City Council (PNCC) Funding:  

 
PNCC Operating Grant 
 
2021/22:   $3,264,227 (2020/21 plus 1.0%) 
2022/23:   $3,296,869 (2021/22 plus 1.0%) 
2023/24:   $3,329,838 (2022/23 plus 1.0%) 
 
 

2. Interest Revenue: 
Interest Income has been based on average bank balances remaining between $732k and 
$900k (the approximate required level to preserve Te Manawa tagged reserves) with weighted 
average bank interest rates forecast at 0.6%.    
 

3. Other Operating Revenue: 
Other Operating Revenue is expected to increase from the 2020/21 budget, with increased 
targets for fundraising and sponsorship. 
 

4. Net Collection Movements 
The forecast level of donated collection assets is maintained level from prior years. ($15,000). 
The prospective financial statements do not provide for a forecast net movement in the market 
value of collections, as data are not readily available for assumptions regarding the future 
market value of collections assets. Revaluation of collection assets is a non-cash item. The 
most recent revaluation of the Art Collection took place during the final quarter of the 2020/21 
financial year, and the next Heritage Collection revaluation is to take place during the 
2023/2024 financial year. The revaluation conducted during the 2019/20 year resulted in a 
reduction in value of heritage items of $1,273,084 
 
Expenditure 

5. Payroll: 
The Payroll budget for all years incorporates requirements of the remuneration system adopted 
by Te Manawa. 

6. Operating Expenditure: 
Operating costs have been budgeted for the next three years based on current contractual 
commitments, as well as anticipated maintenance costs (i.e. cleaning, repairs and maintenance, 
security and administrative costs).  

7. Occupancy Costs: 
Te Manawa has received notice of some suppliers’ intention to increase costs. An inflation 
adjustment of 1.1% has been applied across most expense categories. 
 

8. PNCC Leases and Service Level Agreements: 
It has been assumed that there will be no increase in charges from PNCC in relation to service 
level agreements - IT, vehicles and phones.   
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9. Depreciation:  
The forecast depreciation for the next financial years is based on the planned plant and 
equipment additions and the upgrade of the semi-permanent exhibition (Te Awa ). 
 

10. Operating Surplus/(Deficit) after Collection Movements: 
A net surplus has been budgeted for each of the three years covered by the financial statements 
2021/22 ($7.1k) 2022/23 ($6.7k) and 2023/24($9.3k) 
Prudent management of operating expenditure will be required to achieve the budgeted results.  
Revenue generation opportunities will be sought to ensure that operating cash surpluses are 
produced going forward.  
 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION: 

 
11. Cash & Short-Term deposits: 

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including term deposits with a maturity of up to 3 months) are 
budgeted to remain relatively consistent at between $1,064k and $1,240k. This is enough to 
meet the Trust’s current budgeted obligations and commitments. 
 
 

12. STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS: 
Forecast net cash flows from operating activities are enough to cover the planned capital 
expenditure for the three financial years.  

 
 

13. STATEMENT OF CASH BALANCES & RESERVES: 
Careful managing of resources will be required to maintain positive untagged reserves over next 
years, in order to both meet our operational costs and gradually increase our semi-permanent 
and touring exhibition capabilities. There is also an increased reliance on third party revenue to 
meet the forecast level of operating costs and allow for the strategic reserves to be built up.  
 
The tables below indicate the way Te Manawa intends to gradually build up its strategic reserves 
within the constraint of maintaining positive untagged reserves.  
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The semi-permanent exhibition reserve is designed for the purpose of securing funding tor future semi-
permanent exhibition refresh and/or internally developed and built Te Manawa touring shows.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Endowment Fund Balance 
1/7/20

Actual at 
30/06/20

Budget 
transfers 
in/(out)

2020/21 
Budget

Budget 
transfers 
in/(out)

Budget 
transfers 
in/(out)

2021/22 
Budget

Clevely Fund 10,874 10,874   - 10,874        -                   -               10,874     
Total Endowment Funds 10,874         10,874           -                10,874        -                   -               10,874     

Te Manawa Museums Trust
Endowment Fund Forecast

Specific Reserves Balance 
1/7/20

Actual at 
30/06/20

Budget 
transfers 
in/(out)

2020/21 
Budget

Budget 
transfers 
in/(out)

Budget 
transfers 
in/(out)

2021/22 
Budget

Collection Development 20,840         16,362           16,362        -                   -               16,362     

Historical Building 
Maintenance 22,081         22,081           -                22,081        -                   -               22,081     
Semi-Permanent 
Exhibition Development 
Reserve 234,814       299,674         299,674      -                   299,674  

    Total Specific Reserves 277,735 338,117   - 338,117   -   - 338,117 
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The accompanying notes and accounting policies form part of the prospective financial statements. 

Te Manawa Museums Trust

Prospective Statement of Revenue and Expenses
For the Three Years Ended 30 June 2022, 2023 & 2024 350,000 65937

 

Budget Actual Budget Budget Budget

2020/21 2019/20 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
$ $ $ $ $

Revenue
PNCC Operational Grant 1 3,231,908 3,199,909 3,264,227 3,296,869 3,329,838 
MDC Grant 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 
Interest Received 2 14,000 15,486 5,400 7,930 7,858 
Fundraising  & Sponsorship 3 250,000 5,000 320,000 311,000 438,000 
Other Revenue 3 290,154 296,577 309,345 348,411 200,987 

Total Revenue 3,806,062 3,536,972 3,918,972 3,984,211 3,996,683 

Expenditure
Personnel Costs 5 2,308,352 2,017,313 2,373,074 2,405,627 2,431,939 
Museum Activities 6 861,527 767,717 915,423 934,286 910,130 
Occupancy Costs 7 281,943 160,796 266,988 274,057 277,212 
PNCC Leases & SLA's 8 81,738 81,738 79,738 79,738 79,738 
Depreciation/Amortisation 284,560 259,017 291,600 298,788 303,336 
Assets Written Off   - 615   -   -   - 

Total Operating Expenditure 3,818,120 3,287,196 3,926,823 3,992,496 4,002,354 

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) Before Collection 
Movements 10 (12,058) 249,776 (7,851) (8,285) (5,671)

Collection Movement Income

Custodial Assets   -   -   -   -   - 
Donated Assets 15,000 28,419 15,000 15,000 15,000 

Collection Movement Expense
Custodial Assets Returned   -   -   -   -   - 

Collection Assets Deaccessioned   - 184   -   -   - 
Net Collection Movements 4 15,000 28,235 15,000 15,000 15,000 

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 2,942 278,011 7,149 6,715 9,329 

Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses 4   - (1,273,084)   -   -   - 

Total Comprehensive Revenue and Expense 2,942 (995,073) 7,149 6,715 9,329 

Notes
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Te Manawa Museums Trust
Prospective Statement of Financial Position 8,216 22,713 56,276 
As at 30 June 2022, 2023 & 2024

Notes Actual Budget Budget Budget Budget
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

$ $ $ $ $

Assets
Current Assets

Cash & Cash Equivalents 11 694,163 156,105 284,425 369,876 683,912 
Short Term Deposits 614,245 908,858 615,688 460,407 48,345 
Stock of Merchandise 51,472 45,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 
Receivables 10,509 50,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 
Interest Receivable 2,022 1,600 1,500 1,500 1,500 
Prepayments 8,125 57,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 

Total Current Assets 1,380,536 1,218,563 1,021,613 951,783 853,757 

Fixed Assets
Information Technology 37,957 75,066 70,726 75,534 71,740 
Property Plant & Equipment   - 

Exhibitions 284,028 190,728 436,348 418,074 452,770 
Furniture & Fittings 62,071 58,678 58,678 64,704 65,172 
Leasehold Improvements 67,136 45,638 46,094 46,555 47,021 
Plant & Equipment 320,695 308,673 319,859 380,130 412,285 

Collection Assets (Owned) 7,240,474 8,374,712 8,374,712 8,379,330 8,444,330 
Collection Assets (Custodial) 8,086,366 8,265,209 8,265,209 8,265,209 8,265,209 
Work in Progress 61,809 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 
Total Fixed Assets 16,160,537 17,348,705 17,601,627 17,659,537 17,788,527 

Other Non-Current Assets
Intangible Assets - Software 12,713 20,113 140,112 155,795 137,480 
Total Non-Current Assets 16,173,250 17,368,818 17,741,739 17,815,332 17,926,007 

Total Assets 17,553,786 18,587,381 18,763,353 18,767,115 18,779,765 

Current Liabilities
Payables Under Exchange Transactions 325,567 160,000 328,823 332,111 335,432 
Income  Received in  Advance) 82,858 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 
Provisions   -   -   -   - 
Employee Benefits 239,573 201,860 201,860 195,619 195,619 
Interest Payable   -   -   -   -   - 
GST Payable (Receivable) 46,335 55,000 55,000 55,000 55,000 
Current Portion of Term Liabilities   -   -   -   -   - 
Total Current Liabilities 694,333 446,860 615,683 612,730 616,051 

Non-Current Liabilities
Employee Benefits 3,465 3,266 3,266 3,266 3,266 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 3,465 3,266 3,266 3,266 3,266 
Total Liabilities 697,798 450,126 618,949 615,996 619,317 
Equity
Trust Equity 10,428,880 10,712,132 10,715,074 10,722,223 10,728,938 
Retained Surplus Current Year 278,011 2,942 7,149 6,715 9,329 

Asset Revaluation Reserve 5,800,106 7,073,190 7,073,190 7,073,190 7,073,190 
Specific Reserves 13 338,118 338,117 338,117 338,117 338,117 
Endowment Funds 13 10,873 10,874 10,874 10,874 10,874 
Total Trust Funds 16,855,988 18,137,255 18,144,404 18,151,119 18,160,448 
Total Liabilities and Trust Funds 17,553,786 18,587,381 18,763,353 18,767,115 18,779,765 
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 The accompanying notes and accounting policies form part of the prospective financial statements  
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Notes to the Prospective Financial 
Statements 

 

Statement of Accounting Policies  
 

REPORTING ENTITY 
 
Te Manawa Museums Trust (the Trust) is a charitable trust incorporated in New Zealand under the Charitable 
Trusts Act 1957 and is domiciled in New Zealand.  The Trust is controlled by Palmerston North City Council and 
is a Council Controlled Organisation as defined under section 6 of the Local Government Act 2002, by virtue of 
the Council’s right to appoint more than 50% of the Board of Trustees. 

 

The Trust was incorporated on 20 August 1999, from that date, the Trust assumed responsibility for art works 
and heritage assets transferred to its care but held on behalf of others.  From 1 July 2000 the Trust commenced 
leasing the premises and managing the institution under agreements entered into with the Palmerston North 
City Council.  The principal place of business is 326-336 Main Street, Palmerston North. 

 

The primary objective of the Trust is to provide interactive experience in art, science and history through 
acquiring, conserving, researching, developing, communicating and exhibiting material evidence of people and 
their environment, rather than making a commercial return.  Accordingly, the Trust has designated itself as a 
public sector public benefit entity for the purposes of Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards (PBE 
Standards). 

 

BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

The prospective financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, and the accounting 
policies have been applied consistently throughout the periods. 

 

Statement of Compliance 
 
The prospective financial statements of the Trust have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 2002, which includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP). 

 

The financial statements comply with Public Benefit Entity International Public Sector Accounting Standards (“PBE 
IPSAS”) and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for Tier 2 public sector public benefit 
entities, for which all reduced disclosure regime exemptions have been adopted.  

The Trust qualifies as a Tier 2 Public Sector PBE reporting entity as it is not publicly accountable and as for the 
two most recent reporting periods it has had between $2m and $30m operating expenditure. 

 

The reporting periods for these prospective financial statements are the years ending 30 June 2022, 30 June 
2023 and respectively 30 June 2024.  The prospective financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars, 
unless otherwise stated. 
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Measurement Base 
 
The measurement basis applied is historical cost, modified by the revaluation of collection assets as identified in 
this summary of significant accounting policies. The accrual basis of accounting has been used unless otherwise 
stated. 

 
Standards, amendments, and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted 
 

There are no standards, amendments, and interpretations, issued but not yet effective that have not been early 
adopted, and which are relevant to the Trust. 

 

Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Revenue  

Revenue is measured at fair value of consideration received or receivable.  

Revenue may be derived from either exchange or non-exchange transactions. 

 
Revenue from Non-exchange transactions 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions arises from transactions that are not exchange transactions. In non-
exchange transactions, the Trust either receives value from or gives value to another party without directly giving 
or receiving approximately equal value in exchange. 

Approximately equal value is considered to reflect a fair or market value, which is normally commensurate with 
an arm’s length commercial transaction between a willing buyer and willing seller. Many of the services that the 
Trust provides for a fee are charged at below market value as they are subsidised by Palmerston North City 
Council operational grant, sponsorship and government/non-government grants. Other services operate on a cost 
recovery or breakeven basis and are not considered to reflect a market return. Most of the Trust’s revenue is 
therefore categorized as non-exchange. 

This includes PNCC grants, transfers from government/non-government entities, donations, donated/vested and 
custodial collection items, sponsorship, in kind sponsorship, revenue from services supplied at subsidised price.  

 

Specific accounting policies for major categories of revenue from non-exchange transactions are outlined below: 

 

Grants 

Grants received from PNCC are the primary source of funding to the Trust and are restricted for the purposes of 
the Trust meeting its objectives as specified in the Trust’s trust deed.  

 

Revenues from non-exchange transactions with Council/other government/non-government entities are 
measured at fair value and recognised when the event occurs and the asset recognition criteria are met, if the 
transfer is free from conditions and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential related to the 
asset will flow to the Trust and can be measured reliably.  To the extent that there is a related condition attached 
that would give rise to a liability to repay the amount if conditions of the grant are not met, deferred income is 
recognised instead of revenue, and recognised as revenue when conditions of the grant are satisfied. 
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Rendering of services 

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised when the transaction occurs to the extent that a liability is 
not also recognised. For these transactions the revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at the reporting date. 

All revenues from rendering of services are non-exchange, except for revenue from Venue Hire which is classified 
as exchange transaction.  

 

Vested or donated physical assets 

Where a physical asset is gifted to or vested in the Trust for nil or nominal consideration, the fair value of the asset 
received is recognised as revenue.  Such income is recognised when control over the asset is obtained, unless 
there is a use or return condition attached to the asset.  

The fair value of vested or donated physical assets is determined by reference to the market value of comparable 
assets available. 

 

‘In Kind’ Sponsorship 

The Trust receives sponsorship ‘in kind’ by way of goods and services provided at discounted or nil charge.  Where 
the fair value of these goods and services can be reliably measured, the income (and expense) is recognised as 
‘sponsorship - in kind’ in the period in which the goods or services are received or there is a binding arrangement 
to receive the goods. 

 

Volunteer Services 

Volunteer services received are not recognised as revenue or expenditure as the Trust is unable to reliably 
measure the fair value of the services received. 

 

Revenue from Exchange transactions 
Sales of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods and when the amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Trust. 

 

Interest Income 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 

Advertising Costs 
Advertising costs are expensed when the related service has been rendered. 

 
Borrowing Costs  
Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest rate method. All borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

 

Depreciation and amortisation 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets are charged on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life of the associated assets. 
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Leases 

Finance Leases 
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred. 
 
At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. 

The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
 
The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life.  If there is no certainty as to whether the 
Trust will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and its useful life. 
 
Operating Leases 

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset.  Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 
 
Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit over the lease term as an integral part of the 
total lease expense. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

Bank overdrafts are presented within borrowings as a current liability in the statement of financial position.  
 

Debtors and other receivables 
Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
A provision for impairment of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the Trust will not 
be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the receivable.  Significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation, and default in 
payments are considered indicators that the receivable is impaired.  The amount of the impairment is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
using the original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of an impaired receivable is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.  When the 
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for receivables.  Overdue receivables 
that have been renegotiated are reclassified as current (that is, not past due). 

 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are categorised into the following four categories: financial assets at fair value through surplus 
or deficit; held-to-maturity investments; loans and receivables; and financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive revenue and expense. The classification depends on the purpose for which each investment was 
acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based upon the quoted market prices at the 
balance sheet date. The quoted market price used is the current bid price. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques. 
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The Trust uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at 
each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt 
instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments. 

 

a)  Financial Assets at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit 

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through 
surplus or deficit at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose 
of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised as held for 
trading. After initial recognition they are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses due to change in fair value 
are recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

Currently, the Trust does not hold any financial assets in this category. 

 

b) Loans and Receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the balance date, which are included in non-current assets. After initial recognition, they are measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses when the asset is 
impaired or derecognised are recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
 
c) Held to Maturity Investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturities and there is the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. They are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, which are included in non-current assets.  After 
initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment. 
Gains and losses when the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

Currently, the Trust does not hold any financial assets in this category. 

 
d) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense are those that are designated 
into this category at initial recognition or are not classified in any of the other categories above. They are 
included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of, or realise, the investment within 12 
months of balance date.  

These investments are measured at their fair value, with gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive 
revenue and expense, except for impairment losses, which are recognised in the surplus or deficit. On 
derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense 
is reclassified from equity to the surplus or deficit. 

Currently, the Trust does not hold any financial assets in this category. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets are assessed for evidence of impairment at each balance date. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

 

Loans and receivables, and held-to-maturity investments 

Impairment is established when there is evidence that the Trust will not be able to collect amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter into bankruptcy, receivership, or liquidation and default in payments are indicators that the 
asset is impaired. The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate.  
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For debtors and other receivables, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. When the receivable is uncollectible, 
it is written-off against the allowance account. Overdue receivables that have been renegotiated are reclassified 
as current (that is, not past due). Impairment in term deposits are recognised directly against the instrument’s 
carrying amount. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense 

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is 
considered objective evidence of impairment. 

For debt investments, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into 
bankruptcy, and default in payments are objective indicators that the asset is impaired. 

If impairment evidence exists for investments at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense, 
the cumulative loss (measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the surplus or deficit) recognised in other 
comprehensive revenue and expense is reclassified from equity to the surplus or deficit. 

Equity instrument impairment losses recognised in the surplus or deficit are not reversed through the surplus or 
deficit. 

If in a subsequent period the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed in the 
surplus or deficit. 

 
Inventories 
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not supplied on a 
commercial basis are measured at cost (using the FIFO method), adjusted, when applicable, for any loss of 
service potential. 

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Inventories held for use in the provision of goods and services on a commercial basis are valued at the lower of 
cost (using the FIFO method) and net realisable value. 

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service potential or from cost to net realisable value is recognised 
in the surplus or deficit in the period of the write-down. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical or deemed cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.  Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 
they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.  

 

Additions 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

 

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at its cost.  Where an asset is 
acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value when control over the asset is obtained. 

 

Disposals 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset.  
Gains and losses on disposals are presented net in the surplus or deficit. 

 

 



 

P a g e  |    108 

IT
E
M

 1
1

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  

 

 
TE MANAWA MUSEUMS TRUST | STATEMENT OF INTENT 2021/22 – 23/24      |      30 

 

 

Work in Progress 

All assets constructed by Trust are initially recorded as work in progress. Work in progress is recognised at cost 
less impairment and it is not depreciated. Upon completion, these assets are transferred to their relevant asset 
class and depreciation commences. 

 

Subsequent costs 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are recognised as an expense as they are 
incurred. 

 

(a) Furniture, Equipment and Exhibits  

Furniture, equipment and exhibits (excluding art and heritage collections) are valued at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Depreciation 
Assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates that will write off their cost less any estimated 
residual value over the expected useful life of the asset.  The useful lives of major classes of assets 
have been estimated as follows:  

Computer Hardware   1 to 5 years 

Exhibitions     2 to 10 years 

Furniture & Fittings   4 to 10 years 

Leasehold Improvements  4 to 10 years 

Office Equipment   4 to 10 years 

Plant     4 to 20 years 

 

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial 
year end. 

        (b)  Collection Assets 

As the Heritage Collection and Art Collection assets are intended to have an indefinite life, they are held 
in trust in perpetuity for the benefit of the public.  

The Heritage Collection and Art Collection have not been depreciated, as it is the Trust’s policy to maintain 
the collections in their current state, in accordance with the Trust’s Collection Policies. 

 

All additions to the Heritage and Art Collection are recorded at cost.  These additions will be revalued in 
accordance with the Trust’s Valuation Policy.  Donated objects are recorded at fair value, or depreciated 
replacement cost, or nil value if considered unrealisable or irreplaceable. 

 

Custodial Collection Assets are objects within the Heritage and Art Collections not formally owned by the 
Trust, where the Trust has assumed all the rights and obligations of ownership.  Within the Heritage 
Collection this is limited to items on loan for an indefinite period, excluding works on loan from other 
Museums and Cultural organisations.   In relation to the Art Collection, the nature of artworks and 
anecdotal evidence suggests that there is a high likelihood of request for return of loaned assets, 
irrespective of the loan period, therefore only items on loan from the Te Manawa Art Society Inc. are 
recognised as custodial assets.   These assets are held and maintained by the Trust by agreement with 
the owners.   
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Revaluation 

The Art Collection assets are revalued to fair value as determined from market-based evidence by an 
independent valuer. The most recent valuation was performed by Art + Object Auckland during January 2018. 
Trust’s policy is to revalue the Art Collection assets every three years. 

The Heritage Collections assets are revalued to fair value as determined from market-based evidence by an 
independent valuer.   Trust’s policy is to revalue the Heritage Collection assets every four years to ensure that 
their carrying amount does not differ materially from fair value.   

All other asset classes are carried at depreciated historical cost. 

Accounting for Revaluations 

The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve.  Where this results in a debit 
balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is charged to the surplus or deficit.  Any subsequent 
increase on revaluation that off-sets a previous decrease in value recognised in a previous year surplus or deficit, 
will be recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then credited to the 
revaluation reserve. 

 

Intangible Assets 
Recognition and measurement 
Intangible assets are initially measured at cost, except for Intangible assets acquired through non-exchange 
transactions (measured at fair value).  

All of the Trust’s intangible assets are subsequently measured in accordance with the cost model, being cost (or 
fair value for items acquired through non-exchange transactions) less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment, except for the  items which are not amortised and instead tested for impairment such as Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives, or not yet available for use. The Trust has no intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives.  

 

Software acquisition and development 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. 

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use are recognised as an 
intangible asset. Direct costs include the software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads. 

Staff training costs are recognised in the surplus or deficit when incurred. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Costs associated with development and maintenance of the Trust’s website are recognised as an expense 
when incurred. 

 

Subsequent expenditure  

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill 
and brands, is recognised in surplus or deficit as incurred.  

 

Amortisation 
Amortisation is recognised in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
amortisable intangible asset. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date 
that the asset is disposed of.   
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The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Software:1 to 7 years, Website: 3 to 5 years 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.  

 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
For the purpose of impairment of Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, which are carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, the Trust classifies its items of property plant and 
equipment and intangibles as non-cash generating assets, as these are not held with the primary objective of 
generating a commercial return, but rather for service delivery purposes and to deliver to Trust’s public benefit 
objectives.  Property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. 

 

Value in use for non-cash-generating assets 

For Trust’s non-cash generating assets, value in use is determined based on either a depreciated replacement 
cost approach, restoration cost approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to 
measure value in use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of information. 

 

Value in use for cash-generating assets 

Cash-generating assets are those assets that are held with the primary objective of generating a commercial 
return. The value in use for cash-generating assets is the present value of expected future cash flows. The Trust 
does not currently hold property plant and equipment and intangible assets in this category.  

 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the 
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
 

Creditors and Other Payables 
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 

 
Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value plus transaction costs, if any.  After initial recognition, all 
borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Trust has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after balance date or if the borrowings are not expected to be settled within 
12 months of balance date. 

 

Employee Entitlements 

Short-term employee entitlements 

Employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee 
renders the related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include 
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual leave earned to, but not yet taken at balance date. 
Sick leave has not been included, as the amount of accumulated sick leave that is anticipated to be taken in 
future periods is not considered to be material. 
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Long-term employee entitlements 

Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the period in which the 
employee renders the related service, such as long service leave have been calculated on an actuarial basis. 
The calculations are based on: 

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that 
staff will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information; and 

• the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 

 

Provisions 
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present 
obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that expenditures will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
in ‘finance costs. 
 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except for trade 
receivables and payables, which are stated on a GST inclusive basis.  Where GST is not recoverable as input 
tax then it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is 
classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST. 

 
Income Tax 
The Trust is exempt from Income Tax by virtue of its charitable status. 

 

Equity 
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and 
classified into the following components. 

 
• Trust’s contributed capital; 
• Retained earnings; 
• Restricted reserves; 
• Collections revaluation reserve; 

 

Restricted reserves 

Restricted reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of 
equity have been assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or created by the Trust. 

Restricted reserves include those which have specific conditions accepted as binding by the Trust and which 
may not be revised by the Trust without reference to the Courts or a third party (i.e. endowment funds).  
Transfers from these reserves may be made only for certain specified purposes or when certain specified 
conditions are met. 
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Also included in restricted reserves are reserves restricted by Trust’s decision. The Trust may alter them without 
reference to any third party or the Courts. Transfers to and from these reserves are at the discretion of the 
Trust. 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 
In preparing these prospective financial statements, the Trust has made estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future.  These estimates and assumptions may differ from subsequent actual results.  Estimates and 
assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations or future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment Useful Lives and Residual Values 

The Trust reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and equipment annually.  Assessing 
the appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires the Trust 
to consider a number of factors including the physical condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset 
by the Trust, and expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset. 

 

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact on the depreciable amount of an asset, 
therefore impacting on the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or deficit and the carrying amount of 
the asset in the statement of financial position.  The Trust minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty by: 

- physical inspection of assets; 

- asset replacement programmes; 

- review of second-hand market prices for similar assets; and 

- analysis of prior asset sales. 
 

The Trust has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values.   
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Public benefit entity prospective financial statements 
(PBE FRS 42)  
 
The Trust has complied with PBE FRS 42 in the preparation of these prospective financial statements. In 
accordance with PBE FRS 42, the following information is provided: 

(i) Description of the nature of the entity’s current operation and its principal activities 

The Trust is a Council Controlled Organisation, as defined in the Local Government Act 2002. The Trust’s 
principal activities are outlined within this Statement of Intent. 

 

(ii) Purpose for which the prospective financial statements are prepared 

It is a requirement of the Local Government Act 2002 to present prospective financial statements that cover 3 
years and include them within the Statement of Intent.  The purpose of the Statement of Intent is to state 
publicly the activities and intentions of Te Manawa for the year and the objectives to which these activities will 
contribute.  Prospective financial statements are revised annually to reflect updated assumptions and costs. 

 

(iii) Bases for assumptions, risks and uncertainties 

The financial information has been prepared on the basis of best estimate assumptions as the future events 
which the Trust expects to take place. The Trust has considered factors that may lead to a material difference 
between information in the prospective financial statements and actual results. These factors, and the 
assumptions made in relation to the sources of uncertainty and potential effect, are outlined within this 
Statement of Intent. 

 

(iv) Cautionary Note 

The financial information is prospective. Actual results are likely to vary from the information presented, and the 
variations may be material. 

(iv) Other Disclosures 

These prospective financial statements have been authorised by the Board , on 2 June 2021,for delivery to the 
Palmerston North City Council. The Trust is responsible for the prospective financial statements presented, 
including the assumptions underlying prospective financial statements and all other disclosures. The Statement 
of Intent is prospective and as such contains no actual operating results. 
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Caccia Birch Trust Board - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024 

PRESENTED BY: Hannah White, Democracy & Governance Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sheryl Bryant, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

  

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council agree the Statement of Intent 2021-2024 submitted by Caccia 

Birch Trust Board, attached as Appendix 1 of the report titled ‘Caccia Birch Trust 

Board - Final Statement of Intent 2021-2024’. 

 

1. ISSUE 

1.1 The Statement of Intent (SOI) sets out the objectives and activities of The 

Caccia Birch Trust Board (CBTB) for the next three years. It serves as a basis for 

accountability to the Council, as the shareholder.  

1.2 The requirements for the SOI are set out in Schedule 8 of the Local 

Government Act 2002 (LGA). Under the LGA, Council has the power to 

modify a SOI to ensure it adequately reflects the council’s strategic priorities if 

it considers that is necessary. 

1.3 In June 2021, Council resolved to bring the delivery of Caccia Birch 

homestead and gardens inhouse from July 2022. A 12-month transition period 

was agreed to enable the smooth transfer of management of the property 

from the Trust Board to Council.  

1.4 The purpose of this report is for the Council to fulfil the requirement under 

s65(2) of the LGA to agree the final SOI, or if it does not agree, to require the 

SOI to be modified as set out in clause 6, Schedule 8 of the LGA. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 CBTB is a Council Controlled Organisation (CCO), which was set up to 

independently manage and promote the Caccia Birch House and Grounds. 

A CCO is an organisation in which Council has the right to appoint at least 

fifty percent of the trustees and must work towards Council’s objectives on its 

behalf. CBTB is managed by a Board of Trustees made up of committed 

volunteers. 
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2.2 The Council and the Trust Board are currently working through a 12-month 

transition period, to transfer the management of the property from being run 

by CBTB into a Council delivered service. During this period, the Trust Board is 

still responsible for the day-to day running of the property and is still legally a 

CCO. As such, it is expected to report on performance as outlined in the 

Local Government Act 2002. 

2.3 In November 2020, the Council resolved to retain the Statement of 

Expectations 2020/21 for all cultural CCOs for the forthcoming year 2021/22.  

2.4 The Arts, Culture & Heritage Committee received CBTB’s draft SOI at its 

meeting on 14 April 2021 and made recommendations for CBTB to consider 

when developing its final SOI. These recommended changes were approved 

by Council on 5 May 2021.  

2.5 Council’s recommended changes (Table 1) have not been made by the Trust 

Board. CCTB have stated that due to the circumstances they do not intend to 

make any changes.  

2.6 Officers recommend Council agree the SOI. As a result of the decision to 

bring the provision in-house, only the first year of this Statement of Intent will 

take effect. 

Table 1:  Council recommendations on the draft CBTB SOI 

Council comments on draft Is it dealt with in the 

SOI? 

Work with Council officers to discuss updating the Trust Deed. No. Changes not 

made. 

That CBTB remove the performance measure for number of 

visitor surveys completed.   

No. Changes not 

made. 

That rather than report on the whole survey, CBTB highlight 

survey results as evidence of performance. 

No. Changes not 

made. 

That CBTB specify in the ‘What we will do’ section where 

proposed unsecured funding is expected to come from - PNCC 

or from external source. 

No. Changes not 

made. 

 

3. NEXT STEPS 

3.1 CBTB’s Annual Report 2020-21 on its SOI 2020/21 is due to Council officers on 

30 September 2021 and will be presented to the Arts, Culture & Heritage 

Committee in November. 
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3.2 The six-month report on this SOI will be delivered to staff by 1 March 2022 and 

presented to the next available Arts Culture and Heritage Committee. 

4. COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special 

Consultative procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? Yes 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 2: A Creative and Exciting City 

The recommendations contribute to the outcomes of the Creative and Liveable 

Strategy 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in the Arts 

Plan 

The action is: to support CCOs to achieve the objectives of the arts plan. 

Contribution to 

strategic 

direction and to 

social, 

economic, 

environmental 

and cultural well-

being 

Agreeing the final Statements of Intent is a mechanism for 

Council to provide guidance and direction to the cultural CCOs 

and meets Council’s responsibility to monitor the CCOs under 

the LGA. 

 

  

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Caccia Birch Trust Board - Statement of Intent 2021-24 ⇩   

    

COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25722_1.PDF
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Elected Member Appointments to the Caccia Birch Trust Board 

PRESENTED BY: Hannah White, Democracy and Governance Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sheryl Bryant, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

  

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. To appoint the Mayor, Grant Smith and Cr. Renee Dingwall as trustees on the 

Caccia Birch Trust Board until 1 August 2022. 

 

 

1. ISSUE 

Two vacancies on the Caccia Birch Trust Board (CBTB) need to be filled following the 

notified retirement of two Council appointed trustees at the November 2021 Annual 

General Meeting and the Trust Deed requirement to have 5-6 Council-appointed 

members to the Board. 

Expressions of interest have been sought from elected members willing to be a 

trustee on CBTB for a term of 7 months, until July 2022 (the interim period until 

operations are brought in-house). 

 

2. BACKGROUND 

On 2 June 2021 Council resolved to bring the delivery of the Caccia Birch house and 

garden in-house by July 2022.  Caccia Birch Trust Board (CBTB) and officers are 

currently working to manage the transition to in-house delivery. 

Council resolved on 4 August 2021 to appoint elected members to fill the vacancies 

and to seek expressions of interest from elected members for the positions. 

Expressions of interest have been received from Mayor Smith and Cr. Dingwall. 

These two council-appointed trustees will have to manage any conflict of interests 

arising from being a trustee and an elected member. Conflicts are self-managed by 

elected members, under guidance from the Code of Conduct. Officers are also 

available for advice. 
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3. NEXT STEPS 

Officers will inform CBTB of the appointments in time for succession at the Annual 

General Meeting. 

 

4. COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special 

Consultative procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? Yes 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 5: A Driven & Enabling Council 

 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in     

Governance and Active Citizenship 

 

The action is: Ongoing review of governance systems and structures to support 

council’s effectiveness and reputation. 

 

Contribution to 

strategic 

direction and to 

social, 

economic, 

environmental 

and cultural well-

being 

Appointing elected members as trustees will ensure continuation 

of responsible governance in the period before the 

management of the House and Gardens moves in-house.  

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Nil   
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Chief Executive briefing to Council on the next stages of Three 

Waters Service Delivery Reform 

PRESENTED BY: Sandra King, Transport & Infrastructure Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sarah Sinclair, Chief Infrastructure Officer  

 

  

RECOMMENDATION(S) TO COUNCIL 

1. That Council  

• note the Government’s 30 June and 15 July 2021 Three Waters Reform 

announcements. 

• note officers’ preliminary advice on the accuracy of the information provided 

to Council in June and July 2021 as a result of the RFI (Request for Information) 

and WICS (Water Industry Commission for Scotland) modelling processes. 

• note officers’ preliminary analysis of the impacts of the Government’s 

proposed three water service delivery model on the Palmerston North City 

community and its wellbeing, including the impacts on the delivery of water 

services and water related outcomes, capability and capacity, on 

Palmerston North City Council’s (Council) sustainability (including rating 

impact, debt impact, and efficiency) and the conclusions that: 

➢ Without water reform, our current 10 Year Plan (LTP) is unsustainable 

based on good practice financial rules. Costs to ratepayers will 

significantly increase, with or without reform. With reform, there is the 

opportunity to escalate investment, and data gathering on asset 

condition and lifespan, which will both improve reliability of service. 

➢ DIA (Department of Internal Affairs) Tranche 1 reform funding (received 

November 2020) of $9.34 million is currently allocated to 25 ‘live’ 

projects focussed on improving the resilience of three waters 

infrastructure and is 53% spent to date. Council has benefited from 

participation in the water reform process, through direct funding and 

indirectly through involvement in scene setting. 

➢ The BPO (Nature Calls), our largest project, is not affected by the entity 

boundaries proposed. Timings are mandated by consent requirements, 

such that the consent must be lodged in June 2022, ahead of the 

reform. The timing makes it difficult for the new entity to be involved 

meaningfully during its establishment phase. 
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➢ Council has not budgeted in its current LTP for additional costs of 

compliance with new mandatory requirements from the Water 

Regulator, Taumata Arowai, which have recently been consulted on. 

This adds to the unaffordability of investment required to maintain 

assets and consent compliance. 

➢ The cost of transition to any new entity for Council is not yet known, 

because the tasks and process to transition are yet undefined. Several 

tasks have been identified to date, which require significant resourcing 

at a time when resources are constrained nationally. More due 

diligence work is needed to ensure that we are ‘no worse off; there is 

potential for this analysis to be funded by diverting some of our DIA 

tranche 1 funding. 

➢ The Transition Unit has guaranteed jobs to those non-executive staff 

working in water, for 18 months at their current location. The scope of 

the water entities is not yet defined, so the impact on staff outside of 

those directly involved in utility operation and maintenance is not yet 

understood. The new entities, as they are established, are likely to take 

staff out of Councils, who cannot be backfilled because of a 

nationwide shortage.  

➢ There needs to be more clarity around how stormwater land use 

planning will function under water reform – the skill sets of stormwater 

utility management are quite different to those of land drainage as 

part of land development, and the management of water sensitive 

design assets is closer to parks’ capability than water network 

capability. 

➢ There also needs to be more clarity around how the new entity will 

work with councils to prioritise growth and enable strategic plans to be 

realised. 

• note further Council specific information is yet to be received, or analysed, 

including detail on the cost of stranded overheads, the impact on the 

operational workforce, the resourcing and cost of the transition process, and 

other matters detailed in the report. 

• note that the ‘better off’ funding of $32,630,589 allocated to Council to spend 

on civic and community improvement requires engagement with iwi on what 

to spend the funds on, and confirm that consultation with the community will 

also form part of Council decision-making for allocation of this ‘better off’ 

funding; and also note that the Government will lead engagement with 

iwi/Maori over the reform programme. 

• note the analysis of three waters service delivery options available to Council 

at this time, in section 6 of this report. 

• note that a decision to support the Government’s preferred three waters 

service delivery option is not lawful (would be ultra vires) at present due to 

section 130 of the LGA (Local Government Act 2002), which prohibits Council 

from divesting its ownership or interest in a water service except to another 

local government organisation, noting Government’s stated intention for new 

legislation in this regard. 
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• note that Council cannot make a formal decision on a regional option for 

three waters service delivery without doing a LTP amendment and ensuring it 

meets section 130 of the LGA. 

• note that community consultation would be required under Council’s 

significance policy once Council has further information on the range of 

options available to it and their implications for both Council and its 

communities, and Council has determined a preferred option for future three 

waters service delivery. 

• request the Chief Executive Officer to seek guidance on and/or give 

feedback to the Government on the following areas of the Government’s 

proposal that Council needs more information on:  

➢ the final boundaries 

➢ protections from privatisation 

➢ plans for consultation with mana whenua and communities 

➢ how community voice will be heard within the new entities, and what 

influence local authorities will have (and what the community can 

realistically expect the council to influence particularly if it is not on the 

regional Representation Group) 

➢ representation from and on behalf of mana whenua on the reform 

proposals to date 

➢ integration with other local government reform processes 

➢ integration with spatial and local planning processes and growth 

➢ prioritisation of investment, and alignment with Council priorities 

➢ workforce and capability planning for the new entities– there are not 

enough of the right people now to deliver three waters and there is a 

need to retain our people through the transition 

➢ what a Government Bill will cover and whether the reform will be 

mandatory 

➢ conditions associated with the Government’s package of funding for 

local government   

➢ transition arrangements, including Council’s own workforce challenges 

(without transition challenges on top) and due diligence for asset 

transfers etc.  

➢ the scope of the stormwater role that the entities will play, both in 

relation to growth and development planning, development control, 

and asset management and maintenance particularly of green or 

water-sensitive assets 

➢ After reform, how the entity intends to engage with local communities, 

and the role of Council in advocacy, facilitation communication, 

response to failures (including demand management comms and 

engagement) 

➢ How Councils will be involved in holding future entities accountable for 

performance and customer service levels 
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And suggests the following changes to the Government’s 

proposal/process:  

➢ Suggest that the DIA confirms that stormwater in the context of 

land use planning, development and growth, remains with local 

authorities, and that the stormwater roles of the new entities are 

more clearly defined as network provision and maintenance to 

comply with regional plans. This includes working with flood-

protected floor levels and the like set by Councils. 

➢ Suggest that the role of the new entities in relation to stormwater 

quality is more clearly defined, to help councils understand which 

activities (such as raingarden maintenance, pond de-silting, street 

sweeping) will move to the new entities and which will stay. 

➢ Suggest that the new entities consider the interface between 

roading and stormwater, when confirming which activities will 

remain with Council, and which will move to the new entity. 

➢ Suggest the new water entities confirm that levels of service will be 

maintained or improved across the region and locally ie that 

Council levels of service will not fall under the new regime. 

➢ Suggest the DIA works with officers on understanding Council 

overhead roles and costs, including defining activities and costs 

that Council will have in future relating to advocacy, consenting, 

bylaws, land use planning. 

➢ Suggest the new water entities do not transfer any development 

contribution funds for assets that have already been built but have 

residual asset benefit. 

➢ Suggest that budgets are allocated urgently to commence work 

on systems transition. 

 

• requests that the Chief Executive Officer reports back further once she has 

received further information and guidance from Government on what the 

next steps look like and how these should be managed. 

 

1. PURPOSE 

This report updates the Council on 

• the Government’s 30 June 2021 and 15 July 2021 Three Waters Reform 

announcements which change the reform process previously outlined in 

2020 

• the specific data and modelling Council has received to date  

• the high-level implications of the revised Three Waters Reform proposal for 

Council 

• currently available service delivery options  
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• next steps (including uncertainties).   

 

 

2. SUMMARY 

2.1 Over the past four years central and local government have been 

considering the issues and opportunities facing the system for regulating and 

managing the three waters (drinking water, wastewater, and stormwater) – 

Three Waters Reform.  The background is provided in the 14-page summary 

(Attachment 1). 

2.2 Taumata Arowai became a new Crown entity in March 2021 and will 

become the dedicated water services regulator later this year.  There is an 

expectation that monitoring, compliance and enforcement of mandatory 

standards (as opposed to needs-based standards) will increase substantially 

on the status quo requirements and costs, as will the coverage and 

requirements of the standards themselves. Further information on the role and 

work of the regulator as it affects local government is provided in Attachment 

1. 

2.3 The Government has concluded that the case for change to the three waters 

service delivery system has been made. 

2.4 During June and July 2021, the Government has released further information 

and made announcements on: 

• the direction and form of Three Waters Reform, including proposed new 

Water Service Entities (four and their indicative boundaries), proposed 

governance arrangements and that the water entities remain in public 

ownership 

• individual (WICS) Council data based on the information supplied under 

the RFI process 

• a package of investment ($2.5b) for councils to invest in the future for 

local government, urban development, and the wellbeing of 

communities, ensuring no council is worse off as a result of the reforms, 

and funding support for transition 

• DIA/LGNZ (Local Government New Zealand) partnership agreement and 

an eight-week process for councils to understand the implications of the 

reform announcements, ask questions and propose solutions and for 

Government to work with councils and mana whenua on key aspects of 

the reform (including governance, integrated planning and community 

voice). 

2.5 Further information is expected over the next 2 months (including further 

specific financial information for councils and Government decisions on 

boundaries, transition and implementation arrangements). 
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2.6 The Water Service Bill will be passed into law. 

2.7 While the Government and LGNZ consider that the national case for change 

has been made, each council will ultimately need to make a decision based 

on its local context if the process to join one of the proposed entities remains 

voluntary. 

2.8 The law currently prohibits councils deciding to opt-in to the current proposal 

(given section 130 of the LGA and what we know about this option at 

present).  Current decision-making requirements, including the need to take 

account of community views and strategic nature of the assets involved, 

would also preclude Council deciding to opt-in at this time without 

consultation. 

2.9 Similar requirements apply if the Council wishes to consider alternative 

arrangements that involve asset transfers, divestment, change in ownership 

and or the setting up of a CCO (Council Controlled Organisation) to deliver 

water services in the future. 

2.10 There are a number of issues, concerns and uncertainties for the Government 

and councils to work through before a robust Council decision (and decision-

making process) can be made.  Therefore, there is no expectation that 

councils will make a decision to opt-in (or out) or commence community 

engagement or consultation over the next eight weeks. 

2.11 In the interim Local Government New Zealand, Taituarā, and DIA have 

produced guidance1 to understand the information that has been provided 

to date and enable councils to prepare for future decisions and consultation 

and engagement with communities. 

2.12 Councils can also engage in discussions with other councils in its region, 

subregion or proposed entity grouping, share information and ask questions 

and propose solutions to issues it sees to Government and LGNZ.   

2.13 Further announcements from Government are expected in late September 

early October 2021, subject to any changes in timeframe due to COVID-19. 

3. NATIONAL BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT, BASED ON LGNZ SUMMARIES 

3.1 Following the serious campylobacter outbreak in 2016 and the Government’s 

Inquiry into Havelock North Drinking Water, central and local government 

have been considering the issues and opportunities facing the system for 

regulating and managing the three waters (drinking water, wastewater, and 

stormwater).  

3.2 The focus has been on how to ensure safe drinking water, improve the 

environmental performance and transparency of wastewater and 

 

1 https://www.lgnz.co.nz/assets/Three-Waters-Guidance-for-councils-over-the-next-eight-weeks-
FINAL.pdf 

https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/briefing-three-waters-review-release-of-second-stage-evidence-base-released-june-2021.pdf
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stormwater network and deal with funding and affordability challenges, 

particularly for communities with small rating bases or high-growth areas that 

have reached their prudential borrowing limits. 

3.3 It is anticipated that monitoring, compliance and enforcement of standards 

will increase substantially on the status quo with the passing of the Water 

Services Bill and as Taumata Arowai begins to operate. It is also likely that the 

drinking water standards and their coverage (including non-Council water 

suppliers) and environmental standards will become more rigorous over time.  

This creates risks for council in meeting future standards and mana whenua 

and community aspirations (such as greater investment required than 

currently planned, and risk of enforcement action).  

3.4 For councils with non-council drinking water suppliers in their areas there is 

additional risk if they are unable to consistently provide safe drinking water to 

their consumers, including the potential for councils to have to take on the 

water supply.  Councils operating on expired consents or with consent 

renewals in the next 15 years also face uncertainty over the standards they 

will need to meet in the future and therefore the level of investment that 

needs to occur. 

3.5 For water service delivery, the Government’s stated direction of travel has 

been for publicly owned multi-regional models for (with a preference for local 

authority ownership). DIA, in partnership with the Three Waters Steering 

Committee, commissioned specialist economic, financial, regulatory and 

technical expertise to support the Three Waters Reform Programme and 

inform policy advice to ministers.  

3.6 The initial stage (Tranche 1 - MOU, Funding Agreement, Delivery Plan and RFI 

process) was an opt in, non-binding approach.  It did not require councils to 

commit to future phases of the reform programme, to transfer their assets 

and/or liabilities, or establish new water entities. The 2020 indicative reform 

programme and then anticipated next steps can be found in Attachment 2. 

3.7 Council completed the RFI process over Christmas and New Year 2020/21 

and the Government has used this information, evidence and modelling to 

make preliminary decisions on the next stages of reform. 

4. GOVERNMENT’S JUNE AND JULY 2021 ANNOUNCEMENTS AND INFORMATION 

RELEASES  

4.1 In June 2021, following the RFI process, a suite of information was released by 

Government that covered estimated potential investment requirements for 

New Zealand, scope for efficiency gains from transformation of the three 
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waters service and the potential economic (efficiency) impacts of various 

aggregation scenarios.2   

4.2 The modelling indicated a likely range for future investment requirements at a 

national level in the order of $120 billion to $185 billion.  

 

 
2 This information, including peer reviews and the Minister’s briefing can be accessed at: 

https://www.dia.govt.nz/Three-Waters-Reform-Programme and release-of-second-stage-evidence-
base-released-june-2021.   

https://www.dia.govt.nz/Three-Waters-Reform-Programme
https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/briefing-three-waters-review-release-of-second-stage-evidence-base-released-june-2021.pdf
https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/briefing-three-waters-review-release-of-second-stage-evidence-base-released-june-2021.pdf


 
 

P a g e  |    147 

IT
E
M

 1
4

 

 

4.3 It estimated efficiencies in the range of 45% over 15-30 years if the reform 

process went ahead and an additional 5,800 to 9,300 jobs and an increase in 

GDP of between $14b to $23b in (Nett Present Value) NPV terms over 30 

years.   

4.4 The efficiencies noted are underpinned by evidence across a range of 

countries based on joined up networks (the conclusion is that 600,000 to 

800,000 connections achieve scale and efficiency), greater borrowing 

capability and improved access to markets, procurement efficiencies, 

smarter asset management and strategic planning for investment, a more 

predictable pipeline and strengthened benchmarked performance, 

governance and workforce capabilities.  
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4.5 The briefing to the Minister notes that this “investment is what WICS has 

estimated is necessary for New Zealand to meet current United Kingdom 

levels of compliance with EU standards over the next 30 years, which in its 

assessment (and confirmed by Beca) are broadly comparable with 

equivalent New Zealand standards.”.  

4.6 However, this is caveated as a conservative estimate that does not take into 

account iwi goals and aspirations, higher environmental standards or 

performance standards that are anticipated in future legislation, uncertainties 

in asset lives, seismic and resilience risk, supply chain issues, and the current 

workload to manage and deliver improvements as well as address renewal 

backlogs.   

4.7 Councils could also add to the above list of uncertainties and challenges their 

business as usual workload, the workload associated with delivering on 

stimulus packages and associated with responding to other government 

reform initiatives such as reform of the Resource Management Act, and 

general workforce retention and attraction issues, which are exacerbated by 

public sector competition for talent and skills.  

4.8 The Government modelling indicated that between one and four water 

services entities would provide the most efficiencies and reduce costs to 

individual households.  

4.9 When this is added to  

• known variations across the nation in water suppliers’ compliance with 

drinking standards, including permanent and temporary boil water 

notices 

• evidence of poor health and environmental outcomes, including expired 

resource consents for wastewater treatment plants (and the need for 110 

of these plants to go through the resource consenting process in the next 

10 years) 

• stormwater overflows and other challenges 

• climate change 

• Te Tiriti obligations and the need to uphold Te Mana o te Wai  

• the size and scale of current service delivery units and workforce issues 

• the obligations and responsibilities that councils (and other water 

suppliers) will face when the Water Services Bill and associated regulations 

are enacted 

the Government has concluded that the status quo is not sustainable and 

that the case for change has been made.  

4.10 While not all councils agree that the case for change has been made, the 

sector’s own information illustrates that there is significant investment required 

over the next 10 years in Long Term Plans and out across 30 years in councils’ 

infrastructure strategies.  These plans and strategies are underpinned by 

https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/briefing-three-waters-review-release-of-second-stage-evidence-base-released-june-2021.pdf
https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/transforming-the-system-for-delivering-three-waters-services-the-case-for-change-and-summary-of-proposals-30-june-2021.pdf
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assumptions that regulatory standards will tighten and that there will be more 

monitoring and enforcement in the future. There are also implications and 

challenges for non-council supplies to meet water quality requirements, with 

the risk that these supplies might default to Council in the future under the 

current water service delivery model. 

4.11 As a result of its conclusions, the Government has decided to: 

• “establish four statutory, publicly-owned water services entities to provide 

safe, reliable and efficient water services – as follows (subject to further 

boundary discussions) 
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• enable the water services entities to own and operate three waters 

infrastructure on behalf of local authorities, including transferring 

ownership of three waters assets and access to cost-effective borrowing 

from capital markets to make the required investments  

• establish independent, competency-based boards to govern each water 

services entity 

 

• set a clear national policy direction for the three waters sector, including 

expectations relating to the contribution by water services entities to any 

new spatial / resource management planning processes 

• establish an economic regulation regime, to ensure efficient service 

delivery and to drive the achievement of efficiency gains, and consumer 

protection mechanisms 

• develop an industry transformation strategy to support and enable the 

wider three waters industry to gear up for the new water services delivery 

system.” 

(note emphasis suggested by LGNZ) 

4.12 The purpose, objectives and operating principles for the new entities as well 

as the ownership, accountability, governance structure and indicative 

boundaries for them have been proposed, as have legal mechanisms to 

prevent future privatisation.  

4.13 In summary the ownership and governance model is a bespoke model, with 

councils listed in legislation as owners, without shareholdings or financial 

interests, but an advocacy role on behalf of their communities. Iwi/Māori 

rights and interests are also recognised and representatives of local 
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government and mana whenua will sit on the Regional Representative 

Group, issue a Statement of Strategic and Performance Expectations and 

receive a Statement of Intent from the Water Services Entity.  Entities must also 

consult on their strategic direction, investment plans and prices / charges. 

4.14 The proposed safeguards against privatisation can be found on page 26 of 

the DIA’s summary of the case for change  

4.15 The DIA has produced a 14-page summary, attached as Appendix 1. In 

addition, LGNZ has produced a two-page national overview, sent to 

councillors on 6 August 2021, and reproduced in Appendix 3 for ease of 

reference.  

4.16 On 15 July, in partnership with LGNZ under a Heads of Agreement3, the 

Government announced a package of $2.5 billion to support councils to 

transition to the new water entities and to invest in community wellbeing. This 

funding is made up of: 

• a ‘better off’ element: an investment of $2 billion into the future for local 

government and community wellbeing. The investment is funded $1 billion 

from the Crown and $1 billion from the new Water Services Entities.  $500 

million will be available from 1 July 2022. The funding has been allocated 

to territorial authorities (which includes unitary authorities)4 based on a 

national formula that takes into account population, relative deprivation 

and land area.  Council’s funding allocation is $32,630,589 and the full list 

of allocations is found in Appendix 1.  The funding can be used to support 

the delivery of local wellbeing outcomes associated with climate change 

and resilience, housing and local placemaking, and there is an 

expectation that councils will engage with iwi/Māori in determining how 

to use their funding allocation. This is discussed further in Section 5. 

• a ‘no council worse off’ element: an allocation of up to around $500 

million to ensure that no local authority is in a materially worse position 

financially to continue to provide services to its community as a direct 

result of the reform.  This element is intended to ensure the financial 

sustainability of councils and address reasonable costs and financial 

impacts associated with the transfer of assets, liabilities and revenues to 

new water services entities.  Up to $250 million is available to meet the 

unavoidable costs of stranded overheads and the remainder for other 

adverse impacts on financial sustainability of territorial authorities 

(including future borrowing capacity).  Of this $250 million up to $50 million 

is allocated to Auckland, Christchurch and Wellington Water councils, the 

remainder is available to other councils.5 This funding is not available until 

 
3 https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/heads-of-

agreement-partnering-commitment-to-support-three-waters-service-delivery-reform.pdf  

4 Please note that any allocation to Greater Wellington Regional Council (the only reginal council 

affected by the proposed changes) is not clear at this stage. 

5 Due to their size and in the case of Wellington Water and Auckland’s WaterCare having already 
transferred water service responsibilities (to varying degrees)  

https://app.powerbi.com/view
https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/heads-of-agreement-partnering-commitment-to-support-three-waters-service-delivery-reform.pdf
https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/heads-of-agreement-partnering-commitment-to-support-three-waters-service-delivery-reform.pdf
https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/heads-of-agreement-partnering-commitment-to-support-three-waters-service-delivery-reform.pdf
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July 2024 and is funded by the Water Services Entities. Work to resolve DIA 

and council definition and hence identification and evaluation of 

stranded overheads will continue, and be subject to due diligence. 

4.17 The package is in addition to the $296 million announced in Budget 2021 to 

assist with the costs of transitioning to the new three waters arrangements, 

and the Government will “meet the reasonable costs associated with the 

transfer of assets, liabilities and revenue to new water services entities, 

including staff involvement in working with the establishment entities and 

transition unit, and provision for reasonable legal, accounting and audit 

costs.”6   

4.18 The Government is also encouraging councils to use accumulated cash 

reserves associated with water infrastructure for this purpose. This is not 

relevant to Palmerston North City Council as we hold no cash reserves for this 

purpose. 

Decision making by Councils 

4.19 In addition to the funding announcements, the Government has committed 

to further discussions with local government and iwi/Māori over the eight 

week timeframe on: 

• the boundaries of the Water Service Entities 

• how local authorities can continue to have influence on service 

outcomes and other issues of importance to their communities (eg 

chlorine-free water) 

• ensuring there is appropriate integration between the needs, planning 

and priorities of local authorities (representing communities) and the 

planning and priorities of the Water Service Entities 

• how to strengthen the accountability of the Water Service Entities to the 

communities that they serve, for example through a water ombudsman. 

Conditions associated with the package of funding announced also need to 

be worked through.   

4.20 As a result, the original timetable for implementing the reform (outlined in 

Attachment 2) and for councils to consult on a decision to opt-in (or not), no 

longer applies. More details about next steps are expected to be announced 

in September/October, which would include the time required for any 

community or public consultation.  

4.21 It is also important to note that the Government has not ruled out legislating 

for an “all-in” approach to reform to realise the national interest benefits of 

the reform. 

 
6 15 July 2021 FAQ https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-

programme/$file/three-waters-reform-programme-support-package-information-and-frequently-
asked-questions.pdf 
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4.22 Councils do not have a national interest test for their decision making.  

Councils are required to act in the interests of their communities and the 

community’s wellbeing (now and into the future), provide opportunities for 

Māori to contribute to their decision-making processes, ensure prudent 

stewardship and the efficient and effective use of its resources in the interests 

of the district or region (including planning effectively for the future 

management of its assets) and take a sustainable development approach.    

4.23 While the Government and LGNZ consider that a national case for change 

has been made, each council will ultimately need to make a decision based 

on its local context. 

4.24 Continuing with further analysis will be necessary if the Council is to make this 

decision and consult on opting in or out of the reform process.  

4.25 Part 6 of the LGA, sections 76 to 90, provide the requirements for decision 

making and consultation, including the principles of consultation and 

information that needs to be provided including the reasons for the proposal 

and the reasonably practicable options.   

4.26 In particular, section 76 requires that in making a significant decision, which a 

decision on the future management and or ownership of three waters assets 

will be, councils must comply with the decision-making provisions. This is a 

‘higher bar’ than the “promote compliance with” that applies for ordinary 

decisions.  Section 77 states that councils must seek to identify all reasonably 

practicable options and then assess the advantages and disadvantages of 

each option.  

4.27 Section 78 requires that in the course of making a decision a Council must 

consider community views but section 78(3) explicitly says that consideration 

of community views does not require consultation, which is reinforced by 

case law. However, Council’s significance and engagement policy defines its 

own approach to consultation. Consideration should be given as to whether 

Council seeks community views on the “better off” funding allocation, as well 

as the engagement with iwi/Maori required by the funding. 

4.28 Section 79 gives Council discretion to decide how the above Part 6 

requirements are met including the extent of analysis done etc. Therefore, 

while a decision could be challenged, a judicial review is unlikely to be 

successful unless the decision made by council was manifestly unreasonable, 

the process was flawed or the decision was beyond its powers (as given in 

law, ie the council did not act within the law). 

4.29 Importantly a decision to transfer the ownership or control of a strategic asset 

from the council (or to it) must explicitly be provided for in the council’s Long 

Term Plan (and have been consulted on specifically in its consultation 

document).  While changes to the mode of service delivery have been 

repealed, it would be safest to assume that a level of consultation with 

communities on the ownership and governance arrangements and asset 

transfers proposed is highly desirable if not required. 
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4.30 A decision at this stage to opt in to joining one of the Government’s proposed 

Water Services Entities would likely be unlawful without further information 

(expected over the next eight weeks) and legislative change; the latter due 

to the prohibition in section 130 of the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) that 

prevents councils from divesting their ownership or interest in a water service 

except to another local government organisation, such as a CCO.   

4.31 There are also provisions around losses incurred by councils without full 

compensation, including in the case of asset sales and disposals that are 

unlawful.7   

4.32 A Government Bill to progress the reforms could address the issues raised 

above, for example removing the section 130 requirements has explicitly 

been raised. 

4.33 LGNZ, Taituarā, and DIA have produced guidance8 for councils suggesting 

each should “carry out analysis to understand the potential impact of reform 

from now until 1 October to:  

• understand the key features of the proposed model and how it is 

intended to work   

• apply the proposed model to local circumstances, both today and in the 

future.   

• consider the model holistically – in terms of service, finance and funding, 

economic development and growth, workforce, delivery and capability 

and social, cultural and environmental wellbeing.” 

This work supports the decision-making requirements discussed above for a 

future council decision on participation in the Government’s proposed Water 

Services Entities. 

Early transition considerations 

4.34 In the interim the DIA continues to engage with council staff on transition 

matters on a ‘no regrets’ approach should the reform proceed. These 

discussions do not pre-empt any decisions about whether to progress the 

reforms or whether any individual council will transition.  

4.35 It is anticipated that councils will continue to deliver water services until at 

least early 2024 and council involvement in transition will be required 

throughout.   

4.36 Consideration is being given to establishing a national transition unit and local 

establishment entities mirroring the boundaries of the (proposed) Water 

Services Entities and supporting (through a reprioritisation of stimulus funding if 

 

7 See sections 43 to 47 of the LGA. 
8 https://www.lgnz.co.nz/assets/Three-Waters-Guidance-for-councils-over-the-next-eight-weeks-

FINAL.pdf 

https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/$file/three-waters-reform-programme-overview-a3-30-june-2021.pdf
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required), council staff costs related to reform and transition, enabling staff to 

participate in transition priority working groups, gathering and sharing data. 

4.37 Current considerations, in addition to funding for backfilling and / preparing 

for change, are: 

• support for three waters workers – including 

➢ if a staff member’s role is primarily three waters related, an automatic 

transfer to the new Water Services Entity in a similar role on the same 

salary at the same location with the same conditions (understood to 

be time-limited) 

➢ advice, including Employee Assistance Programmes, legal and union 

representation 

• the need to increase staffing levels to implement the infrastructure 

investment 

What isn’t clear (but will be worked through) is: 

• where the bulk of managerial and support staff (eg communications, 

financial, asset management) will be located, although the presumption 

is that they will be (at least notionally in post COVID flexible working world) 

located in the regional headquarters of the Water Services Entities 

• what the principles and any threshold would be for a staff member that 

does some three waters related work (say 50% of their time) and whether 

it would be their choice to move to the Water Services Entity and the 

implications for their employment situation. 

This is discussed more in Section 5 below. 

4.38 Issues such as contracts and contractors for Council 3 waters activities will also 

need to be worked though before any transition can take place. 

4.39 And finally, at the national level there is also a request from LGNZ as part of its 

partnership with Government for councils to provide solutions to three 

outstanding issues during the eight week period: 

• ensuring all communities have both a voice in the system and influence 

over local decisions 

• effective representation on the new water service entities’ oversight 

boards, including preventing future privatisation 

• ensuring integration between growth planning and water services 

planning. 

This is discussed further in below, and some recommendations made in 

Section 6. 
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5. COUNCIL SPECIFIC INFORMATION AND PRELIMINARY ANALYSIS 

Our dashboard 

 

The above dashboard, based on WICs analysis of our RFI data, provides a 

summary of Council’s current position without reform. This dashboard, and the 

dashboards of other councils, can be accessed on this site9. 

5.1 Palmerston North City is placed in Water Services Entity C, with the 

embedded data sheet below showing approximate boundaries and statistics 

relating to this entity, although the precise boundaries are still a matter for 

discussion. Feedback on boundaries is included below, alongside 

commentary and recommendations on other local issues or implications of 

interest for Council. 

 
9 

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOGE1OTJlYWUtZDZkNy00YWZjLTgzN2EtOTY1MzQxNGM5NzJmIi
widCI6ImY2NTljYTVjLWZjNDctNGU5Ni1iMjRkLTE0Yzk1ZGYxM2FjYiJ9 

https://www.lgnz.co.nz/assets/Three-Waters-Guidance-for-councils-over-the-next-eight-weeks-FINAL.pdf?r=eyJrIjoiOGE1OTJlYWUtZDZkNy00YWZjLTgzN2EtOTY1MzQxNGM5NzJmIiwidCI6ImY2NTljYTVjLWZjNDctNGU5Ni1iMjRkLTE0Yzk1ZGYxM2FjYiJ9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOGE1OTJlYWUtZDZkNy00YWZjLTgzN2EtOTY1MzQxNGM5NzJmIiwidCI6ImY2NTljYTVjLWZjNDctNGU5Ni1iMjRkLTE0Yzk1ZGYxM2FjYiJ9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOGE1OTJlYWUtZDZkNy00YWZjLTgzN2EtOTY1MzQxNGM5NzJmIiwidCI6ImY2NTljYTVjLWZjNDctNGU5Ni1iMjRkLTE0Yzk1ZGYxM2FjYiJ9
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5.2 Currently Council faces: 

• workforce challenges to meet the current requirements of three waters 

service delivery, Government reforms and an enlarged investment 

programme created by stimulus funding   

• delivery challenges as standards, rules and community expectations are 

evolving, the construction pipeline is large, contractor availability is 

limited, and inflationary pressures are growing, meaning costs are rising.  

5.3 In the absence of better information, the Dashboard and modelled 

information as to future investment needs is likely to be as accurate (or 

inaccurate) as any information Council can develop before October 2021 

with or without assistance from outside support. 

5.4 The following specific items are drawn to Council’s attention, in relation to 

water reform impacts and issues for Council and its citizens.  

Council asset base 

5.5 Council currently delivers three waters as a standalone entity, servicing the 

whole of Palmerston North area. Based on replacement value, the value of 

the three waters asset base is $616 million, made up of $212 million of 

wastewater assets, $187 million of water assets and $217 million of stormwater 

assets. Not all of the stormwater assets are ‘piped’ networks, as we transition 

to water-sensitive approaches like rain gardens and swales. 
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5.6 Historically, in Palmerston North there has been proactive replacement of 

water and wastewater assets, but the incidence of failures / unplanned 

replacements is still high. An independent AMMA (Asset Management 

Maturity Assessment) undertaken by Council in 2019 noted significant gaps in 

performance and condition data across our Three Waters networks. The 

AMMA’s summary of key issues noted the single most important improvement 

task for the Council was the need to complete a review of condition data 

held for critical assets across all areas and implement a prioritised programme 

of condition assessments.  

5.7 As noted in Council’s Infrastructure Strategy, prior to the 2021-2031 LTP the 

Council did not have a formal or coherent programme of asset condition 

assessment across Three Waters. At present, 99.8% of condition rating for 

water assets is assumed (based on age and expected life), as very little 

condition assessment has been carried out. Council has condition data for 

17% of its wastewater assets, and 4% of its stormwater assets.  The LTP has 

funded four condition assessment programmes for three waters assets (1813: 

City-wide Water Supply, 1716: City-wide Wastewater Facilities, 1717: City-wide 

Wastewater Pipelines, 1709: City-wide Stormwater). The scope of the asset 

condition assessment programmes above represent a starting point for the 

establishment of a coordinated and coherent programme. However, 

substantially more investment will be required in the future to expand this 

programme so that it can more fully inform the nature of risk facing the 

Council, and drive optimised investment decisions in the future. 

5.8 Over the 10 to 30-year horizon, and within the 2021-2031 LTP, renewals 

investment projections are based on assumptions of asset life, criticality and 

predicted failure rates informed by current evidence and benchmarking. 

Historical underinvestment means that many critical assets groups are 

reaching the end of their life at a similar time. In addition, some assets are 

being targeted for renewal to meet higher levels of service e.g. water tobies, 

valves and hydrants, to meet new drinking water standards.  

5.9 Council’s Three Waters maintenance budgets in the 2021-2031 LTP have been 

forecasted based on historic trends. As condition assessments are completed, 

Council will need to increase maintenance budgets if officers discover 

hitherto unknown defects that require urgent repair. The medium-term goal is 

to manage the risk of service failure by intervening where appropriate.  

5.10 The available data would suggest that there is potentially a significant 

amount of deferred renewals for Three Waters assets, but this cannot be 

confirmed until additional condition and performance data is collected. 

Overall, the extent of the gap in Council’s condition and performance data 

across our Three Waters assets mean that Council is carrying unknown risk 

relating to asset failure and impacts on levels of service to the community, 

with related associated financial risk for unexpected asset failure.  

 

 



 
 

P a g e  |    159 

IT
E
M

 1
4

 

Drinking water standards 

5.11 Taumata Arowai has been set up to enforce current drinking water standards, 

work alongside Regional Council regulators and provide national oversight on 

environmental performance of wastewater and stormwater.  Although the 

drinking water standards remain unchanged – they move from a voluntary 

basis to compulsory under Taumata Arowai.  This entity will have the power to 

place directions and compliance orders to ensure unacceptable risks are 

resolved; and be enabled to issue infringements and prosecutions for reckless 

or wilful behaviour. 

• Criminal Offences – Clauses 162 and 164 of Water Services Bill – maximum 

fines of $600,000 and a term of imprisonment of five years for an individual 

and a maximum fine of $3 million for a body corporate. S162 will create 

an offence involving recklessness in supplying unsafe drinking water, S164 

will create an offence involving recklessness in failing to take immediate 

action. 

Under the new regime, there is potential that other water suppliers in the 

Palmerston North area may request Council to take on responsibility for their 

water supplies. 

Officers have identified the following areas in our Operations that will have 

additional infrastructure implications: 

• Chlorination – Council does not currently meet proposed mandated chlorine 

contact time at Papaioea, Takaro, Roberts Line and Keith Street bores.  

Council will need to upgrade these systems to provide storage for the 

appropriate chlorine contact time.  Currently Council relies on 

monochloromines for disinfectant residual, which is an appropriate control 

under the existing rules. 

• Metering – Council had no plans or budgets to meter residential properties. 

The cost of installing, reading, maintaining and replacing meters is high. 

Officers’ view is they are not a silver bullet solution for water demand 

management.  Council’s current demand management approach has 

worked very well to date. However, they are likely to be required by Taumata 

Arowai. 

5.12 There is the possibility of technical exemptions from Taumata Arowai, which 

will be explored by officers. However, Council has not budgeted for 

compliance costs related to legal changes in water standards and 

regulations or costs of non-compliance enforcement undertakings). 

Wastewater treatment plant 

5.13 Council has been advancing the selection of a preferred Best Practicable 

Option (BPO) for wastewater management for Palmerston North since late 

2017 and has spent $3 million of operational funding to date on the options 

development, investigations and engagement process.  
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5.14 Informed by the options process Council has made provision for operational 

and capital funding to implement the BPO in its 2021-2031 LTP as follows: 

Operational funding of $5.5 million (inflation adjusted) from FY 2021/22 to 

2027/28 to secure consents for the new wastewater solution; Capital new 

funding of $390 million (inflation adjusted) from FY 2023/24 to 2026/27 to 

implement the selected wastewater treatment and discharge option; with 

provision for implementation of any solution to occur over 3 years. 

5.15 The LTP funding is provisional on the basis that the final BPO has not yet been 

selected. The most recent cost estimates for the short-list options indicates 

that the LTP provision is at the lower end of the estimated cost. The most likely 

candidates for preferred BPO have indicative costs ranging from $370 million 

to $460 million. 

5.16 The BPO consent needs to be lodged with Horizons on 30 June 2022. Timing 

therefore will not align well with the establishment and resourcing of the new 

entities. The Water Reforms offer the opportunity for taking a wider regional 

view in respect of wastewater solutions. The BPO project has consistently 

included regional considerations in its assessment of options and included it in 

the suite of assessments driving the final selection phase. Unfortunately, other 

Councils in the region are at different stages of their 

own wastewater consenting journey, diluting their ability to collaborate on a 

single regional solution prior to reform. 

5.17 Proceeding with the BPO, will be undertaken in close consultation with DIA, 

however the consent process to June 2022 will likely need to be managed 

and implemented by Council. Through the consent preparation, application 

and hearing phases, there remains scope to adapt and revise the final 

solution so that it responds to wider regional priorities and opportunities.  

DIA funding 

5.18 Section 3.6 notes Council involvement in an initial funding process, which 

secured non-binding funding of $9.34 million grant funding for Council to 

spend on improving its Three Waters assets – for work not already planned in 

the 2020/21 financial year or Year 1 of the 2021-2031 LTP.  In return, Council 

engaged fully with the RFI process by WICs for Government to gather 

information on our Three Waters assets.  

5.19 Council allocated the $9.34 million grant fund to 27 individual projects – 

including appointment of a Project Manager to deliver the programme of 

works (project 15) and funding to complete the Regional Three Waters 

Collaboration Study (project 16- now superseded).  At end of June 2021, $4.91 

million (53%) of overall funding allocation of $9.34 million has been spent, and 

74% of work against the year-to-date delivery plan has been achieved. Works 

unable to be completed are being identified for reallocation into other 

projects within the approved list.  

5.20 DIA indicated that there is potential for some movement of funds from 

projects to meet some of the costs of preparing for reform – this is being 
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considered by officers for planning future reform preparedness work, as the 

cost for Council to prepare for transition is not yet understood. 

Other asset-related considerations 

5.21 Whilst the DIA’s transition planning is at an early stage, they have signalled 

that once the local transition authorities have been established there is 

potential to hand over some assets early. To date, no consideration of this has 

occurred.  However, we have discussed the next stage of the BPO with DIA, 

to ensure they are aware of the project progress and implications of the 

consent application. 

5.22 Council will need to review all of the land use consents related to its water 

assets, including performance monitoring and reporting requirements, and 

transfer of these consents to the new entity. Some consents may relate to 

more than one land parcel, so work will need to be done to separate them. 

5.23 There may be areas of land associated with the operation of Three Waters 

assets that are surplus to the needs of the core water function that hold 

broader strategic importance to Council in the future. Where Council 

determines the land is surplus to water management needs, and that land is 

needed for another local government purpose post the Three Waters Reform, 

Council may wish to separate this land from the Water Activity.  Land access 

arrangements (easements etc) will need to be addressed prior to any 

potential transfer of ownership, should new entities be established.  Areas of 

interest include the windfarm land (where work on titles is already underway), 

the land in and around the Wastewater Treatment Plant, pump stations and 

water assets on parks reserves, and stormwater drainage reserves. The way to 

address each of these will be different, and officers will need legal advice to 

confirm their proposed thinking and methods to ensure Council remains fully 

able to manage its remaining assets without restrictions caused by asset 

overlaps with the new water entity.   

Financial implications 

5.24 The transition of water assets to a new entity will likely mean that ratepayers of 

Palmerston North will start to get a separate rates bill for Council activities, 

and water bill for water utility activities.  There will presumably be an 

expectation from the community that rates will be reduced by the same level 

of current funding that we currently identify in the rates bill, for water, 

wastewater and stormwater services.  For 2021-22 this is identified as 10.8% for 

water, 10.41% for wastewater and 3.18% for stormwater (24.39% total) 

5.25 For an average residential unit (with land value of $243k), a reduction of $694 

will be expected – i.e. $2,148 vs current $2,842.  In reality, the level of 

reduction is more likely two thirds of that (yet to be assessed),  partly because 

officers have not yet fully analysed the cost of overhead services such as 

governance, finance, HR, IT, that will remain in Council rather than be 

transferred, and hence continue to be an overhead cost of Council. In 

addition, the cost of operating alongside the water entity on elements such 
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as land use planning, development engineering, bylaw enforcement etc has 

not yet been defined or assessed. 

5.26 The WICs analysis has identified that with reform, the average annual 

household costs in 2051 across Entity C to comply with new standards (water 

supply & wastewater) are estimated to be $1,260 per annum.  Without reform, 

across entity C, the average annual household cost in 2051 has been 

assessed to be $3,730 per annum.  

5.27 For Palmerston North City Council, the new wastewater treatment plant 

required in year 4, and other three waters improvement investment would 

(without reform) be unsustainable, based on the National Audit Office review. 

In adopting the LTP, the unaffordability of the current regime has been 

highlighted (see 5.30 below).  Based on this and Council’s RFI data, WICs 

analysis for Palmerston North City has estimated that without reform the 

average cost per household (excl GST, current dollars) will increase from $494 

per annum (national assumed formula for the average 2020 household three 

waters rate) to $2,331per annum by 2031, and $3,212 per annum by 2051.   

5.28 WICs have concluded in their modelling that there is a low probability that 

Palmerston North City residents would not be better off under the reform 

proposals, and are likely to be considerably better off financially, including 

being better able to afford initiatives to respond to climate change, enhance 

seismic resilience and respond to Iwi/Maori aspirations (see notes on ‘better-

off funding). 

5.29 One of the benefits highlighted for councils under water reform is that the 

debt associated with three waters borrowing will move to the new entities, 

along with the assets. This is anticipated to increase borrowing capacity for 

the new entity. Estimated three waters debt capacity is based on Council’s 

LTP data, with Council debt capacity assuming a borrowing rate of 4x three 

waters revenue (without reform). Additional debt capacity enabled by the 

new entity assumes a borrowing rate of 8x three waters revenue (with reform), 

allowing more borrowing by the new entities to address historic 

underinvestment. 

5.30 The transfer of Council debt, and the ability for Council to borrow more for 

other investment, is offset in part by the loss of revenue from three waters 

rates, because Council borrows against rates revenue rather than asset 

value. Based on Council’s LTP (updated with recent revaluation), by June 

2024, three waters assets will make up 30% of Council’s assets, by value, and 

34% of Council’s external debt. By June 2031, three waters assets will make up 

39% of Council’s asset base but 61% of Council’s external debt.   

5.31 The forecast debt to revenue ratio exceeds Council Financial Strategy Limit 

(200%) from 2024/25. It also exceeds Local Government Funding Agency Limit 

(300% reducing to 280%) from 2025/26. Therefore, unless water reform 

progresses, Council’s ability to raise debt to fund other investment is not 

sustainable. 
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5.32 If Three Waters Assets are removed (entity ownership and delivery) from the 

Council portfolio, Council’s debt to revenue ratio is maintained within 200% 

except FY 29/30 (when it rises to 217%). Therefore, with water reform, Council 

will be able to raise debt to fund new investment. 

 

5.33 As noted above, three waters investment is predominantly funded by rates. 

Water supply and wastewater is rated at a fixed rate for those able to receive 

the service, and stormwater services are based on the general rate and land 

value. Other sources of funding are metered water supply for non-residential 

properties, trade waste direct charges, and development contributions for 

capital new work in growth areas. 

5.34 Development contributions are gathered at time of consent, and not at time 

of investment.  Council will have to resolve on a case by case basis what 

happens to development contributions gathered for works which have not 

yet been completed, or for assets which have used up part, but not all, of 

their 20 years anticipated asset benefit that the development contribution is 

based on, and whether some of this would have to be passed on to the new 
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entity.  Going forward, the whole issue of development contributions, and the 

water entity's role in future city growth has yet to be resolved. This needs to be 

addressed during transition planning. 

5.35 The implications of water reform on fees and charges and revenue policy is 

seen as not material.  

5.36 There is a potential that the new entity will have to prioritise water expenditure 

across its region, which means that initially, in some areas ratepayers may not 

see the same level of service continue, even whilst the new entity costs 

increase. 

Impacts on staff 

5.37 Sections 4.36 to 4.37 cover the early announcements that the DIA has made 

about staff impacts, including statements confirming that all three waters staff 

directly engaged in three waters work for the majority of their time will 

continue to be employed, in their current location for some time after 

transition. However, this does not include staff involved in servicing the three 

waters activity through overhead services. These ‘stranded overhead’ 

implications are discussed below. 

5.38 WICs analysis of Council RFI data identified that Council has 98 full time 

employees (FTEs) working within the three waters.  Some are easily identifiable 

– those managing and delivering three waters assets or projects, and those 

operating our water treatment plant and wastewater treatment plant. Some 

are less easily identifiable but clearly working in three waters-associated work 

– development engineers, teams maintaining our green stormwater assets like 

ponds, pest management, consent compliance staff, and staff working on 

new land use strategies, bylaws and policies associated with the three waters. 

Other teams work across the Council spectrum but have individuals assigned 

to three waters work – finance, communications, events, HR, IT, call centre 

and so forth. It’s not yet clear which work will be considered ‘core’ to the new 

entities, and which will not.  

5.39 The potential for some supporting services to be left within Council when 

three waters staff transition over is termed as ‘stranded overhead’. The 

impact of stranded overhead costs associated with support activities (such as 

Governance, HR, Finance, Plant/Equipment, and IT) and other elements such 

as insurance liability cover, is being assessed against rates income received 

for Three Waters. This is extremely complex, given the range of activities 

supporting three waters management at Council. It is already apparent that 

government perceives some activities, such as Governance, to be a 

separate function of Council rather than an overhead cost partly associated 

with three waters work. For Council, that is not the case, as briefing papers, 

committee reporting, LGOIMAs, councillor queries relating to three waters 

comprise a substantive workload.  Officers will continue to liaise with DIA to 

determine the number of staff affected.   
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5.40 The ongoing cost of Stranded Overheads will reduce any overall reduction in 

three waters component of rates OR will need to be offset as part of the ‘No 

Worse Off’ funding package from Government. At present, officers do not 

have sufficient clarity of information to confirm to Council whether any sum 

potentially allocated by Government for ‘No Worse Off’ funding is sufficient to 

cover the costs of stranded overheads.  Further due diligence by officers and 

DIA is required to assess the requirements of ‘No Worse Off’ funding 

allocation. 

5.41 There are also performance implications associated with the stranding of 

‘overhead’ staff, for example, our communications staff relationship with local 

communities via social media and the ability to galvanise action from the 

community in emergency situations.  One such situation was the burst water 

main supply to the city at the end of September 2020.  Through social media, 

the council was able to get the community to reduce consumption by some 

100,000 litres per hour less than on any other day.  This ensured the dam did 

not deplete below a level where supply would have become strained.  In 

addition, Council was able to galvanise on-the-ground drinking water 

deliveries to those homes that had no supply.  Clarity is required over whether 

the new water entity C would have emergency communications roles with 

local communities, and how it would galvanise a call to action in local 

communities or whether it would rely on local councils.  

Systems, and work to transition 

5.42 Significant amount of work will be required in any proposed entity to transition 

and migrate systems and information (from various sources and locations, 

including K-Base, Oasis files, Office 365 SharePoint files, Ozone, and manual 

records).  The impact on time and cost for the organisation is unknown, but 

likely to be substantial. Key roles are likely to require backfilling while existing 

resources navigate the transition process (similar to the RFI process).  Transition 

funding will need to be allocated to this work. 

5.43 There will also be significant work in transferring three waters information into 

suitable forms for transfer and management. Asset data systems, the asset 

data itself, monitoring systems, including consent compliance monitoring, 

metering, the Asset Management Plans, and LTP information are included in 

this analysis. Again, this activity will be specialist-resource-heavy, and key staff 

may have to have resources backfilled into their day job to allow transition to 

progress. This will also need funding, and identification of suitable resources. 

Cost of transition and how it is funded 

5.44 Funding available for the transition is identified in Section 4.16 above.  Officers 

assessment of transition costs and an associated bid for an allocation of the 

$296 million national fund available for this work is yet to be undertaken. At 

present, the roles, tasks and impacts are not well enough defined for officers 

to assess cost impacts. In the short term, as noted above, DIA has signalled 

that some of the existing DIA grant funding (tranche 1) could be re-purposed 

into early transition activities. 
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5.45 The Better Off funding allocation for Palmerston North City is set at 

$32,630,589, based on a national formulae (fixed sum) for each Council’s 

relative needs of the local community, unique challenges, and ability to pay 

(75% population, 20% deprivation index, 5% land area (excl national parks)).  

Funding of the Better Off allocation is 50% from the Crown and 50% from the 

new water services entities (ie debt funded), with one quarter of the overall 

sum being available from 1 July 2022.  The Better Off fund requires councils to 

use it to deliver local wellbeing outcomes for climate change, resilience, 

housing and local placemaking. A key principle also requires Council to 

engage with iwi/Maori in determining how it will use its funding allocation. 

5.46 As the Better Off funding allocation is derived from a national formula, officers 

cannot comment on its suitability or otherwise for Palmerston North. It is not 

intended to reflect the value of the asset base (some $616 million), as that will 

remain in public ownership. 

5.47 No Worse Off Funding Allocation is a stranded cost allocation, to be assessed 

based on our RFI data and LTP.  Officers will need to undertake due diligence 

to establish true costs, to ensure that Council is no worse off. At present, this 

work is not complete. Officers’ perspective is that this should also include the 

costs that Council will have in the future relating to advocacy, consenting, 

bylaws, land use planning and other activities shared between the two 

entities (or three entities including the Regional Council). 

Boundaries and catchments 

5.48 At this stage it is unclear how the three waters reform will be integrated with 

resource management and local government reform. Further clarity is 

required from Government regarding the relationship between the three 

reform packages as this will have a significant impact on the efficiency and 

effectiveness of implementation. It is uncertain whether the Government sees 

the proposed three waters entities taking on other functions in the future such 

as water quality and river management that are currently the responsibility of 

regional councils. The final boundaries and functions of the three waters 

entities will have a significant impact on the way in which resource 

management and local government reform is delivered. Aligning the three 

waters entities to catchments future-proofs the way in which other reform 

packages could be delivered. 

5.49 Palmerston North City is proposed to be in Entity C for three waters delivery. 

Entity C covers the east coast of the North Island, parts of the centre of the 

North Island, Wellington and the top of the South Island.  The city is also 

currently located within the Manawatū-Whanganui region for planning and 

local government purposes, which covers the central and west coast of the 

North Island. Entity C boundaries exclude Rangitikei, Whanganui and 

Ruapehu (part of our current Horizons Regional group). As a result, the 

Council’s attention will be pulled in two different directions in order to 

achieve integrated land-use and infrastructure planning, assuming the 

regional NBA boundaries (Natural and Built Environments Bill) are based on 

current regional council boundaries as opposed to communities of interest.  
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5.50 The boundaries proposed for water reform are suitable for water and 

wastewater catchments and distribution networks, due to their finite nature. 

All the stormwater catchments drain to the Manawatu River. All the current 

short list of preferred BPO options sit entirely within the Manawatu River 

catchment in respect of direct or indirect discharges. Only the largest coastal 

land area and ocean outfall options have the potential to extend into areas 

within the Rangitikei River drainage catchment (Entity B). 

5.51 The proposed water entities are not predominantly based on river 

catchments, which means it will be difficult for them to take on key functions 

of regional councils, which are largely catchment based, e.g. water quality 

and river management. If the proposed water entities were more based on 

catchments there would be flexibility in the future regarding their ability to 

take on catchment-based resource management or river management 

functions, therefore creating greater efficiencies.  When designing the three 

water entities and local government boundaries, it will be important that 

Government considers both water catchments and communities of interest.  

5.52 The Manawatū-Whanganui region stretches from Taumarunui in the north to 

Levin in the south. Within the Manawatū-Whanganui region the city has strong 

economic and social connections with Manawatū, Horowhenua and 

Tararua, but less or little connection with Rangitikei, Whanganui and Ruapehu. 

Council has been reporting economic and social indicators at a sub-regional 

level given the large disparity within the region. A recent decision of the Local 

Government Commission directed Palmerston North City Council and 

Horowhenua District Council to work together to establish ways to better 

manage communities of interest near the boundary of the two councils. 

Council already works closely with Manawatū District Council on a range of 

functions and has a strong relationship with Tararua, which will be further 

enhanced upon the completion of Te Ahu A Tūranga Manawatū Tararua 

Highway and the development of Te Āpiti as a recreational hub. 

5.53 Officers recommend that Council suggest that DIA continue to discuss the 

implications of the boundaries proposed on other local government reform 

programmes. 

5.54 The proposed boundary of Entity C does not create specific issues for 

stormwater from a land-use planning perspective. The broader issue is the 

inclusion of stormwater within the new water entities. The management of 

stormwater to accommodate new growth is inherently linked to Council’s 

land-use planning and management of the local transport network and 

reserves and open space. Key stormwater requirements such as minimum 

floor levels and the setting aside of land to accommodate stormwater are 

delivered via land-use planning that will continue to be managed by 

councils. Climate change and increased environmental performance are 

also driving significant change in the way in which stormwater is managed as 

part of new urban development. For example, low impact stormwater design 

is requiring more open space which has a close connection to the way in 

which councils manage reserves and the transport network. Given its close 

relationship to other functions of councils, the planning and management of 
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stormwater is quite different to water and wastewater, which effectively 

connects to an existing integrated network at the time of new development. 

Stronger relationships between the management of stormwater and land-use 

planning will occur if stormwater remains with councils. 

Local Government reform 

5.55 Should the review of local government result in a smaller number of local 

councils and retention of regional councils, there is likely to be a larger 

overlap between the role of local authorities and regional councils, 

particularly in terms of their connection with communities. Alongside this there 

will need to be a separate relationship with water entities covering a 

substantially different area of land. Alternative models that integrate the 

water entities and regional councils should be explored alongside the 

resource management reform in order to achieve the efficiencies sought by 

Government.  

Growth considerations under water reform 

5.56 The role of the new entity in supporting Council’s growth plans has not been 

discussed to date.  There is the possibility that in the medium-term the priorities 

of the new entity may not align with Council’s growth priorities, i.e. investment 

in three waters infrastructure will not be aligned with Council growth.   

5.57 Current practice suggests external infrastructure providers such as Waka 

Kotahi, Transpower, Powerco and Ministry of Education have found it difficult 

to understand, plan and fund infrastructure to accommodate council 

aspirations for growth at the local level. Three waters are critical infrastructure 

to inform land-use planning and enable growth. Land-use planning at all 

levels requires inputs from three waters experts. For example, land-use 

strategies, rezoning, subdivision and resource consents. To ensure the 

efficiencies being promoted by the Government are truly realised, it will be 

important that three waters staff are closely connected to Council at all 

levels. This may prove challenging given the size of the entity and the 

projected growth across Palmerston North  and across the Entity C region.  

5.58 The Government will be relying on regional spatial planning to provide 

greater clarity to external infrastructure providers about where and how 

growth is planned to occur. While spatial planning will be useful, the three 

waters entities cover large areas and will be required to be across a very 

large number of new developments. It is unclear whether Council will be 

expected to retain development engineers for three waters, similar to the 

Auckland Council/Watercare model, or whether this role would move to the 

new entities, in which case its links with strategic spatial planning could be 

lost. 

5.59 It is unclear whether the three water entities will levy development 

contributions themselves or ask local councils to do this on their behalf at the 

time of development. 
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Accountability of new Entities  

5.60 The DIA website notes that a discussion paper on an economic regulator will 

be issued later this year. The intent appears to be to drive service quality to 

the consumers, remove opportunities for excessive pricing, and provide 

transparency about the costs and performance of three waters entities. It is 

not clear how this will sit alongside the proposed governance model and 

statements of intent from regional representatives, or how it will reflect local 

levels of service and performance expectations. Its also not clear whether 

local authorities would have any role in the establishment and governance of 

such an authority, and how this may differ from the Scottish Water model 

which is governing a privately owned water entity. 

5.61 Officers anticipate that Council will be asked to respond separately to this 

discussion paper. At that time, they may wish to require more information on 

Council’s role in setting service levels, participation in governance, and 

decision making on other elements of interest such as apportioning funding 

arising from fines levied on the entities. 

Conclusions on local perspective 

5.62 The above detail in Section 5 reflects the flexible development approach 

taken to water reform to date and acknowledges that there is a lot of detail 

to be resolved through any transition process. 

5.63 At this stage it is not possible to fully test the projections  put forward by DIA for 

costs of infrastructure, costs to the ratepayers and costs of transition, as the 

standards for Aotearoa/New Zealand out to 2051 are not known, although it is 

reasonable to assume that there will be greater community and mana 

whenua expectations around environmental performance and quality, 

tougher standards to meet for water quality (drinking and receiving 

environment) and that monitoring, compliance and enforcement will be 

greater than it is now.  This affects both operational and capital expenditure 

(costs will go up), including the number of staff (or contractors) that Council 

will need to ensure its outcomes for water and community and legal 

requirements are met.    

5.64 To assess the proposed better off and no worse funding to Council, Council 

needs further information on the scope and conditions that will be associated 

with that funding, but on the face of it this funding would provide Council with 

an opportunity to address a range of issues and opportunities to improve 

community wellbeing in partnership with mana whenua and the communities 

Council serves. Council should consider whether community as well as iwi 

should be consulted on priorities for funding. 

5.65 Council staff will further develop this preliminary analysis using the LGNZ, 

Taituarā, and DIA Guidance, any further information Council receives from 

the Government, including Council specific information and advice on next 

steps, and regional discussions.  
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6. OPTIONS AVAILABLE TO COUNCIL AT THIS STAGE 

Government proposal 

6.1 While the Government’s proposal for four new Water Services Entities is the 

subject of this report, the law currently prohibits Council’s deciding to opt-in to 

the current proposal (given section 130 of the LGA and what we know about 

this option at present).  Current decision-making requirements including the 

need to take account of community views would also preclude Council 

deciding to opt-in at this time without consultation. 

6.2 Likewise, given the Government’s  

• 8-week period of engagement with mana whenua and councils  

• commitment to explore issues such as council and community influence 

of service outcomes, integration with other reform proposals, spatial and 

local planning 

• request for councils to give feedback on the proposal, identify issues and 

solutions 

and uncertainty around next steps, including whether the reform may 

become mandatory or legislative change will remove legal barriers to opting 

in, it would be premature to make a decision to opt out of the reform process.  

Such a decision would also be affected by the consultation and decision-

making requirements set out in this report, including the need to follow a 

robust process that could survive a judicial review, as well as make a final 

decision that was not manifestly unreasonable in the circumstances.   

6.3 Based on the above, and the current LTP assumptions about future funding of 

three waters infrastructure, Council should wait until it has further information 

before consulting and / or making a decision on the Government’s proposal. 

Do-nothing 

6.4 While the do-nothing option is conceptually always an option, the reality is 

that Council needs to continue to deliver its water, wastewater and 

stormwater responsibilities.  Doing nothing is therefore not a practicable 

option and is not assessed further. 

Remaining options 

6.5 This leaves the following options available to Council: Remain with the status 

quo/do nothing, move to an enhanced or modified status quo, or a region or 

lesser scale aggregated model.  

Status quo 

6.6 Based on the Request For Information (RFI), dashboard and supporting 

information provided to Council, expectations of increased regulatory 
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standards and compliance costs, future investment requirements, workforce 

capability and capacity issues, the pipeline of construction, ability to raise 

debt (due to the connection to council balance sheets) and escalating 

costs, the status quo is not sustainable in the medium to long term.  Should 

one or more non-Council water supplies default to Council this would 

exacerbate the situation, unless funding accompanied the transfer. 

Modified status quo 

6.7 A modified version of the status quo would be to reflect the new regulatory 

environment for three waters delivery (potentially using the assumptions 

underpinning the WICS modelling and the Government’s proposal and 

draft/emerging standards and compliance regimes e.g. those coming from 

Taumata Arowai).  This would require making explicit assumptions and the 

production of business cases for investment and enhanced activity and asset 

management plans.  Some assumptions about the ability of non-Council 

water supplies to meet standards and requirements would need to be made 

and the risks to Council quantified.  The costs of service provision and levels of 

service may change significantly requiring consultation and LTP amendments 

or changes for the next LTP 2024-34.  Council would need to assess its ability to 

do this in the current operating environment (delivering business as usual, 

stimulus projects, other Government reform workloads, consultant availability 

etc).   

6.8 Given the Government has rejected this as a sustainable solution for three 

waters service delivery there should not be an expectation that the 

Government would be willing to financially support councils to meet the new 

regulations beyond existing DIA Tranche 1 stimulus funding. 

Voluntary regional / subregional / multi regional aggregation 

6.9 There are some examples of this and studies that have been completed to 

illustrate how this could work, including various models in operation through 

WaterCare, Wellington Water, Hawkes Bay shared services proposal, and 

Canterbury/Ngāi Tahu arrangements.  Councils within the Manawatu-

Whanganui Region also undertook some early information gathering to assess 

regional aggregation of service delivery. 

6.10 If a new CCO is to be set up this will require council(s) to use the Special 

Consultative Procedure (section 83 of the LGA) and arrangements (and a 

policy) for the appointment of directors or trustees to be made as well as 

transition arrangements (including workforce transition), prioritisation of 

investment and integration with planning at the regional and local level.  This 

option would enable assets to be transferred.  A statement of intent would be 

prepared by the CCO (and it would be best practice for councils to prepare 

a statement of expectation to guide this) and half yearly and annual reports 

would be prepared.  Councils would need to monitor the performance of the 

CCO.  
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6.11 If the CCO already exists, consultation would still be required to transfer 

control or ownership of councils’ three waters strategic assets (unless it is 

explicitly allowed for in an adopted LTP). 

6.12 The entity and councils would need to be satisfied that the changing 

regulatory environment was adequately provided for, including ensuring 

there was sufficient funding to meet legal and regulatory obligations. 

6.13 This option is still constrained in its ability to raise debt as the connection to 

council balance sheets remains and the available funding models.  The 

Government has explicitly stated that it considers this option to be less 

optimal than its own proposal, so there should not be an expectation that the 

Government would be willing to financially support councils to transition to 

this model or change the law to enable different funding settings.  

6.14 Consideration would need to be given to governance arrangements, 

including the involvement of iwi/Māori in both decision making and 

governance, and how council, community and mana whenua aspirations 

and needs will be met.   

6.15 Councils would need to adequately resource the process to agree and set 

up the new/amended structure as well as the delivery of the services to be 

provided. 

6.16 At this stage no decision is required on future delivery arrangements.  It is 

recommended that the Council notes the options canvassed in this report 

and the high-level analysis of them. 

7. INFORMATION THAT THE COUNCIL REQUIRES OR POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS TO 

OUTSTANDING ISSUES THAT IT WOULD LIKE TO CONVEY TO GOVERNMENT AND 

LGNZ 

7.1 There are still several issues that need to be resolved, including: 

• the final boundaries 

• protections from privatisation 

• plans for consultation with mana whenua and communities 

• how community voice  will be heard within the new entities,  and what 

influence local authorities will have (and what the community can 

realistically expect the council to influence particularly if it is not on the 

regional Representation Group) 

• representation from and on behalf of mana whenua on the reform 

proposals to date 

• integration with other local government reform processes 
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• integration with spatial and local planning processes and growth 

• prioritisation of investment, and alignment with Council priorities 

• workforce and capability planning for the new entities– there are not 

enough of the right people now to deliver three waters and there is a 

need to retain our people through the transition 

• what a Government Bill will cover and whether the reform will be 

mandatory 

• conditions associated with the Government’s package of funding for 

local government   

• transition arrangements, including Council’s own workforce challenges 

(without transition challenges on top) and due diligence for asset 

transfers etc.  

• the scope of the stormwater role that the entities will play, both in 

relation to growth and development planning, development control, 

and asset management and maintenance particularly of green or 

water-sensitive assets 

• After reform, how the entity intends to engage with local communities, 

and the role of Council in advocacy, facilitation communication, 

response to failures (including demand management comms and 

engagement) 

• How Councils will be involved in holding future entities accountable for 

performance and customer service levels 

Council is invited to discuss whether there are other specific information 

needs, or issues that the Council would like officers to convey to the DIA or 

LGNZ.  

7.2 A number of suggestions have been made by officers, for consideration by 

Council in its feedback, to change the proposals put forward by 

Government, in consideration of how Council can influence outcomes for its 

citizens, how Council priorities and those of the water entities can be aligned, 

and how the new entities will be held to account when managing the assets 

of the people of Palmerston North. Officers 

• Suggests that the DIA confirms that stormwater in the context of land 

use planning, development and growth, remains with local authorities, 

and that the stormwater roles of the new entities are more clearly 

defined as network provision and maintenance to comply with 

regional plans. This includes working with flood-protected floor levels 

and the like set by Councils. 

• Suggest that the role of the new entities in relation to stormwater 

quality is more clearly defined, to help councils understand which 



 
 

P a g e  |    174 

IT
E
M

 1
4

 

activities (such as raingarden maintenance, pond de-silting, street 

sweeping) will move to the new entities and which will stay. 

• Suggest that the new entities consider the interface between roading 

and stormwater, when confirming which activities will remain with 

Council, and which will move to the new entity. 

• Suggest the new water entities confirm that levels of service will be 

maintained or improved across the region and locally ie that Council 

levels of service will not fall under the new regime. 

• Suggest the DIA works with Officers on understanding Council 

overhead roles and costs, including defining activities and costs that 

Council will have in future relating to advocacy, consenting, bylaws, 

land use planning. 

• Suggest the new water entities do not transfer any development 

contribution funds for assets that have already been built but have 

residual asset benefit. 

• Suggest that budgets are allocated urgently to commence work on 

systems transition. 

8. CONCLUSION 

8.1 While there is uncertainty about the future steps in the Government’s reform 

proposal, and current legislative impediments to it, the current eight-week 

period gives Council the opportunity to understand the information it has 

received (and will continue to receive) from the RFI and modelling processes.   

8.2 It also provides an opportunity for Council to understand its potential options, 

including the financial, workforce and sustainability impacts for Council and 

the wider economic, social and cultural implications of each option, using the 

guidance that has been issued. It also provides an opportunity to engage in 

discussions with other councils in its entity grouping, share information and ask 

questions and propose solutions to issues it sees to Government and LGNZ.   

8.3 All of this information will be useful to inform future decision making by both 

council and Government and consultation and engagement with mana 

whenua and communities. 

9. DECISION MAKING COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS 

To be completed on basis that no decisions recommended. 
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10. COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special 

Consultative procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? Yes 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 4: An Eco City 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in Waters 

Contribution to 

strategic 

direction and to 

social, 

economic, 

environmental 

and cultural well-

being 

Management and delivery of three waters to the community 

contributes to all domains of wellbeing, and as such, it is of 

critical importance that the Council engages in the feedback 

process. 
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Three Waters Guidance for councils over the next eight weeks       

 

Context 
The Government has recently announced an integrated and extensive package of reform proposals 
together with a comprehensive financial support package.  These announcements build on an 
intensive 12-month period of policy, commercial, legal and analytical work that has been 
progressed through a constructive partnership-based approach with the local government sector, 
under the oversight of a joint central-local government steering committee.  Throughout this 
period the government has also undertaken multiple periods of engagement with local 
government and iwi/Māori.  

The sector, through LGNZ’s National Council, Taituarā and the Joint Steering Committee, have 
been working with the Government on their preferred model to ensure the Government’s policy 
proposal worked within the broader local government “operating” system.  We have shared the 
sector’s concerns with DIA and challenged and tested policy as it’s been developed.  This has 
significantly influenced the shape of the reform.  We are confident that there is a sufficient and 
evidence-based national case for change, including that the current approach to three waters 
service delivery is not capable of delivering the outcomes required in an affordable and sustainable 
way into the future. 

What’s the Government’s proposing? 

The Government is proposing four new, large water service delivery entities.  Their scale and 
balance sheet separation from councils means they will be able to borrow enough to fund the 
investment needed, a position that has been thoroughly tested with ratings agency Standard & 
Poors.  The scale is also important to build and develop capability and capacity in the water 
services industry, as well as creating operating efficiencies and for effective quality and economic 
regulation.  Without the new WSEs, councils will be directly responsible for all quality and 
economic regulatory obligations. 

To support the sector through this massive change, LGNZ and the Crown (through DIA) jointly 
developed a national-level package to wrap around the reform proposals that addresses the 
sector’s concerns and supports our communities now and into the future.  The package is detailed 
in a Heads of Agreement, signed in July, between LGNZ and the Government. 

A summary of the proposed reform and support package can be found in Appendix 1.  Appendix 2 
provides an overview of the resources available to local authorities seeking further detail around 
the case for change and the decisions taken to date. 

The Government and LGNZ have recommitted to working in partnership with the local government 
sector not just on these reforms, but on other challenges and opportunities.  This is reflected in a 
joint central/local government statement released by the Government and LGNZ and underpinned 
by the Heads of Agreement.  

Through the Heads of Agreement, the Government and LGNZ have agreed that local authorities 
will be provided a reasonable period from the end of the LGNZ conference through to 1 October to 
consider the impact of the reforms (including the financial support package) on them and their 
communities and an opportunity to provide feedback.  The agreement and support package signal 
the Government’s confidence in local government as a critical partner, both in this reform and in 
the future.  We have heard strongly that Ministers want to work in partnership with our sector.  
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They have committed to doing so and LGNZ has made the same commitments.  That is how we can 
be most effective and influential going forward. 

No formal decisions are required between now and 1 October, but we are seeking feedback on the 
potential impacts of the proposed reform and how it could be improved. 

The purpose of the next eight weeks 
The purpose of this period is to provide time for all local authorities to: 

• engage with and understand the large amount of information that has been released on 
the nature of the challenges facing the sector, the case for change, and the proposed 
package of reforms, including the recently announced support package; 

• take advantage of the range of engagement opportunities to fully understand the 
proposal and how it affects your local authority and your community; and 

• identify issues of local concern and provide feedback to LGNZ on what these are and 
suggestions for how the proposal could be strengthened. 

You are not expected to make any formal decisions regarding the reform through this period.  This 
is an opportunity for the sector to engage with – and provide feedback on – local impacts and 
possible variations to the proposed reform package outlined by the Government. 

This engagement period does not trigger the need for formal consultation. 

We would encourage local authorities to share your feedback with us as it arises over this period – 
that way we can share insights and ideas on common issues across the sector and help each other 
benefit from each other’s work. 

Who’s doing what over the next eight weeks 

Over the next eight weeks: 

• DIA and the Steering Group will continue to work on policy development so they can 
refine and enhance the model based on feedback from the sector. 

• LGNZ and Taituarā will continue to support councils to understand their individual council 
data and the potential impacts the proposal will have on them and their communities. 

• LGNZ will also facilitate workshops and council meetings to gather your feedback and 
provide clear guidance and ideas to DIA, the Steering Group and the Minister on the 
remaining unresolved areas of concern. 

• The Steering Committee will maintain a role in informing ongoing policy issues, informing 
the implementation of the reform package, and providing oversight of and input into the 
transition processes. 

• Councils can use this time to work through the proposal and information provided by DIA, 
including to test the ‘no worse off’/’better off’ proposition underpinning the financial 
support package.  
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Engagement with iwi/Māori 

Over the next eight weeks, the Government will continue to lead engagement with iwi/Māori over 
the reform programme.  You should be aware of this occurring but not let it stop you from 
maintaining your own constructive relationships.  You should also be aware that as part of the 
Heads of Agreement and the funding allocation attached, it is proposed that to recognise the role 
that iwi/Māori will play in the new delivery system as partners, local authorities will be expected to 
engage with iwi/Māori in determining how it will use its funding allocation. 

What happens next - decision making and consultation 

Following the engagement period, the Government will consider the feedback and suggestions 
provided by local authorities, in partnership with the joint steering committee.  It will also consider 
the next steps, including the transition and implementation pathway, and revised timing for 
decision-making, which could accommodate the time required for any community or public 
consultation. 

The Government will not be taking further decisions until after this engagement period. 

Engagement on boundaries 

The Government is keen to engage with those most affected by boundary issues, with discussions 
already underway.  This engagement will be ongoing and is not limited to the eight week period. 

What councils need to do over the next eight weeks 
This is an opportunity for the sector to engage with the model and the proposal, at the national 
level and very specifically as it relates to your district/city.  In this period Chief Executives should 
provide advice, for noting, to their council on the implications for the district/city.  (Taituarā will 
develop a report format for chief executives to use).  A decision on the advice, apart from noting, is 
not required, but the advice could form the basis of consultation with the community at a later 
date if required. 

We would encourage councils to share your feedback with us as it arises over this period – that 
way we can share insights and ideas on common issues across the sector and help each other to 
benefit from each other’s work. 

Local authorities are encouraged to review and consider the reform package and its implications 
for the communities they serve. 

From now till 1 October, councils should carry out analysis to understand the potential impact of 
the reform by taking these steps: 

1. Understand the key features of the proposed model and how it is intended to work (LGNZ 
will provide resources to help with this – see below). 

2. Apply the proposed model to your circumstances (consider impacts on your community) 
for today and for the future (we would propose a 30 year horizon). 
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3. Consider the model holistically – in terms of service, finance and funding, workforce, 
delivery and capability and social, cultural, environmental and economic well-being.  LGNZ 
can help with this analysis. 

4. Using the Taituarā pro forma report framework, chief executives should report the 
outcome of this analysis as advice to their councils, for noting.  The pro forma report will 
specify all the parameters to be covered.  Please provide a copy of the advice to LGNZ. 

Local authorities are encouraged to consider the impacts of the proposed reform holistically, in 
terms of service outcomes, economic development and growth, finance and funding, workforce 
capability and social, community and economic well-being.  The diagram below provides a helpful 
framework for thinking through these impacts.  LGNZ can help with this analysis. 

 

Local authorities are also encouraged to provide feedback or participate in targeted workshops to 
develop solutions on outstanding issues identified by LGNZ and the Government. 

As part of the agreement between LGNZ and the Government, we are also looking for feedback on 
and solution refinements for issues that councils have raised that aren’t fully resolved and on 
which the Government has said there is room for flexibility to come up with solutions that meet 
local needs: 

1. Ensuring all communities have both a voice in the system and influence over local 
decisions.  This includes assurance that water service entities will understand and respond 
appropriately to communities’ needs and wants, including responding to localised 
concerns. 

2. Effective representation on the new water service entities’ oversight boards so that there 
is strong strategic guidance from, and accountability to, the communities they serve, 
including iwi/mana whenua participation.  This also covers effective assurance that 
entities, which will remain in public ownership, cannot be privatised in future. 
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3. Making sure councils’ plans for growth, as reflected in spatial plans, district plans or LTPs, 
are appropriately integrated with water services planning.  This includes that planning and 
delivery of water infrastructure investment is integrated with transport and other related 
infrastructure. 

You can either provide potential solutions and refinement ideas in writing to us or participate in 
targeted workshops.  If you would like to be part of a workshop, please email feedback@lgnz.co.nz. 
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Appendix 1: Summary of reform proposal and support 
package 
 

Government reform package 

The Government has decided, based on the substantial work undertaken over the past year in 
partnership with the sector, to pursue an integrated and extensive package of reform to the 
current system for delivering three waters services and infrastructure.  The package comprises the 
following core components: 

• establish four statutory, publicly-owned water services entities to provide safe, reliable 
and efficient water services; 

• enable the water services entities to own and operate three waters infrastructure on 
behalf of local authorities, including transferring ownership of three waters assets and 
access to cost-effective borrowing from capital markets to make the required 
investments; 

• establish independent, competency-based boards to govern each water services entity; 

• introduce mechanisms that protect and promote the rights and interests of iwi/Māori in 
the new three waters service delivery system; 

• introduce a series of safeguards against future privatisation of the water services entities; 

• set a clear national policy direction for the three waters sector, including expectations 
relating to the contribution by water services entities to any new spatial / resource 
management planning processes; 

• establish an economic regulation regime, to ensure efficient service delivery and to drive 
the achievement of efficiency gains, and consumer protection mechanisms; and 

• develop an industry transformation strategy to support and enable the wider three waters 
industry to gear up for the new water services delivery system. 

Financial support package  

The Government has developed, in close partnership with Local Government New Zealand, a 
package of $2.5 billion to support the sector through the transition to the new water services 
delivery system, and to position the sector for the future.  There are two broad components to this 
support package: 

• $2 billion of funding to invest in the future of local government and community well-being, 
while also meeting priorities for government investment (the “better off” component). 

• $500 million to ensure that no local authority is financially worse off as a direct result of 
the reform (the “no worse off” component). 
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The better off component of the support package, which comprises $1 billion Crown funding and 
$1 billion from the new water services entities, is allocated to territorial authorities on the basis of 
a nationally consistent formula that takes into account population, relative deprivation and land 
area.  This formula recognises the relative needs of local communities, the unique challenges 
facing local authorities in meeting those needs, and differences across the country in the ability to 
pay for those needs. 

Territorial authorities will be required to demonstrate that the use of this funding supports the 
three waters service delivery reform objectives and other local well-being outcomes and aligns 
with the priorities of central and local government, through meeting some or all of the following 
criteria: 

• supporting communities to transition to a sustainable and low-emissions economy, 
including by building resilience to climate change and natural hazards; and 

• delivery of infrastructure and/or services that: 

o enable housing development and growth, with a focus on brownfield and infill 
development opportunities where those are available; and 

o support local place-making and improvements in community well-being. 

The no worse off component of the support package is intended to address the costs and financial 
impacts on territorial authorities directly as a result of the three waters reform programme and 
associated transfer of assets, liabilities and revenues to new water services entities.  It includes an 
up to $250 million allocation to support councils to meet unavoidable costs of stranded overheads, 
based on: 

• $150 million allocated to councils (excluding Auckland, Christchurch and councils involved 
in Wellington Water) based on a per capita rate that is adjusted recognising that smaller 
councils face disproportionately greater potential stranded costs than larger councils; 

• Up to $50 million allocated to the Auckland, Christchurch and Wellington Water councils 
excluded above based on a detailed assessment of two years of reasonable and 
unavoidable stranded costs directly resulting from the Water Transfer, as the nationally-
consistent formula is likely to overstate the stranded costs for these councils due to their 
significantly greater scale and population.  Stranded costs should be lower with respect to 
Watercare and Wellington Water as these Council Controlled Organisations have already 
undertaken a transfer of water services responsibilities, albeit to varying degrees; and 

• Up to $50 million able to be allocated to councils that have demonstrable, unavoidable 
and materially greater stranded costs than provided for by the per capita rate (the process 
for determining this will be developed by the Department of Internal Affairs working 
closely with Local Government New Zealand). 

The remainder of the no worse off component will be used to address adverse impacts on the 
financial sustainability of territorial authorities.  This will require a due diligence process that will 
need to be worked through in the coming months. 

In addition to the support package, the Government expects to meet the reasonable costs 
associated with the transfer of assets, liabilities and revenue to new water services entities, 
including staff involvement in working with the establishment entities and transition unit, and 
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provision for reasonable legal, accounting and audit costs.  There is an allocation for these costs 
within the $296 million tagged contingency announced as part of the 2021 Budget Package for 
transition and implementation activities.  This allocation is additional to the $2.5 billion support 
package. 

The Department of Internal Affairs is continuing to work with Local Government New Zealand and 
Taituarā, including through the joint Steering Committee process, to develop the process for 
accessing the various components of the support package outlined above, including conditions 
that would be attached to any funding.  More information and guidance will be made available in 
the coming months. 

Better off funding allocation 

Council Allocation 

Auckland $ 508,567,550 

Ashburton $ 16,759,091 

Buller $ 14,009,497 

Carterton $ 6,797,415 

Central Hawke's Bay $ 11,339,488 

Central Otago $ 12,835,059 

Chatham Islands $ 8,821,612 

Christchurch $ 122,422,394 

Clutha $ 13,091,148 

Dunedin $ 46,171,585 

Far North $ 35,175,304 

Gisborne $ 28,829,538 

Gore $ 9,153,141 

Grey $ 11,939,228 

Hamilton $ 58,605,366 

Hastings $ 34,885,508 

Hauraki $ 15,124,992 

Horowhenua $ 19,945,132 

Hurunui $ 10,682,254 

Invercargill $ 23,112,322 
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Kaikoura $ 6,210,668 

Kaipara $ 16,141,395 

Kapiti Coast $ 21,051,824 

Kawerau $ 17,270,505 

Lower Hutt $ 38,718,543 

Mackenzie $ 6,195,404 

Manawatu $ 15,054,610 

Marlborough $ 23,038,482 

Masterton $ 15,528,465 

Matamata-Piako $ 17,271,819 

Napier $ 25,823,785 

Nelson $ 20,715,034 

New Plymouth $ 31,586,541 

Opotiki $ 18,715,493 

Otorohanga $ 10,647,671 

Palmerston North $ 32,630,589 

Porirua $ 25,048,405 

Queenstown Lakes $ 16,125,708 

Rangitikei $ 13,317,834 

Rotorua Lakes $ 32,193,519 

Ruapehu $ 16,463,190 

Selwyn $ 22,353,728 

South Taranaki $ 18,196,605 

South Waikato $ 18,564,602 

South Wairarapa $ 7,501,228 

Southland $ 19,212,526 

Stratford $ 10,269,524 

Tararua $ 15,185,454 
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Tasman $ 22,542,967 

Taupo $ 19,736,070 

Tauranga $ 48,405,014 

Thames-Coromandel $ 16,196,086 

Timaru $ 19,899,379 

Upper Hutt $ 18,054,621 

Waikato $ 31,531,126 

Waimakariri $ 22,178,799 

Waimate $ 9,680,575 

Waipa $ 20,975,278 

Wairoa $ 18,624,910 

Waitaki $ 14,837,062 

Waitomo $ 14,181,798 

Wellington $ 66,820,722 

Western Bay of Plenty $ 21,377,135 

Westland $ 11,150,183 

Whakatane $ 22,657,555 

Whanganui $ 23,921,616 

Whangarei $ 37,928,327 

 

 

  



 

P a g e  |    187 

IT
E
M

 1
4

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  
 

Three Waters Guidance for councils over the next eight weeks       

 

Appendix 2: Three Waters Reform Programme key 
resources 
The table below summarises the key resources that have been published in relation to the 
Government’s recent announcements around the proposed three waters service delivery reform 
and financial support package. 

Further information is available at the three waters reform programme webpage at: 

https://www.dia.govt.nz/Three-Waters-Reform-Programme  

 

Title Description  

Cabinet papers and decisions 

Cabinet paper one and minute – A new 
system for three waters service delivery 

Paper summarising the case for change 
and seeking Cabinet agreement to the 
overall reform package. 

Cabinet paper two and minute – Designing 
the new three waters service delivery 
entities  

Paper seeking Cabinet agreement to the 
proposed structure of water services 
entities, associated oversight, governance 
and ownership arrangements and 
mechanisms that provide for communities 
and consumers to have a voice within the 
new structure. 

Cabinet paper three and minute – 
Protecting and promoting iwi/Māori rights 
and interests 

Paper summarising iwi/Māori rights and 
interests in the three waters service 
delivery reforms, and seeking agreement 
to a number of specific mechanisms for 
protecting and promoting rights and 
interests in the new service delivery 
model. 

Summary of case for change and reform proposal 

Transforming the system for delivering 
three waters services - the case for change 
and summary of proposals 

An overview of the case for change and 
the Government’s proposed package of 
reform. 

A3 Overview of the Three Waters Reform 
Programme 

A3 summarising the case for change, 
proposed new delivery system. 

Financial support package information and 
FAQs 

Overview of the financial support package, 
allocations and responses to frequently 
asked questions. 
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Title Description  

Models, tools and dashboards 

Local Dashboard  Dashboard of the potential impacts on 
local authorities with and without reform. 

Simplified financial models Simplified versions of the financial models 
the Water Industry Commission for 
Scotland used in its analysis of the 
potential economic benefits of three 
waters reform. These models demonstrate 
the approach taken to calculate average 
household costs for each council and 
amalgamated entity. There are also slide 
packs setting out sensitivity analysis for 
each council and amalgamated entity to 
test the sensitivity of the modelling to key 
assumptions, including assumptions 
around levels of efficiency and future 
investment need. 

Water Service Entities overview A short overview of the estimated position 
of the Water Service Entities following 
reform. 

Evidence base 

Regulatory Impact Assessment – Decision 
on the reform of three waters service 
delivery arrangements  

Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) 
developed by the Department of Internal 
Affairs to inform the decision on whether 
and how to improve the system for 
delivering three waters services. 
Developed in two parts: 

• a strategic RIA assessing the 
rationale for reform; and 

• six detailed RIA chapters assessing 
each of the core design choices 
that make up the package of 
policy proposals. 

Industry Development Study and Economic 
Impact Assessment (Deloitte) 

Summary A3 

Full report 

Analysis of the potential economic impact 
of the proposed reform package, and the 
opportunities and risks for industries 
affected by reform. 
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Title Description  

Economic analysis of water services 
aggregation (Water Industry Commission 
for Scotland): 

Final report 

Supporting material part 1 - required 
investment 

Supporting material part 2 – scope for 
efficiency 

Supporting material part 3 – costs and 
benefits of reform 

Supporting material part 4 – modelling the 
effect of ranges for key parameters for 
Auckland Council 

Supporting material part 5 – Council 
outcomes under amalgamation 

Second phase of analysis that builds on 
earlier work by making use of more up-to-
date information collected through the 
Request for Information process and by 
making allowance for population growth 
and council-reported rates of connection. 
The analysis is done in three parts: 

• Estimated investment 
requirement for New Zealand’s 
three waters infrastructure to 
meet quality standards; 

• Scope for efficiency gains from 
transformation of the three 
waters service delivery system, 
including those associated with 
scale; and 

• The potential economic 
(efficiency) impacts of various 
aggregation scenarios. 

Review of methodology and assumptions 
underpinning economic analysis of 
aggregation (Farrierswier)  

Farrierswier, a regulatory economics 
consultancy in Victoria, Australia with deep 
understanding of the water services 
industry, reviewed the methodology and 
underpinning assumptions applied by the 
Water Industry Commission for Scotland in 
its analysis of the potential benefits of 
reform and the extent to which this is 
reasonable to inform policy advice. 

Review of assumptions between Scotland 
and New Zealand Three Waters Systems 
(Beca) 

Beca reviewed the standards and practices 
in the United Kingdom three waters 
industry and the relevance to New Zealand 
given WICS has used United Kingdom data 
and benchmarks as part of its analysis. 
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Estimated cost for upgrading networked drinking water 
treatment plants to meet drinking water standards, with 
an additional annual operating cost of $11-$21 million.

A more recent 
analysis highlights 
the extent of the 
reinvestment 
challenge and the 
“renewals gap”.

Over the past three years central and local government have been considering 
solutions to challenges facing the regulation and delivery of three waters 
services. This has seen the development of new legislation and the creation of 
Taumata Arowai, the new water services regulator.

Both central and local government acknowledge that there are broader 
challenges facing the delivery of water services and infrastructure, and the 
communities that fund and rely on these services. There has been regulatory 
failure, underinvestment in three waters infrastructure in parts of the country, 
and persistent a�ordability challenges.  

Iwi/Māori also have a significant interest in te mana o te wai. Both central and 
local government acknowledge the importance of rights and interests under the 
Treaty of Waitangi and the role of the Treaty partners in progressing these issues. 

Additional investment is required to increase public confidence in the safety of 
drinking water, and to improve environmental outcomes. The reform of three 
waters services will also support increased sustainability and resilience of 
communities to natural hazards and climate change.

�����������������������������

Government funding

Jobs protected or 
created

GDP increase

(direct)

(direct, indirect, induced)

(direct)

(direct, indirect, induced)

1.   BACKGROUND 3.   OBJECTIVES 4.   KEY FEATURES

6.   PROPOSED PROCESS 7.   FUNDING AND IMPACT

2.   CHALLENGES

       Significantly 
improving safety and 
quality of drinking 
water services, and 
the environmental 
performance of 
wastewater and 
stormwater systems.

       Ensuring all New 
Zealanders have 
equitable access to 
a�ordable three  
waters services.

       Improving resource 
coordination and 
unlocking strategic 
opportunities to consider 
national infrastructure 
needs at a larger scale.

       Increasing resilience 
of three waters service 
provision to both short- 
and long-term risks and 
events, particularly 
climate change and 
natural hazards.

Design features of the 
proposed reform 
programme should 
examine, as a 
minimum:

First tranche funding provided as 
a grant to Councils who opt-in to 
participate in the reform process.

Allocation is based on a simple 
formula applied on a nationally 
consistent basis. 

Future additional funding will be 
subject to Government 
decision-making and reliant on 
progress against the reform objectives. 

•   Stimulate investment, to 
assist economic recovery 
through job creation, and 
maintain investment in 
water infrastructure 
renewals and maintenance.

•   Reform current water 
service delivery into larger 
scale providers, to realise 
significant economic, 
public health, 
environmental, and other 
benefits over the medium- 
to long-term. 

•   Three phases of reform 
with three tranches of 
investment proposed (as 
set out above). The first 
phase of the programme 
includes a Memorandum 
of Understanding 
between central and 
local government to 
progress the reform in 
partnership. Reform will 
be guided by a joint 
Steering Committee at 
key stages.

•   Non-binding MOU 
between each Council 
and Government.

•   Does not commit 
Councils to reforming 
water services or 
transferring assets.

•   Enables Councils to 
access funding for 
three waters through 
an associated Funding 
Agreement and 
Delivery Plan. 

Quantifying the precise infrastructure gap remains 
challenging. The O�ice of the Auditor General (OAG) 
has raised concerns about relevant and reliable 
information about assets remaining a challenge.

THE EXISTING 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
DEFICIT

UNGRADED 
ASSETS

While unquantified in New Zealand due to limited asset quality data, experience 
from places like Scotland that have undertaken significant water services reforms 
indicates the bulk of asset replacement value (potentially up to 80%) and the 
accumulated infrastructure deficit likely lies in renewal of pipes rather than 
treatment plants.

Forecast average renewals as proportion of 
forecast average depreciation for:

Across our 
water networks

RENEWAL 
GAPS

FURTHER RESEARCH COMMISSIONED BY DIA FOUND:

An opt-in reform and 
funding programme to:

Progressed in 
phases:

Memorandum of 
understanding:

ALLOCATION OF FUNDING

INDICATIVE ALLOCATION 
SUBJECT TO CONFIRMATION

45%Potable &
wastewater

52%Stormwater 
categorised as upgraded

82%Water supply

67%Wastewater

52%Stormwater

$309-$574 
million

Estimated cost for upgrading wastewater treatment 
systems that discharge to coastal and freshwater bodies 
to meet national minimum discharge standards, with an 
annualised operating cost of $126-$193 million.

$3-$4 
billion

        Water service delivery entities that are: 
–  of significant scale (most likely 

multi-regional) to enable benefits from 
aggregation to be achieved over the 
medium- to long-term;

–  asset-owning entities with balance sheet 
separation, to support improved access 
to capital, alternative funding 
instruments and improved balance sheet 
strength; and

–  structured as statutory entities with 
appropriate and relevant commercial 
disciplines and competency-based boards.

      Delivery of drinking water and 
wastewater services as a priority, 
with the ability to extend to 
stormwater service provision only 
where e�ective and e�icient to do so.

      Publicly owned entities, with a 
preference for collective council 
ownership.

      Mechanisms for enabling iwi
/Maori and communities to provide 
input in relation to the new entities.

D

C

BAA C        Moving three waters 
services to a financially 
sustainable footing, and 
addressing the a�ordability 
and capability challenges 
faced by small suppliers and 
councils.

       Improving transparency 
and accountability in cost 
and delivery of three waters 
services, including the ability 
to benchmark performance  
of service providers.

E

F
D

B

Indicative 
funding 

allocation by 
Council type

50%
37%

13%

LEGEND
Metropolitan Councils (50%)
Provincial Councils (37%)
Rural Councils (13%)

$761 million

2,288 jobs

7,230 jobs

$236 million

$800 million

A proposal to transform the delivery of three waters services

5.   INDICATIVE REFORM PATHWAY

YEAR 1: 1 JUL 2020 – 30 JUN 2021

TRANCHE 1 TRANCHE 2 TRANCHE 3

YEAR 2: 1 JUL 2021 – 30 JUN 2022 YEAR 3: 1 JUL 2022 – 30 JUN 2023

Council 
agreement to 
MOU triggers 
tranche #1 of 
stimulus release

Engage with 
iwi/Māori to 

establish interests 
in reform 

programme

Councils work with 
stakeholders and 
iwi to consider 
multi-region 
groupings 

Councils opt-in to 
multi-regional groupings and 
undertake pre-establishment 
planning. Triggers possible 
further stimulus.

SE
CT

O
R

Release 
tranche #1 
of stimulus 

Guidance to 
the sector on 
entity design 
considerations

Legislation 
introduced

General 
elections

G
O

VE
R

N
M

EN
T

Local elections

Legislation 
passes

General 
elections

New entities 
commence 
operation

Confirm 
features and 
commence 
dra�ing 
legislation

#1

Release tranche 
#2 of stimulus*

* Subject to Government decision-making

#2

Release tranche 
#3 of stimulus*

#3

#1

Related to 
formation of new 
entities. Triggers 
possible further 
stimulus.

Partner with 
sector 
through joint 
Steering 
Committee
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THREE WATERS 101.

1. What’s the problem? 2. Government’s proposed solution 3. Impact on councils

The Government has told us it wants to deliver water services 
more cost effectively. It also wants to deliver them in an equitable 
and sustainable way.

It proposes changing the whole system:

The Government’s proposal would mean significant change to the 
delivery of water services. For a start, councils would shift their 
focus from delivery to kaitiakitanga of water services. 
Requirements on local authorities to ensure safe drinking water 
for private and community supplies would transfer to new 
entities.

For most councils, removing water-related debt from their 
balance sheets would improve their financial position. It would 
potentially create more opportunity to focus on delivering 
wellbeing to their communities. 

Councils currently own and operate three waters services, which 
cover drinking water, wastewater and stormwater. More 
investment is needed in water infrastructure to meet the 
environmental and public health aspirations of our communities. 
The Government has estimated that dealing with 30 years of 
systemic failure will require an investment of more than $185b 
over the next 30 years.

This scale of investment would be extremely challenging for 
councils to fund on their own. Climate change will only 
exacerbate this challenge.

Significant investment needed in 
water infrastructure

Councils can’t carry future costs

The current system lacks: 
- Economic regulation
- Consistent data collection
- Enforcement of standards

A new water regulator called 
Taumata Arowai

A smaller number of large, specialist 
water service entities

Water services are delivered on a 
significantly larger scale

Water entites remain publicly owned

Water services providers meet 
standards or face significant 
penalties for noncompliance

Entities have strong strategic links to 
councils and mana whenua

Three waters kaitiakitanga focus

Water-related debt removed from 
balance sheet

Increased capacity to borrow to 
fund community services

We know there’s not universal agreement on the case for change. But to meet councils’ own RFI projections, spending across New Zealand 
as a whole would need to increase by 50 percent annually for the next 10 years. With strong regulatory enforcement, the picture would 
be very different for councils, creating difficult trade offs if large investments are required to meet water standards.

The Government is proposing major reform of New Zealand’s 
drinking water, wastewater and stormwater system. Here LGNZ 
synthesises the issues, the opportunities and what it means for 
local government.  
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Transparency about the process and what’s on the 
table. 

A robust transition plan that makes sure the benefits 
of reform are delivered. 

Government to support councils so they can keep 
delivering. This means makes sure councils are 
economically sustainable without water.

A fair deal, including that councils are not financially 
worse off, and that communities are better off.

To support and grow effective local democracy.

That any new system reflects the relationship with 
mana whenua under Te Tiriti o Waitangi

What the sector needs from central government

Our work on Three Waters is guided by the principle that we need to seize any opportunity to 
create the best possible outcome for local government. 

We’re using our influence to work with the Government on a model that better includes the 
perspective of our communities. Representatives from local government are helping to steer this 
work and pose the hard questions. We are also actively working with government on what a 
package to go with reforms might look like. We’ll work to optimise this package before decisions 
are made. 

LGNZ is working for councils

Find out more

We encourage you to stay informed and up to date of the reforms as they 
evolve. We’ll be with you every step of the way. Here’s where you can 
start:

Read what DIA has published: www.dia.govt.nz/Three-waters-review

Check out the info on our website: www.lgnz.co.nz
Get in touch if you have questions: feedback@lgnz.co.nz

Everyone has access to safe drinking water and 
the same level of three waters service.

Infrastructure and systems are resilient and 
well-funded.

Three waters are delivered in partnership with 
iwi.

Delivery is responsive to climate change.

Catchments are managed from the mountain to 
the sea. 

Districts retain high-paying, skilled jobs. 

Any transition is well-managed and people are 
looked after. 

Local voices are heard and local priorities are 
responded to.

What’s important to the sector in this reform?

TO VISIT OUR FAQ
SCAN OR CLICK

LOCAL GOVERNMENT CAN HELP SHAPE THREE WATERS REFORM.
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HEADS OF AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

THE SOVEREIGN IN RIGHT OF NEW ZEALAND  

AND 

NEW ZEALAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
INCORPORATED TE KAHUI KAUNIHERA Ō 

AOTEAROA 

FOR 

PARTNERING COMMITMENT TO SUPPORT 
THREE WATERS SERVICE DELIVERY REFORM 
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Parties 
Name The Sovereign in right of New Zealand 
Short name Crown 
 

Name New Zealand Local Government Association Incorporated Te Kahui Kaunihera 
ō Aotearoa 

Short name LGNZ 
 

Background 
A The New Zealand Government (Government)is undertaking a programme to reform the delivery of 

three waters in New Zealand (Three Waters Reform Programme). 

B LGNZ is an incorporated society that represents the national interests of local government in New 

Zealand and leads best practice in the local government sector.   

C Since May 2020, the Crown and LGNZ have worked collaboratively to consider the interests of 

central and local government in relation to the Three Waters Reform Programme.  

D The Crown and LGNZ wish to continue their interests-based partnering relationship:  

(i) to enable LGNZ’s ongoing role in assisting with the interface between the Crown and the 

local government sector in connection with the Three Waters Reform Programme (including 

supporting the Three Waters Reform Programme objectives and supporting the sector 

through its implementation and transition); and 

(ii) to strengthen the important relationship central government has with local government to 

continue to work together in relation to the Three Waters Reform Programme, 

acknowledging local government’s critical role in placemaking and achieving positive 

wellbeing outcomes for communities and the shared objective of a thriving, resilient and 

sustainable local government system that is fit for purpose and has the flexibility and 

incentives to adapt to the future needs of local communities.  

E The Crown and LGNZ now wish to set out the agreed process for, and the terms of, the continuation 

of their interests-based partnering relationship.  

F The Crown (through the Department of Internal Affairs (DIA)) and LGNZ have previously entered 

into a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) under which DIA and LGNZ provided certain undertakings to 

each other in respect of confidentiality, conflict management and use of information (amongst 

other key terms), which continues to apply. 
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Agreed Terms 

1. Definitions  

1.1 Defined terms and expressions used in this Heads of Agreement shall, unless inconsistent with the 

context, have the meaning set out in Schedule 1. 

2. Mutual commitment to continuing the partnering approach for three waters reform  

2.1 In May 2020, the Government (through DIA) and LGNZ committed to working together to explore 

options for national three waters services delivery reform in recognition of the significant 

challenges – presently but more so in the future – facing the delivery of water services and 

infrastructure and the communities that fund and rely on them. 

2.2 The Crown and LGNZ each wish to continue: 

(a) an interests-based partnering relationship, including through the Joint Steering Committee, 

to support: 

(i) the identification and resolution of matters of concern to the local government 

sector in a manner that is consistent with the shared objectives referred to in this 

Heads of Agreement; and 

(ii) a smooth transition and successful implementation of the Three Waters Reform 

Programme, as further described in this Heads of Agreement; and 

(b) to strengthen the important relationship central government has with local government to 

continue to work together in the Three Waters Reform Programme, acknowledging the 

critical role local authorities play in local long-term planning, local placemaking and 

achieving positive wellbeing outcomes for their communities and the shared objective of a 

thriving, resilient and sustainable local government system that is fit for purpose and has 

the flexibility and incentives to adapt to the future needs of local communities. 

2.3 The Crown acknowledges that: 

(a) although LGNZ has a mandate to consider the national interests of local government in New 

Zealand, the mandate of individual local authorities (as set out in the Local Government Act 

2002) relates to the interests of their own local community; and 

(b) LGNZ’s agreement to support and lead the sector in the manner described in this Heads of 

Agreement does not bind its members and individual local authorities may determine to 

adopt a position different to LGNZ’s. 

2.4 Ensuring recognition of rights and interests of iwi/Māori in three waters service delivery 

The Crown and LGNZ recognise Te Tiriti o Waitangi/Treaty of Waitangi and the protection and 

promotion of iwi/Māori rights and interests in the delivery of three waters services, including 

through existing Treaty settlement mechanisms.  Water can be a taonga of particular significance 

and importance to Māori and both parties recognise the importance of working in partnership, and 

acting reasonably and in good faith with the Treaty partner throughout the reform process. Both 

parties recognise the reform is a significant opportunity to improve outcomes for Māori in the 

delivery of three water services. 
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2.5 Shared objectives for the Three Waters Reform Programme 

The Crown and LGNZ each acknowledge shared objectives which underpin the Three Waters 

Reform Programme. The principal objectives (including as they have been refined over the 

engagement process to date) are: 

(a) that there are safeguards (including legislative protection) against privatisation and 

mechanisms that provide for continued public ownership; 

(b) significantly improving the safety and quality of drinking water services, and the 

environmental performance of drinking water, wastewater and stormwater systems (which 

are crucial to good public health and wellbeing, and achieving good environmental 

outcomes); 

(c) ensuring all New Zealanders have equitable access to affordable three waters services and 

that the Water Services Entities will listen, and take account of, local community and 

consumer voices;  

(d) improving the coordination of resources and planning, and unlocking strategic opportunities 

to consider New Zealand’s infrastructure and environmental needs at a larger scale; 

(e) ensuring the overall integration and coherence of the wider regulatory and institutional 

settings (including the economic regulation of water services and resource management and 

planning reforms) in which the local government sector and their communities must 

operate; 

(f) increasing the resilience of three waters service provision to both short-and long-term risks 

and events, particularly climate change and natural hazards;  

(g) moving the supply of three waters services to a more financially sustainable footing, and 

addressing the affordability and capability challenges faced by small suppliers and local 

authorities; 

(h) improving transparency about, and accountability for, the planning, delivery and costs of 

three waters services, including the ability to benchmark the performance of the new Water 

Services Entities; and 

(i) undertaking the reform in a manner that enables local government to continue delivering 

(in a sustainable manner) on its placemaking role and broader “wellbeing mandates” as set 

out in the Local Government Act 2002. 

2.6 Other shared objectives for three waters reform and beyond 

The Crown and LGNZ further acknowledge the following shared objectives of their interests-based 

partnering relationship in relation to the Three Waters Reform Programme:  

(a) supporting achievement of the shared three waters reform objectives described above;  

(b) ensuring that the Water Services Entities are set up for future success, including preserving 

their ability to borrow to accelerate investment and meet future investment demands;   

(c) maintaining good faith participation by central and local government in relation to other 

large reform programmes, including resource management reforms;  

(d) work in partnership to support the ‘workforce transfer guidelines’ so as to ensure that 

workers in local communities are treated fairly as part of the three waters reform process 

and with the least amount of disruption for staff and local authorities (including so that local 
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authorities can maintain their ongoing operations, including as they relate to three waters 

service delivery and investment for the duration of the transition period); 

(e) building on the success of the COVID-19 response and Joint Three Waters Steering 

Committee processes to demonstrate a new way of working that provides a platform for 

ongoing, constructive relationships between central and local government; and 

(f) supporting three waters service provision by the new Water Services Entities to be an 

enabler of a resilient, responsive and sustainable local government system, including as the 

roles and functions of local authorities may change and develop over time. 

2.7 Acknowledgement  

The Crown and LGNZ each further acknowledge that the Three Waters Reform Programme is a 

tested and robust package of reforms that will:  

(a) affordably and sustainably address the water services delivery objectives over the next 30 

years; and  

(b) require all-in participation of local authorities to do so. 

2.8 Partnering principles – Three Waters Reform 

The Crown and LGNZ each wish to conduct their working relationship with the other party in 

relation to, and throughout the period of, the Three Waters Reform Programme in good faith and in 

accordance with the following objectives and principles: 

(a) shared intention: the shared intention of supporting the Three Waters Reform Programme, 

including ensuring a smooth transition and successful implementation of the Three Waters 

Reform Programme; 

(b) mutual trust and respect:  build and foster working relationships and communication 

practices that are based on, and value, mutual respect and high trust, including so as to 

address any issues and concerns that might arise, early and constructively, to ensure that 

process expectations are clear and aligned and to act and respond in ways that reflect a fair 

assessment of the importance or materiality of the matters requiring an action or a 

response; 

(c) constructive: non-adversarial dealings between the parties, and constructive mutual steps to 

avoid differences and disputes and to identify solutions that advance the shared interests 

and objectives of both central and local government with respect to the communities they 

serve;  

(d) open and fair: open, prompt and fair notification and resolution of any differences or 

disputes which may arise and the identification of potential risks and/or issues (including 

potential causes of delay) that could adversely impact the timely completion of the activities 

within the timeframes specified in any agreed programme of activities; and 

(e) no surprises: adopt a ‘no surprises’ approach in respect of their respective communications 

to stakeholders and their public statements and to ensure they are consistent with the spirit 

and intent of this Heads of Agreement. 
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3. Support Commitments 

3.1 The Crown and LGNZ each acknowledge that:  

(a) LGNZ will endorse and support such package and the need for all-in participation of local 

authorities to realise the full system benefits, to help build support for the reform across the 

sector, in the manner contemplated below; and 

(b) the key features of a Three Waters Reform financial support package are set out in clauses 

5.1 to 5.3 below. 

3.2 The Crown and LGNZ each agree:  

(a) to continue to carry out the discussions in relation to the Three Waters Reform Programme 

in good faith with a view to ensuring the reforms are achieved in a manner consistent with 

the shared objectives set out in clauses 2.4 to 2.6 above and Cabinet decisions in relation to 

the Three Waters Reform Programme;  

(b) that local authorities will be provided a reasonable period (expected to be around 8 weeks 

and commencing immediately after the annual LGNZ 2021 conference) to consider the 

impact of the reforms (including the financial support package) on them and their 

communities and an opportunity to provide feedback;  

(c) to discuss in good faith (including through the Joint Steering Committee) how the proposed 

model and design can best accommodate, in a manner consistent with the shared 

objectives, the following matters: 

(i) how local authorities can continue to influence how the new water service delivery 

system as a result of Three Waters Reform will respond to issues of importance to 

their communities, and provide for localised solutions such as the aspiration for 

chlorine-free water; 

(ii) ensuring appropriate integration between the needs, planning and priorities of local 

authorities (representing their local communities) and the planning and priorities of 

the Water Service Entities; and 

(iii) how to strengthen the accountability of the WSEs to the communities that they 

serve, for example through a water ombudsman; and   

(d) to use all reasonable endeavours (in the case of LGNZ consistent with the resourcing, 

funding and activities reflected in the funding agreements referred to in clause 6) to achieve 

support for the Three Waters Reform Programme from the local government sector, 

including (in the case of LGNZ) as contemplated in clauses 4.2 and 4.3 below. 

3.3 DIA and LGNZ have agreed a joint position statement (set out at Schedule 4 of this Heads of 

Agreement) with respect to the Three Waters Reform Programme.  DIA and LGNZ will each ensure 

that statements made by them respectively in relation to the Three Waters Reform Programme, 

including statements or information made or provided to the local government sector in relation to 

the Three Waters Reform Programme (including through LGNZ) including at the annual LGNZ 2021 

conference, shall be consistent with the joint position statement.  

4. LGNZ support of Three Waters Reform  
LGNZ considers: 

(a) the Three Waters Reform Programme is in the national interest of local government and the 

communities that it represents;  
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(b) the partnering approach between the Crown (including DIA and Treasury) and LGNZ in

relation to the Three Waters Reform Programme enhances and ensures a long-term

commitment to partnership between central and local government in New Zealand; and

(c) the Three Waters Reform financial support package (as contemplated in this Heads of

Agreement) is fair and reasonable at a national level.

4.2 Accordingly, LGNZ commits to supporting, endorsing and promoting the Three Waters Reform 

Programme. 

4.3 LGNZ commits to: 

(a) supporting the case for change by:

(i) publicly supporting the position that there is a sufficient and evidence-based

national case for change, including that the current approach to three waters service

delivery is not capable of delivering the outcomes required in an affordable and

sustainable way into the future;

(ii) noting the analysis supporting the Crown’s preferred approach to reform has been

tested through the design process, and expressing the view that the proposed model

design and approach to reform is sound, appropriate and beneficial when viewed as

a whole at a national level; and

(iii) assisting LGNZ’s members to understand the reform-related information being

provided to them by or on behalf of the Crown, how the reform is intended to work

and the impact it is likely to have on local authorities and the communities they

serve, including throughout the transition period – and in respect of which the

Crown (through DIA) commits to supporting LGNZ and the local government sector

to actively engage in the transition process and to working through the remaining

questions and further policy detail with LGNZ with a view to supporting a smooth

transition to, and successful implementation of, the Three Waters Reform

Programme;

(b) endorsing the Three Waters Reform financial support package announced by the

Government (as contemplated in this Heads of Agreement);

(c) if, after the end of the period referred to in clause 3.2(b), the Government decides to adopt

an “all in” legislated approach to the Three Waters Reform then LGNZ agrees that it will

accept such a decision on the basis that:

(i) “all in” participation of local authorities is needed to realise the national interest

benefits of the reform;

(ii) such acceptance does not imply that LGNZ supports such approach;

(iii) LGNZ will not actively oppose such approach; and

(iv) LGNZ may publicly express its disappointment that the Government has considered

it necessary to adopt such approach.

(d) leading and supporting the local government sector through change arising from the Three

Waters Reform Programme, in the interests of a constructive and orderly transition process.

4.4 The Crown (through DIA) and LGNZ will each use all reasonable endeavours to agree a timetable to 

support the reform (which is consistent with Cabinet decisions in relation to the Three Waters 



 

P a g e  |    202 

IT
E
M

 1
4

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
4

 

  

8 

 

Reform Programme) including the staged release of information and the process to develop 

individual local authority agreements. 

5. Financial support package to local authorities   

5.1 The Crown is proposing that a Three Waters Reform financial support package be provided to local 

authorities, comprising: 

(a) a “no worse off” package which will seek to ensure that financially, no local authority is in a 

materially worse off position to provide services to its community directly because of the 

Three Waters Reform Programme and associated transfer of responsibility for the provision 

of water services (including the transfer of assets and liabilities) to the Water Services 

Entities; and 

(b) a “better off” package of $2 billion which supports the goals of the Three Waters Reform 

Programme by supporting local government to invest in the wellbeing of their communities 

in a manner that meets the priorities of both the central and local government, and is 

consistent with the agreed criteria for such investment set out in Schedule 3 of this Heads of 

Agreement, 

and which will be given effect (including in relation to the process for the provision of funding by 

Water Services Entities) in agreements between each local authority and the Crown (through DIA).  

The key principles and process for development of such agreements will be a matter that is considered 

by the Joint Steering Committee. 

5.2 LGNZ acknowledges that the quantum of the proposed Three Waters Reform financial support 

package set out in clause 5.1 is a fair and reasonable package and contribution to the local 

government sector having regard to the impacts of the Three Waters Reform Programme on the 

sector and to contribute to the future of local government in supporting the wellbeing of their 

communities.  

5.3 The Crown and LGNZ have been discussing the proposed Three Waters Reform financial support 

package and record the agreed principles, as at the date of this Heads of Agreement: 

(a) in relation to the “no worse off” package, in Schedule 2 of this Heads of Agreement; and  

(b) in relation to the “better off” package, in Schedule 3 of this Heads of Agreement,  

noting that in relation to those areas of the financial support package that remain to be finalised as 

contemplated in those schedules, the Crown intends to finalise the same with LGNZ consistent with 

the principles and partnering approach set out in this Heads of Agreement; and noting also that (as 

provided in the Public Finance Act 2010) no funding will be due or payable from the Crown until 

funding is appropriated. 

5.4 For the avoidance of doubt, there are a range of other impacts for local authorities that may 

represent an adverse financial impact, which the support package contemplated in clauses 5.1 to 

5.3 above does not take account of, and are intended to be addressed (through a process to be 

agreed between the Crown (through DIA) and LGNZ) by alternative mechanisms: 

(a) transaction costs associated with facilitating the transfer of assets, liabilities and revenue, 

including staff involvement in working with the establishment entities and transition unit, 

and legal, accounting and audit costs.  There is an allocation within the $296 million tagged 

contingency established as part of the 2021 Budget Package for the transition and 

implementation costs incurred by councils and DIA will work with LGNZ in developing the 

parameters of this funding pool, before it is agreed with Ministers and shared with the 

sector.  The funding will look to ensure that councils are able to participate in the reform 
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programme without putting at risk council delivery of water services during the transition – 

noting that the funding pool will have a finite limit, needs to deliver the transition 

objectives, demonstrate value for money to Crown and meet the conditions around the 

tagged contingency; and 

(b) accumulated cash reserves that have been earmarked for future water infrastructure 

investment. Local authorities will be encouraged to use these reserves (subject to reserve 

conditions) prior to the “go live” date of 1 July 2024. It is intended that any material reserve 

balances remaining at that time will be transferred to new Water Services Entities with a 

commensurate commitment to invest those funds in the communities that paid for them, 

consistent with the conditions under which they were raised. Councils will be allowed to 

retain immaterial reserve balances upon transfer. The materiality threshold will be 

developed in discussion between DIA and LGNZ and agreed with Ministers before reflecting 

this in guidance for the sector; and  

(c) any payment to be made to a local authority by the relevant Water Services Entity 

associated with the transfer of water assets, debt and revenue - being the amount of water-

related debt established through any applicable due diligence and/or audit when that Water 

Service Entity takes over the three waters-related infrastructure and service delivery 

responsibilities (including the transfer of water assets, debt and revenue) from the local 

authority to implement the Three Waters Reform Programme. 

6. Crown support for LGNZ to lead and support the local government sector through change 

The Crown is proposing to provide ongoing support to LGNZ, by way of separate funding 

agreement(s) with LGNZ (and subject to the conditions set out in such agreement(s)): 

(a) in the short term (expected to be through to mid-September 2021) to enable LGNZ to build 

support within the local government sector for the Three Waters Reform Programme; and  

(b) subsequently through the transition and implementation phases of the Three Waters 

Reform Programme (expected to be approximately two and half years), to enable LGNZ 

(including LGNZ engaging Taituarā as appropriate) to support the Crown and the local 

government sector through the transition and implementation of the Three Waters Reform 

Programme. 

7. Joint Steering Committee 

7.1 The Crown and LGNZ each acknowledge the benefit to both central and local government of the 

work carried out by the Joint Steering Committee, particularly in ensuring that the perspectives, 

interests and expertise of both central and local government, and of communities throughout New 

Zealand, have been accommodated in the development of the Three Waters Reform Programme to 

date.  

7.2 The Crown and LGNZ each consider that there is considerable benefit in the Joint Steering 

Committee continuing to be convened to support the constructive partnering approach between 

central and local government, to continue to inform the detail that is yet to be developed as part of 

the Three Waters Reform Programme and to achieve the best outcomes for all New Zealanders 

through the Three Waters Reform Programme, including through transition and implementation.   

7.3 The Crown and LGNZ each acknowledge that, in order to give effect to the Cabinet decisions in 

relation to the Three Waters Reform Programme in a manner that is consistent with the shared 

objectives set out in this Heads of Agreement, further policy detail remains to be worked through to 

ensure a smooth transition and successful implementation of the Three Waters Reform 
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Programme.  The Crown (through DIA) and LGNZ agree to continue to work together, including 

through the Joint Steering Committee, with a view to agreeing an approach to such issues that 

reflect the priorities of both central and local government. 

7.4 The Crown and LGNZ therefore agree that the Joint Steering Committee will continue to be 

convened (on terms to be agreed) to support the Three Waters Reform Programme including 

through transition and implementation.  

8. Future for Local Government review and other major reform initiatives 

The Crown acknowledges the opportunity to strengthen the important relationship central 

government has with local government through the Review.  The Crown acknowledges, as set out in 

the terms of reference for the Review, local government’s critical role in placemaking and achieving 

positive wellbeing outcomes for communities.  The terms of reference also notes that: 

(a) the Review should be guided by the objectives of the Public Service Act 2020, in terms of 

building a unified, agile and collaborative public service, grounded in a commitment of 

service to the community; 

(b) the impact of reform programmes, including those related to the three waters sector and 

resource management system, are within the scope of the review;  

(c) consideration of the discharge of the functions of the Review should be characterised by a 

spirit of partnership including between the Review, local government, and iwi/Maori, while 

upholding the independence of the Review; and  

(d) the Review must identify options for a collaborative approach with the local government 

sector. 

8.2 The Crown commits to working through its response to the Review in an open and transparent 

manner, consistent with the partnership principles set out in this Heads of Agreement including 

convening a joint steering committee comprising representatives of central and local government 

(or other appropriate mechanism) to consider issues arising with respect to the Review. This will 

include working closely on solutions to funding and financing challenges the sector may face, 

recognising the potential for reform to compromise the sustainability of some local authorities’ 

current financial arrangements. 

8.3 The Crown (through DIA) commits to working with other government agencies, and Ministers as 

appropriate, to seek to extend the partnership-based approach contemplated in this Heads of 

Agreement (including the partnering principles in clause 2.8) to other policy reforms that have the 

potential to significantly impact local government. 

9. General  

9.1 Other roles and functions 

The involvement of the Crown (including DIA and Treasury) and LGNZ will not fetter or otherwise 

limit or compromise the Crown (including DIA and Treasury) or LGNZ  respectively (or any other 

central or local government entity) in performing any regulatory role or function it may have 

(including as a territorial authority) including, for the avoidance of doubt, in the giving of free and 

frank policy advice including to Ministers, Cabinet or the Government.  

9.2 Communications protocols  

It is acknowledged that each of the Crown and LGNZ may at times have distinct obligations in terms 

of communications with respective stakeholders. However, as it works through the matters 
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contemplated by this Heads of Agreement, it is critical for the credibility and the integrity reflected 

in the partnership principles that the nature and manner of communications is agreed.  A 

communications protocol will be agreed by DIA and LGNZ which will include how updates and 

messaging is provided to the local government sector and other stakeholders including the media. 

The communications protocol will reflect the partnership principles and principles of openness and 

transparency and confidentiality, and will address where there is a potential conflict in relation to 

the application of such principles.   

Before making any media statements or press releases (including social media posts) or other public 

statement regarding this Heads of Agreement and/or the Crown’s involvement (including through 

DIA and/or Treasury) with the Three Waters Reform Programme, LGNZ will consult with DIA.   

 

9.3 No authority 

LGNZ does not have the right to enter into any commitment, contract or agreement on behalf of 

the Crown or any associated body, or to make any public statement or comment on behalf of the 

Crown or the Government. 

 

9.4 LGNZ Acknowledgement of disclosure  

LGNZ acknowledges and agrees that nothing in this Heads of Agreement restricts the Crown’s ability 

to: 

(a) discuss, and provide all information in respect of, any matters concerning LGNZ, this Heads 

of Agreement with any Minister of the Crown, any other government agency or any of their 

respective advisors, including for the avoidance of doubt for the purpose of giving free and 

frank advice;  

(b) meet its obligations under any constitutional or parliamentary convention (or other 

obligation at law) of or in relation to the New Zealand Parliament, the New Zealand House 

of Representatives or any of its Committees, any Minister of the Crown, or the New Zealand 

Auditor-General, including any obligations under the Cabinet Manual including the "no 

surprises" principle. 

9.5 Some Information subject to Official Information Act 1982 

LGNZ acknowledges that: 

(a) the contents of this Heads of Agreement; and 

(b) information provided to the Crown (including DIA and/or Treasury);  

may be official information in terms of the Official Information Act 1982 and, in line with the 

purpose and principles of the Official Information Act 1982, this Heads of Agreement and such 

information may be released to the public unless there is good reason under the Official 

Information Act 1982 to withhold it.   
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Signing 
Executed as an agreement: 

SIGNATURES SIGNED by the SOVEREIGN IN RIGHT 
OF NEW ZEALAND acting by and 
through Her Minister of Finance and 
Her Minister of Local Government: 

_____________________________ 

Hon Grant Robertson, Minister of 
Finance 

_____________________________ 

Hon Nanaia Mahuta, Minister of Local 
Government   

SIGNED for and on behalf of  NEW 
ZEALAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED TE 
KAHUI KAUNIHERA Ō AOTEAROA by 
the persons named below, being a 
persons duly authorised to enter into 
obligations on behalf of LGNZ: 

_____________________________ 

Name: Stuart Crosby 

Position: President, LGNZ National 
Council  

Date: 

_____________________________ 

Name: Hamish McDouall 

Position: Vice-President, LGNZ National 
Council 

Date: 

13 July 2021

13 July 2021



 

P a g e  |    207 

IT
E
M

 1
4

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
4

 

  

13 

Schedule 1: Definitions and interpretation 

1.1 Definitions: 

Defined terms and expressions used in this Heads of Agreement shall, unless inconsistent with the 

context, have the meaning set out below: 

Cabinet means the central decision making body of executive government in New Zealand 

Crown means The Sovereign in right of New Zealand. 

Joint Steering Committee means the Joint Steering Committee formed in May 2020 by, and 

comprising representatives from DIA, Treasury, LGNZ and Taituarā to work closely to support a 

programme of reform for the delivery of three waters. 

Review means the Ministerial review into the Future for Local Government. 

Taituarā means Local Government Professionals Aotearoa, the national organisation that supports 

and develops local government professionals in New Zealand (formerly known as the New Zealand 

Society of Local Government Managers). 

Three Waters means drinking water, wastewater and stormwater. 

Water Services Entity means the new water services entities to be established by legislation giving 

effect to the Three Waters Reform Programme. 

1.2 Interpretation 

In this Heads of Agreement: 

(a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect interpretation of this Heads of

Agreement;

(b) words importing:

(i) the singular include the plural and vice versa; and

(ii) any gender includes any other gender;

(c) the term including means “including without limitation”;

(d) the meaning of “or” will be that of the inclusive, being one, some or all of a number of

possibilities.
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Schedule 2: “No worse off” package key principles  

 

The Crown and LGNZ acknowledge and agree that the key principles of the “no worse off” package are: 

• that the “no worse off” package will seek to ensure that financially, no local authority is worse off as a direct 

result of the Three Waters Reform and associated transfer of responsibility for the provision of water 

services (including the transfer of assets, revenues and effective transfer of liabilities) to Water Services 

Entities (“Water Transfer”);  

• it is intended that the “no worse off” package will be funded by the relevant Water Services Entity.  This 

approach recognises that the impacts being addressed by this aspect of the support package are closely 

linked to the Water Transfer.  It is also acknowledged that the proposed support arrangements between the 

Crown and the Water Services Entities, such as a liquidity support, is expected to reduce the borrowing costs 

and thereby increase the borrowing capacity of the Water Services Entities, supporting funding through this 

mechanism; 

• that the “no worse off” package will acknowledge the costs and financial impacts on local authorities directly 

as a result of the Three Waters Reform in relation to: 

o stranded costs, being organisational overheads previously allocated by the local authority to three 

waters services that are not able to be transferred or avoided in the short-term as part of the Three 

Waters Reform, and therefore remain with the local authority for a period and be required to be 

reallocated by the local authority to their remaining activities; and 

o financial sustainability support, for the (expected small number of) local authorities in respect of 

which the Water Transfer will adversely and directly affect their financial ability to sustainably 

perform their non-water related roles and functions at the existing level of performance (noting that 

for most councils the impact of such transfers is expected to have a positive effect on their 

borrowing capacity). It is intended that this will be addressed through a one-off payment. 

• it is intended that the “no worse off” package will recognise the above costs and financial impacts through: 

o for stranded costs, up to $250 million to be allocated to support councils to manage these costs.  

This represents a nationwide estimate of two years of unavoidable stranded costs for councils with 

two years considered to be a reasonable period for these costs to be managed.  We are proposing a 

fixed amount as the actual stranded costs faced by any council is dependent on decisions made by 

the council and cannot be robustly and transparently assessed.  The allocation will be spread based 

on: 

▪ $150 million allocated to councils (excluding Auckland, Christchurch and councils involved in 

Wellington Water) based on a per capita rate that is adjusted recognising that smaller 

councils face disproportionately greater potential stranded costs than larger councils;1 

▪ Up to $50 million allocated for the councils excluded above based on a detailed assessment 

of 2 years of reasonable and unavoidable stranded costs directly resulting from the Water 

Transfer; and  

                                                                 

1 The adjustment is based on adjusting the proportional allocation implied by the squared inverse natural logarithm of population. This means 

smaller councils receive a greater proportional allocation than larger councils 
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▪ Up to $50 million able to be allocated to councils that have demonstrable, unavoidable and 

materially greater stranded costs than provided for above (the process for determining this 

will be agreed and is subject to the agreement of LGNZ and the Crown (through DIA and 

Treasury)); 

o for financial sustainability, the Crown (through DIA) will work with LGNZ and Taituarā to develop 

agreed principles for how the assessment of financial sustainability support (described above) will be 

undertaken, the methodology for quantifying this support requirement, and the process for 

undertaking the associated due diligence process with councils.  The methodology will need to 

protect the interests of Water Services Entities to ensure only necessary payments are made (up to a 

maximum of $250 million), that it does not create poor incentives and ensures a robust and 

equitable process for New Zealand.  Priority will be given to undertaking due diligence with those 

local authorities that are more likely to suffer adverse borrowing impacts.  We note that the due 

diligence process to confirm three waters debt and revenue for each council will be required to be 

transparent and robust to ensure equitable treatment of local authorities; 

• that the payment of funds under the ‘no worse off’ package to a local authority will be made at the point of 

the Water Transfer. This is the point at which most of the financial impacts for councils will crystallise. 

• that the payment of funds under the “no worse off” package to a local authority will be subject to 

appropriate conditions to satisfy accountability and other requirements of the Crown. These conditions will 

include a positive obligation on councils to manage the transfer and reorganisation in a way that minimises 

the ‘no worse off’ funding required. This would avoid councils seeking greater ‘no worse off’ funding than 

anticipated on the basis of avoidable costs, and therefore reduces incentives for behaviour that might drive 

up ‘no worse off’ costs. 

• it is acknowledged that certain aspects of the “no worse off” package need to be enabled through legislation 

including the establishment of the Water Services Entities. 
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Schedule 3: “Better off” package key principles 
 

The Crown and LGNZ acknowledge and agree that the key principles of the “better off” package are: 

• that the better off package is: 

o in recognition of the significance to the local government sector (and the communities they serve) of 

the transfer of responsibility for water service delivery; and 

o intended to demonstrate central government confidence in the future for local government by 

providing the sector additional funds to invest in local community wellbeing outcomes, in a way that 

aligns with the priorities of central government.  

• that the better off package will comprise $2 billion of investment, which will comprise:  

o $1 billion of Crown funding, $500 million of which (or such greater amount as may be agreed) is 

intended to be provided to local authorities from 1 July 2022 to enable early investment; and 

o the remaining $1 billion to be funded by the new Water Services Entities.   

 It is intended that such funding (other than that portion of the Crown funding noted above to be 

provided to local authorities from 1 July 2022) will be provided from 1 July 2024. 

• that the funding will be allocated using simple to understand factors for which there are available metrics 

applied in a way that recognises the relative needs of local communities, the unique challenges facing local 

authorities in meeting those needs and the relative differences across the country in the ability to pay for 

those needs. A combination of population, relative deprivation and land area are recognised as the most 

relevant measures to recognise those factors. The allocation framework will distribute funding on the basis 

of a 75% allocation based on population, a 20% allocation based on the deprivation index, and a 5% 

allocation based on land area. 

• that the use of this funding supports the three waters service delivery reform objectives and other local 

wellbeing outcomes and aligns with the priorities of central and local government, through meeting some or 

all of the following criteria:  

o supporting communities to transition to a sustainable and low-emissions economy, including by 
building resilience to climate change and natural hazards;  
 

o delivery of infrastructure and/or services that: 
 

▪ enable housing development and growth, with a focus on brownfield and infill development 
opportunities where those are available,  
 

▪ support local place-making and improvements in community well-being. 

• to recognise the role that iwi/Māori will play in the new delivery system as partners, local authorities will be 

expected to engage with iwi/Māori in determining how it will use its funding allocation. 

• to ensure value for money, appropriate contractual mechanisms, similar to those used for the initial water 

infrastructure investment stimulus package, will be implemented. The Crown (through DIA) will develop 

these in consultation with LGNZ and will likely include funding conditions, wellbeing assessments, delivery 

milestones, disbursement profiles, monitoring and reporting arrangements. These mechanisms will seek to 

make funding easily available while maintaining a reasonable level of accountability. 



 

P a g e  |    211 

IT
E
M

 1
4

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
4

 

  

17 

 

• that any funding conditions will acknowledge that long-term plans are subject to change over time. 

Conditions may include, but are not limited to: 

o conditions relating to the planned investment in three waters infrastructure for the duration of the 

transition period, including commitments made through respective 2021-31 long-term plans; 

o working in partnership with central government to transition to the new water services delivery 

system, including working collaboratively with the establishment entities for the new Water Services 

Entities to support the smooth transfer of assets, liabilities, information and staff to the new 

entities; 

o assisting in the preparation of initial asset management plans to ensure continuity of investment, 

and to provide certainty for local authorities regarding what investment will be prioritised by the 

new Water Services Entities once they assume responsibility for water services delivery; 

o provisions to address the consequences of local authorities being in material breach of the 

associated conditions; and 

o it is acknowledged that certain aspects of the “better off” package need to be enabled through 

legislation including the establishment of the Water Services Entities. 
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Schedule 4: Joint Position Statement 

CENTRAL-LOCAL GOVERNMENT JOINT POSITION STATEMENT ON THREE WATERS REFORM 

Acknowledging the challenge 

Central and local government believe that three waters services are fundamental to the health and 
wellbeing of our communities and environment; and to our local, regional and national economies. The 
way they are delivered across New Zealand cannot address the challenges our communities will face in the 
future. 

Analysis produced over the past 12 months shows that all communities will need to invest significantly over 
the next 30 years to maintain, replace and upgrade ageing assets and to provide for growth. This is 
reflected by increasing investment in councils’ new long-term plans. 

Consistently enforced compliance standards, a backlog of infrastructure renewals and external pressures 
such as climate change, workforce shortages, and economic regulation will create unsustainable pressure 
on the current system. 

Building a new partnership 

Three waters reform has created an opportunity for central and local government to work together 
differently.  

In May 2020, the Government and Local Government New Zealand agreed to set up a Joint Steering 
Committee to provide feedback on the reform of three waters services delivery. This group co-designed 
delivery of the initial stimulus investment in three waters infrastructure and services, supported the 
Request for Information (RFI) process and fed back into the Government’s policy development. It has 
interrogated the analysis behind the case for change, facilitated robust conversations, and seen policy shift 
towards more practicable and enduring solutions. 

This model responded to the local government sector’s call for a closer working relationship with 
government, and to the Government’s desire to deliver in partnership with the sector.  It builds on work 
undertaken together in response to COVID-19 and has opened the door to a fundamental reset between 
our two tiers of government, so that change is undertaken together for the benefit of all our communities. 

A proposal for change  

The Government has proposed creating four new water service delivery entities. The scale of these entities 
means they’ll be able to borrow to fund the significant investment needed to benefit all New Zealanders, 
from our smallest communities to our largest cities.  

As part of this proposal, the Government and LGNZ have developed a package that recognises the 
importance of local place-making and the critical role that local government plays in that. This package: 

• supports local government to invest in the wellbeing of their communities, so that all councils and 
their communities are better off; 

• ensures no council will be financially worse off after reform; and 

• makes clear that the Government will cover reasonable transition costs. 

The economic model shows that significant benefits are available for all communities and will work best if 
all councils participate.  Each council needs more time to interrogate its own position and understand the 
implications for their communities and operations. There remain critical issues to work through over the 
next two months. 
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These issues include ensuring all communities have both a voice in the system and influence over local 
decisions. Councils want to be sure the water entities understand and act on communities’ needs and 
wants, including responding to localised concerns like a desire for chlorine-free water. 

They want to ensure effective representation on the new water entities’ governing boards so that there is 
strong accountability to the communities they serve. They want to be confident the water entities will 
respond to their plans for growth. And they want effective assurance that entities, which remain owned by 
the community, cannot be privatised in future. 

We believe continuing the partnership between local and central government is the best way to resolve the 
remaining questions and policy detail to give these critical reforms the best chance of success. To that end 
we’re recommitting to an agreed a set of shared objectives: 

• significantly improving the safety and quality of drinking water services, and the environmental 
performance of drinking water, wastewater and stormwater systems 

• ensuring robust safeguards against privatisation  

• ensuring all New Zealanders have equitable access to affordable three waters services and that the 
water services entities will listen, and take account of, local community and consumer voices 

• improving the coordination of resources, planning, and unlocking strategic opportunities  

• ensuring the overall integration and coherence of the wider regulatory and institutional settings  

• increasing the resilience of three waters service provision to climate change and natural hazards 

• ensuring three waters service delivery has a more financially sustainable footing, and addressing 
the affordability and capability challenges faced by small suppliers and local authorities 

• improving transparency about, and accountability for, the planning, delivery and costs of three 
waters services 

• undertaking the reform in a matter that enables local government to continue delivering on its 
placemaking role and broader “wellbeing mandates”. 

Looking to the future 

We are very aware that how we work together now sets the tone for other large-scale reform affecting the 
sector, especially the Future for Local Government review.  

This review is a real opportunity for New Zealand to re-imagine the roles, responsibilities and resources of 
councils so that they can meet communities’ expectations now and in the future. These expectations have 
evolved massively since the introduction of the current Local Government Act over 30 years ago. It’s time 
for a genuine re-think about what’s needed for local government to respond to communities’ changing 
needs. 

For this review to succeed, we need to be partners. Our three waters relationship has allowed robust, open 
discussions – and opened the door to a fundamental reset between our two tiers of government. Both 
central and local government are committed to a new way of working together, in tune with our diverse 
communities and our treaty partnership. 
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Report 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Clearview Reserve - Easement Proposal to Powerco 

PRESENTED BY: Bryce Hosking, Manager - Property and Kathy Dever-Tod, Parks 

& Reserves Manager  

APPROVED BY: Sarah Sinclair, Chief Infrastructure Officer  

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL 

1. That Council, as the administering body of Clearview Reserve (legally described 

as Part of Lot 1 DP 69185), authorise the granting of an easement to convey 

electricity, to Powerco. 

2. That Council, in exercise of the powers conferred on it by delegation under the 

Reserves Act 1977, authorise the granting of an easement to convey electricity, 

to Powerco. 

3. That Council note that the requirements of Section 4 of the Conservation Act 1987 

have been satisfied in relation to consultation with Iwi over granting an easement 

to convey electricity at Clearview Reserve. 

4. That Council note that the requirements of Sections 119 and 120 of the Reserves 

Act 1977 have been satisfied in relation to public notification prior to the 

resolution to grant an easement to convey electricity over Clearview Reserve. 
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SUMMARY OF OPTIONS ANALYSIS FOR 

Problem or 

Opportunity 

Powerco has existing transformer and associated services within 

Clearview Reserve for the supply of electricity to Clearview 

Drive. These utility services were established within the reserve 

land in 2003 as part of the Clearview Drive Subdivision.  

The Reserves Act 1977 requires utility services on reserve land to 

be covered by an easement, however, there is currently no 

easement registered for this matter within Clearview Reserve. 

Powerco has identified this matter during their recent upgrade 

work and has requested an easement be created to ensure the 

legal status of these utilities align with the Reserves Act.  

The public consultation process has been completed in 

accordance with Section 48 of the Reserves Act 1977. There 

were no submissions received. 

This report seeks approval from Council to grant the formal 

easement for this matter. 

Community Views • The transformer has physically been in place since its 

establishment in 2003. Council has never received any 

feedback in relation to this transformer during this time.  

• The public consultation process was completed and 

there were no submissions received. 

• Iwi were consulted and were in support of the easement 

being granted. 

OPTION 1:  Approve the proposed easement at Clearview Reserve to 

Powerco 

Benefits • Registering an easement within Clearview Reserve is 

considered good governance and ensures the activity is 

compliant with the requirements of the Reserves Act 1977. 

Risks • None. 

Financial • There are no financial implications with this easement as 

all costs are met by Powerco as the owner of the services 

as per Council’s Easements Policy. 

OPTION 2:  Decline the proposed easement to Powerco at Clearview 

Reserve and require the services to be relocated 

Benefits • None. 

Risks • If a formal easement is not granted Powerco will need to 

relocate the transformer which will cause disruption to the 
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surrounding residents.  

• Declining an easement may be perceived as causing 

unnecessary disruption. 

Financial • None. 

 

RATIONALE FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. OVERVIEW OF THE PROBLEM OR OPPORTUNITY 

1.1 Powerco has existing transformer and associated services within Clearview 

Reserve for the supply of electricity to Clearview Drive.  

1.2 The location of the transformer within Clearview Reserve is shown below:  

 

1.3 The Reserves Act 1977 requires any form of utility for services on reserve land 

to be covered by an easement, however, there is currently no easement 

registered for this utility within Clearview Reserve. 

1.4 Powerco identified this matter during their recent upgrade work to connect a 

new cable from Dogwood Way to the transformer and have requested an 

easement be created to ensure the legal status of these utilities align with the 

Reserves Act. 

1.5 The public consultation process has been completed in accordance with 

Section 48 of the Reserves Act 1977. There were no submissions received. 

1.6 This report seeks approval from Council to grant the formal easement for this 

matter. 
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2. BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS COUNCIL DECISIONS 

2.1 Powerco’s utility services at Clearview Reserve include a transformer and 

associated services such as underground cables. These utility services were 

established within the reserve land in 2003 as part of the Clearview Drive 

Subdivision. 

2.2 In general Council encourages, wherever possible, service companies to 

locate their services in the road corridor. Road corridors are often increased in 

new subdivisions to include ‘alcoves’ that will house transformers. This allows 

service companies to operate under a standard roading corridor right-of-

way.  

2.3 This is not always possible or an appropriate outcome however, hence on 

occasion these utility services are required to be located within reserve land. 

2.4 In these situations, Council encourages companies to situate these utility 

services underground. In this case the transformer needed to be located 

above ground for access, so the best outcome was to set this back off the 

road or footpath and to be located ‘out of the way’. 

Requirement for Easements  

2.5 In 1968 the Electricity Act provided the legal basis for utilising land for the 

purposes of conveying electricity. In 1977 this method of utilising land in 

reserves for the purposes of conveying electricity was superseded by the 

Reserves Act 1977.  

2.6 In recent years Powerco has been bringing the legal status of all their 

electricity conveyance utilities in line with the Reserves Act, including the 

establishment of easements when required.  

2.7 The easements proposed cover the transformer site and the recent upgrade 

works area. 

Previous Council Decisions 

2.8 The Finance and Audit Committee received a report on the proposed 

easement at their meeting on 24 February 2021.   

2.9 Council subsequently approved the proposal to proceed to community 

consultation. 

2.10 Community consultation occurred during the period 28 April to 27 May 2021. 

There were no submissions received.  
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3. DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS 

Community Views 

3.1 The transformer has physically been in place since its establishment in 2003. 

Council has never received any feedback in relation to this transformer during 

this time.  

3.2 The public consultation process was completed and there were no 

submissions received. 

3.3 Iwi were consulted and were in support of the easement being granted. 

Option 1:  Approve the proposed easement at Clearview Reserve to Powerco 

3.4 Option 1 sees Council authorise the granting of an easement to convey 

electricity to Powerco within Clearview Reserve. 

Benefits 

3.5 The registration of an easement is an administrative matter. As such 

registering this easement within Clearview Reserve is considered good 

governance and ensures the activity is compliant with the requirements of the 

Reserves Act 1977. 

Risks 

3.6 No risks have been identified for this option. 

Financial Implications 

3.7 There are no financial implications with this easement as all costs are met by 

Powerco as the owner of the services as per Council’s Easements Policy. 

Option 2:  Decline the proposed easement to Powerco at Clearview Reserve 

and require the services to be relocated 

3.8 Option 2 would see Council declining the proposed easement and require 

Powerco to relocate the transformer and its associated services off Clearview 

Reserve.  

Benefits 

3.9 No benefits have been identified for this option. 

Risks 

3.10 If a formal easement is not granted Powerco will need to relocate the 

transformer which will cause disruption to the surrounding residents. 



 
 

P a g e  |    220 

IT
E
M

 1
5

 

3.11 Given the transformer and its services have been in place since 2003, 

declining an easement may be perceived as causing unnecessary disruption 

by both Powerco and the general public. 

Financial Implications 

3.12 No costs will be incurred. 

4. CONCLUSION 

4.1 As this is an administrative matter, Option 1 is considered good governance 

and will ensure the activity is compliant with the requirements of the Reserves 

Act 1977.   

4.2 Council has met the requirements of the Reserves Act and Conservation Act 

in considering the easement. 

4.3 There was no submission in support or opposition received from the 

community consultation and no concerns raised by Rangitāne. 

4.4 It is recommended that Council proceeds with Option 1 and grants an 

easement to Powerco at Clearview Reserve. 

5. NEXT ACTIONS 

5.1 The easement instrument will be entered between Council and Powerco and 

added to the relevant property title. 

6. OUTLINE OF COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT PROCESS 

6.1 Public notification was undertaken through an advertisement in the 

Manawatu Standard and on the Palmerston North City Council website from 

28 April 2021 until 27 May 2021. 

6.2 No submissions or objections were received. 

6.3 Iwi were consulted on this matter both in January 2021 and as part of the July 

2021 bimonthly meeting with Council Officers. They were in support of the 

easement being granted. 

COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do, they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special Consultative 

procedure? 

No 
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Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? No 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 3: A Connected and Safe Community 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in     

Economic Development  

The action is: Carry out recreation and reserves planning functions under the 

Reserves Act 1977 and LGA including the preparation of Reserve Management and 

Development Plans and Master Plans. 

Contribution to 

strategic direction 

and to social, 

economic, 

environmental and 

cultural well-being 

This action ensures Council meets its legal obligations under 

the Reserves Act 1977 with regards to reserves planning and 

legislative requirements for utilities sited in reserves. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Nil   
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Quarterly Performance and Financial Report - Quarter Ending 

30 June 2021 

PRESENTED BY: Stuart McKinnon, Chief Financial Officer and Andrew Boyle, 

Head of Community Planning  

APPROVED BY: Stuart McKinnon, Chief Financial Officer  

 

  

RECOMMENDATION(S) TO COUNCIL 

1. That Council note that the capital expenditure carry forward values in the 

2021/22 Long Term Plan Budget will be increased by $2.44M, capital revenue will 

be increased by $562K and operational expenditure will be increased by $131K 

as per the details in Appendix 4 of this report. 

2. That Council note that capital expenditure carry forward values in the 2021/22 

Long Term Plan Budget relating to the three water reform funding will be 

increased by $1.74M, capital revenue will be increased by $1.74M, operational 

expenditure will be increased by $744K and operational revenue will be 

increased by $744K as per the details in Appendix 4 of this report. 

 

 

1. ISSUE 

To provide an update on the performance and financial achievements of the 

Council for the period ending 30 June 2021. 

2. BACKGROUND 

Details of operating and financial performance are included in the following 

sections. Reports are against the goals as detailed in the 10 Year Plan 2018-28. 

3. NEXT STEPS 

The next performance and financial report will be provided after the end of the 

September 2021 quarter. 

 

4. COMPLIANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 



 

 

P a g e  |    224 

IT
E
M

 1
6

 

Does the Council have delegated authority to decide? Yes 

Are the decisions significant? No 

If they are significant do they affect land or a body of water? No 

Can this decision only be made through a 10 Year Plan? No 

Does this decision require consultation through the Special 

Consultative procedure? 

No 

Is there funding in the current Annual Plan for these actions? No 

Are the recommendations inconsistent with any of Council’s policies or 

plans? 

No 

The recommendations contribute to Goal 5: A Driven and Enabling Council 

The recommendations contribute to the outcomes of the Driven and Enabling 

Council Strategy. 

The recommendations contribute to the achievement of action/actions in a plan 

under the Driven and Enabling Council Strategy 

The action is: to enable Council to exercise governance by reviewing financial 

performance and operating performance and provide accountability for these to 

the public. 

Contribution to 

strategic 

direction and to 

social, 

economic, 

environmental 

and cultural well-

being 

As above. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Quarterly Performance and Financial Report - Quarter Ending 30 

June 2021 - CE and Catalyst Report ⇩  

 

2. Quarterly Performance and Financial Report - Quarter Ending 30 

June 2021 - Performance Measures ⇩  

 

3. Quarterly Performance and Financial Report - Quarter Ending 30 

June 2021 - Supplementary Material ⇩  

 

4. Quarterly Performance and Financial Report - Quarter Ending 30 

June 2021 - Revision to carry forwards 2021-22 ⇩  

 

    

COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25747_1.PDF
COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25747_2.PDF
COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25747_3.PDF
COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25747_4.PDF
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Quarterly Report to Council – June 2021 
 

 
 

Chief Executive’s Quarterly Report to Council 
 

For June 2021 
 
 

Introduction 
 
It has been an extraordinary year with the advent of COVID-19 and the world wide effect of this virus.  Our 
budgets were adjusted based on predictions coming out of a nation-wide lockdown without knowledge of 
how the economy or our own finances would be affected and as such it has been a year of two 
halves.  With a 1.9% rates increase for the year and some early predicted budget overruns, we took a 
precautionary approach to our expenditure repressing salary increases and holding vacancies until we had 
a clearer picture of what lay ahead.  The economy bounced back more strongly than anticipated, including 
our revenue.  The fact that we have remained at Alert Level 1 has enabled our venues to operate at a 
capacity not predicted and development in the City is thriving.  The labour market across all highly skilled 
workforces and supply chains in the construction industry have been affected as demand has far exceeded 
supply.  The second half of the year has been one of readjusting to a much more dynamic market which has 
resulted in an uplift in expenditure including a greater investment into safety as we work to keep pace with 
these increasing demands.  

 
Financial 
 
For the 2021 financial year, our net operating position is $4M favourable against budget. This year 
operating revenue has exceeded predictions of the COVID-19 pandemic effect, increased revenue has come 
from; city development consenting, venues, parking, roading and recycling. City development consenting, 
venues and roading revenue is $4.5M higher than anticipated, although this increased revenue has been 
met with $4.1M of increased expenditure. 
 
In the final quarter, expenditure was accelerated following a precautionary approach in the first half of the 
year. This resulted in increased delivery of services in the final quarter. There was a large uptake of 
contracted services in roading, property, reserves and sports fields. Internally, increased expenditure was 
focused on adressing; digital strategic planning, staff training, remmuneration and substantial safety 
improvements. 
 
During the financial year the capital budget was increased by $13.9M (20%) from the annual plan. This 
significant increase to the revised budget is primarily due to three waters stimulus funding. The capital new 
programme delivered 107 projects over the course of the financial year. This resulted in expenditure of 
$39.9M against a revised budget of $55.5M. This outcome led to 72% of the capital new revised budget 
being spent compared with 46% the previous year. The capital renewal programme delivered 101 projects 
over the course of the financial year, resulting in expenditure of $23.3M (81%) spent against a revised 
budget of $28.8M.  
 
Carry forward capital works (excluding three water reform funded programmes) is requested to be 
increased by $2.44M, based on programmed works not able to be completed within the financial year. 
Growth programmes, which rely on third party development to occur contribute $2.1M of the carry 
forward total. Three water reform funded capital programme carry forwards are requested to be increased 
by $1.74M and operational expenditure to be increased by $744K. 
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Covid-19 recovery in New Zealand and ongoing global impacts particularly in supply chain and labour 
market pressures, continues to impact the deliverability of both the capital new programme and renewal 
programme. This can be seen in the financial results for the year and the programmes requiring carry 
forwards. The Capital Programme Deliverability Review presented by the Infrastructure Unit as part of the 
10 Year Plan deliberations has given a roadmap for changes in delivery mechanisms. This aims to minimise 
as much as possible the ongoing Covid related risks and issues such as supply chain, professional services 
and contractor availability.  
 
 
Safety and Health  
The quarter included two potential incident investigation due to gas line strikes (May and June) with the 
report finding shared with management and civil construction. The Arena, City Library, MRF and 
Wastewater Treatment plant all received ELT health and safety focused visits. This affords an opportunity 
for the business unit leaders to provide operational clarify and highlight what is going well and where they 
face challenges. Review and development work included permit to work, housekeeping checklists, lone 
worker assessment and standard operating procedures. Additional training over the period covered: 
PeopleSafe, Mental Wellbeing, permit to work and behavioural observation training for the ELT.  The 
SafePlus safety culture audit occurred over the span of a week in June, with auditor visiting multiple sites, 
including interviews with groups and individuals. Recruitment interviews for a Safety and Health Advisor 
was successful and the additional team member will start on the 23rd of August, bringing the total team 
number to four. 
 
Three Waters Reform 
 
The Government’s Three Waters Reform grant funding allocation, and our associated programme of works, 
is included in the above financial results across operational and capital renewal/new programmes.  To date 
$4.94 (53%) of the work has been delivered against the grant funded allocation of $9.34M, required to be 
spent by 31 March 2022.  Spending against the year to date budget is 62%, due to investigations and design 
work taking longer than expected. It is requested that carry forward of capital works be increased by 
$1.74M and operational expenditure be increased by $744K. This increase in capital and operational 
expenditure will be fully offset with additional capital revenue of $1.74M and operational revenue of 
$744K. 
 
External Fundraising 
 
Three sponsors for the 150th year celebrations were confirmed, contributing a total of $30,000. There has 
been an additional $18,000 confirmed as sponsorship for the 150th Gala Dinner from five businesses. $9,930 
has been secured for the Youth Space Longboard and Skateboard making project through Tu Manawa 
(Sport Manawatu). This project will take place in October 2021.  
 
 

10 Year Plan KPIs 
 
The graph shows that Council successfully achieved nearly 80% of its 
10 Year Plan KPIs this year.   
 
The predominant reason for this increase is external contractor 
shortages, overseas supply chain issues and staff vacancies.  These 
affected our ability to achieve the capital new and renewal work 
programmes. Despite this we increased our achievement of the 
capital new budget from 46% to 72%.   
 
Extra funding for 3 waters reform work was delivered primarily 
within existing staff resources added to the pressures on achieving 
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existing work programmes. These pressures are part of wider national and international trends expressed 
in other sections of this report.   
 
In order to address these issues Council is making improvements such as bundling together contracts to 
make them more attractive, ensuring that overseas materials are ordered early, and recruiting for staff 
vacancies.   

 
Catalyst projects 
 
Catalyst Projects are those that will make major contributions to our 10 Year Plan. Recent progress 
includes: 
 

• Work on the Entrance Plaza, Pits Relocation, and Southern & Western Embankment at the Central 

Energy Trust Arena is complete and a report on the project, including an independent audit report, 

is being prepared for Committee in August.  The Culture and Heritage / Signage and Fly Palmy 

Arena (Arena 2) works are also complete.  

• Work upgrading the Park Road Entrance at the Esplanade is progressing well and will be completed 
in July 2021, although the pedestrian overlay may be slightly delayed.  

• Officers are preparing the final draft of the Te Apiti – Gorge Masterplan for the Governance Group 

by the end of the calendar year. 

• A lot of work is underway so that a decision on the Wastewater BPO can be made in August.  This 

decision is needed to comply with the statutory requirements of resource consent conditions. The 

work includes engagement with Iwi, peer review studies, and comparative cost assessments. 

• The resource consent for the Whakarongo stormwater discharge has been lodged with 
Horizons.  Agreement was reached with all landowners on the design concept and no objections 
were raised about development contributions. Now detailed design work is underway. 

• Central Government has released its preferred option for the makeup of the proposed three waters 

entities. PN would be in an entity encompassing the east coast from Gisborne to Wellington, plus 

Horowhenua, Manawatu and the top of the South Island.  The Government also announced a $2.5B 

funding package to support the reforms, plus a further $500M to ensure no Council is worse off 

after the reforms.   

 

Now that the 2021 10 Year Plan has been adopted we will update the projects covered in the Catalyst 

Projects report.   

 
 
 
 
Heather Shotter 
Chief Executive 
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Financial Summary to Budget 
 

The following table of operating financial performance and graphs are compared to revised budget. 
 

 
 

Highlights: 

• Overall operating surplus was $4M favourable against revised budget. 

• The following variances contribute to the operating surplus: 
o City development consenting, venues and roading revenue $4.5M favourable 
o City development consenting, venues and roading expenditure $4.1M unfavourbale 
o Parking, recycling and animal control revenue $1.4M favourable 
o Te Huringa expenditure $2.1M favourable 
o Net interest expenditure $835K favourable 
o Three waters reform operational spending is $820K behind, which results in revenue 

being $820K lower than anticipated 
 

• Accelerated expenditure within the final quarter includes: 
o Significant contracted services on roading, property, reserves and sports fields 
o Digital strategic planning and software licencing 
o Substantial safety improvement and staff training 
o Remuneration increases in some areas 

 

• Non-operating expenses are significantly favourable due to a change in the valuation of swaps.  
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• Higher revenue comes from building services, planning services, NZTA, venues, parking, waste 

management and dog registration fees.  

• Building services, planning services, venues and NZTA increased revenue has additional expenditure 
attached.  

 

 
• Expenses overbudget due to increased expenditure associated with higher revenue 
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Major Capital New Programmes Behind Budget 

Programme Name 
Reason for 
Delay 

Variance to 
Budget Comments 

902-Property - Seismic 
Strengthening of Council 
Properties 

Contractor  $1,630K 

The contractor development of the design for the 
Crematorium has taken longer than anticipated, which has 
led to a delay to the starting of tender process.  The Tender 
report is to be presented to Council in August, with 
construction to commence thereafter. 

91-Turitea Water 
Treatment Plant - 
Construction of 
Duplicate Water 
Pipeline 

Scope change $1,390K 

New main and rider main has been installed, disinfected 
and pressure tested. The commissioning plan to be 
commenced with project on track for completion mid 
August. Programme expected to be achieved under budget. 

651-City-wide - Water 
Supply Resilience - 
Seismic Strengthening 

 Contractor $1,060K 
Design delay and contractor availability means expected 
construction start is mid-September.  

1559-City-wide - Urban 
Cycle Infrastructure 
Network Improvements 

Extended 
stakeholder 
engagement 

$770K 
Due to extended stakeholder engagement in 20/21 has 
meant that it is proposed to carry forward the programme 
budget to enable construction to occur 21/22. 

144-Urban Growth - 
Whakarongo - Reserves 
Land Purchases 

Development 
Dependant 

$650K 
Growth Programme. Due to the delay in forecast 
subdivision development, the purchase of reserves planned 
for the area has not proceeded. 

1413-Bunnythorpe 
Community Facility 

Commencement 
of construction 

$590K 
Delay in the commencement of construction has meant 
that facility now expected to be complete in first quarter 
2021. 
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Major Capital Renewal Programmes Behind Budget 

Programme Name 
Reason for 
Delay 

Variance 
to Budget Comments 

115-City-wide - 
Sealed Pavement 
Renewals (Waka 
Kotahi Subsidies) 

Contractor 
Availability 

$1,000K 

The progress of this programme was dependent on both 
favourable weather conditions and contractor availability. 
Unfortunately, due to the wetter than expected weather, several 
projects could not be completed in the 20/21 year. The Fulton 
Hogan contract is now in place. They plan to complete this work 
early this financial year. 

207-Turitea WTP - 
Equipment and 
Facility Renewals 

Internal 
Resourcing 

$720K 
Pressure on internal resourcing delayed the start and progress of 
this programme. This has now been addressed and physical work 
is progressing.  

54-City-wide - 
Wastewater Pipe 
Renewal 

Contractor 
Availability 

$460K 

Due to contactor equipment failure earlier in the year, the 
realigning contract was delayed while this was rectified.  
Unsuitable weather also delayed completion; however, the 
contactors are onsite, and work is nearing an end. 

179-Totara Road 
Wastewater 
Treatment Plant - 
Minor Equipment 
Renewals 

Contractor 
Availability 

$320K 

A number of the projects planned in this programme conflicted 
with the seismic work being undertaken on the pre-sedimentation 
tanks. The seismic work is now complete. Work on the 
sedimentation tank recommenced in June.  

199-City-wide - 
Water Supply Bore 
and Network 
Facility Renewals 

Internal 
Resourcing 

$300K 
After initial internal resourcing issues caused delays, work has 
commenced on this programme of work  

1620-Totara Road 
Wastewater 
Treatment Plant - 
High Voltage Power 
renewals 

Rescope $300K 
Project required rescope and redesign due to requirement for 
structural support in the existing boiler room.  Design has now 
been completed. 
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• Advanced funding received 20/11/20 = $4.67M 

• Second Instalment funding invoiced 29/4/21 = $2.42M 

• 75% of the YTD Delivery Plan budget has been spent 
 

 
 

Programme Name  Reason for delay Comments 

2169 Totara Road WWTP - 
Replacement of Inlet Pumps  

Manufacturer Issue  
No.1 pump sent back to manufacturers. Once 
resolved and commissioned, removal and 
replacement of No 4 pump should take 3 weeks 

2043 Turitea WTP Actuator Project Long lead time for order 
Actuators due on site 15 July. Redesign of 
cabinets following SID visit to fit space available 

2428 Turitea WTP Clearwater Roof 
Replacement 

Contractor’s Capacity 
Contractor to start with design July 2021: 8 - 10 
weeks for completion 

 
 



 

P a g e  |    233 

IT
E
M

 1
6

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  
 

 

6
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P a g e  |    235 

IT
E
M

 1
6

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  
 

 

8 
 

 

 
• Actual $166M compared to revised budget of $184M   

• Weighted average cost of borrowing estimated at 2.9% (budget cost of borrowing 3.4%). 
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10 Year Plan Catalyst Projects Monthly Update to 30 June 2021  
 

City Centre Transformation Catalyst Projects   

   What happened in June   Alerts (if any)  What’s Next   

‘Streets for People’ 

(City Centre 

Streetscape Plan 

and Redesign)  

  

  

Quantity Surveyor (QS) high level 

costing report complete for all 

remaining streets. Technical 

concept design reviewed by 

PNCC technical officers. Co-

design with Rangitāne initiated.  

 Wider stakeholder engagement in 

remaining areas. Consider QS report. 

Continue co-design of streetscape / 

landscape with Rangitāne designer.  

Te Manawa 2025 

Redevelopment/ 

Central Library (Civic 

Master Plan) 

ARUP appointed as preferred 

supplier for masterplan.  

 
Develop civic and cultural precinct 

masterplan.  

Central Energy Trust 

Arena Masterplan 

and projects 

  

Entrance Plaza, Pits Relocation, 

and Southern & Western 

Embankment: The project is now 

complete.   

 

Culture and Heritage/ Signage: 

The project is now complete.   

 

Fly Palmy Arena (Arena 2): The 

project works are complete and 

the venue is fully operational. 

Council Officers now are awaiting 

the final sign-off report from the 

external fire engineer.   

Grandstand Funding: This 

project is reliant on external 

funding. Fund raising is 

currently on hold, but the 

project is in the adopted 10 

YP in years 3-6.  

 

 

Entrance Plaza, Pits Relocation, and 

Southern & Western Embankment:  

The project close-out and financial 

report is being finalised and is to be 

presented to Council, along with an 

independent audit report for the 

project, in August 2021. 

 

Final minor defect works are being 

completed. 

Heritage Protection 

Package   
Funding provided for protecting 

158 The Square (new roof).    

  Continue to promote the fund.   

  
  

Manawatu River Network Catalyst Projects   

  What happened in June  Alerts (if any)  What’s Next   

Victoria Esplanade 

Masterplan and 

projects   

    

Park Road Entrance:  

The construction on site is 

progressing well.  

 

 

Wayfinding:  Wayfinding Strategy 

work progressed, aligned to Palmy 

branding, and is close to 

completion.   

 

Note: Construction of the 

Shade/Bonsai House and 

replacement of Exotic Aviaries 

have been deferred to year 4 of 

the 10 Year Plan.     

  

Park Road entrance: A 

small carry forward 

into 2021/22 as not all 

works were completed 

in the financial year. 

 

 

 

 

 

Park Road entrance: The construction 

works are expected to be completed by 

the end of July 2021.  There is some risk 

of the pedestrian overlay being delayed. 

 

Wayfinding strategy: Begin the roll out of 

new wayfinding signs. 

 

 
Victoria Esplanade Masterplan 

Implementation Communication Plan: 

Review the development programme. 

 

Propagation glasshouses renewal (in yard 

behind conservatory/ Wildbase Recovery): 

Initiate project with replacement to span 

21/22 and 22/23 years. 

 

Manawaroa St Pedestrian Entrance 

enhancement: initiate project. 
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Manawatū River 

Shared Pathway 

(Ashhurst to City)  

An Elected Member briefing will be held in August 

Te Apiti Biodiversity 

and Recreation   

   

Working on a draft of the 

Masterplan.   

 

Technical workshop completed 

with Health Research Council, 

Manawatu District Council, 

Tararua District Council & 

Department of Conservation staff. 

 
Final draft of Masterplan to be considered 

by Te Apiti Manawatu Gorge Governance 

Group by December 2021.  

 

NZTA work is ongoing into the future use 

of the old Gorge Road. 

Manawatu River 

Framework 

(including Ahimate 

Park)  

  

Cultural: The old shed on site at 

Marae Tarata will be leased to as 

to Rangitāne, to accommodate a 

carving workshop, subject to 

them obtaining resource consent.  

 

Riverside cycle activities: 
Planning underway for more track 

development, and another skills 

area.  

 

Exercise equipment: The design 

work progressed. There are now 

three full concepts deployed in 

computer-aided design for 

construction.  

 

Victoria Esplanade river 

entranceway: Concrete is 

complete up to the Rail ticket 

booth, pagoda is up, all drainage 

is in place. 

 

Turitea Pa site: Fabrication is 

underway.  

   

Wayfinding: All ‘slow down’ signs 

are made and ready to install. 

Subway maps being finalised. 

Stencils are in production.  

 

Albert Street Tree Forts: New 

forts design is now complete. 

 
Cultural: Property Group engaged to 

complete a resource consent application. 

 

 

 

 

Riverside cycle activities: Finalise plan. 

 

 

 

 

Exercise equipment: Complete the design 

work. 

 

 

 

 

Victoria Esplanade river entranceway: To 

be completed and blessed at same time 

as Cook St/Park Rd intersection upgrade.  

 

 

 

Turitea Pa site: Complete all fabrication 

work ready for installation.  

 

Wayfinding: Installation of a map system 

trial and the ground markings.  

 

 

 

Albert Street Tree Forts: Ready for 

building in the new financial year  

Te Motu o Poutoa   

 
  

Development of the design scope 

has progressed at pace, via the 

working group 

  Briefing planned to bring Council up to 

speed on the preliminary thinking of the 

working group to date. Assessment of the 

design process to identify key briefing 

points for both partners – Rangitāne and 

Council.  

 
 



 

P a g e  |    238 

IT
E
M

 1
6

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
1

 

  
 

 

11 
 

Sustainable Growth Catalyst Projects   

  What happened in June  Alerts (if any)  What’s Next   

Wastewater 

Treatment Plant 

Upgrade  

  

 

Project Steering Group (PSG) and 

Project Technical Team meetings 

occurred as scheduled.          

         

Engagement with Iwi continued.  

Including hui with Rangitāne and 

Raukawa, occurring to support the 

delivery of Maori Values Assessment 

& MCA.    

      

BPO Assessment criteria further 

refined with peer review from 

Simpson Grierson (legal advisors). 

  

Objectives Assessment and Eco-

Strategy Assessment completed.    

       

Carbon Analysis Complete and peer 

reviewer appointed to review this. 

    

Peer review for the land-based 

discharge options progressed to 

completion.   

     

Peer Review of costs for shortlist 

options completed and subsequently 

the shortlist options updated for the 

BPO Assessment process. 

  

Comparative cost assessment 

completed (to inform BPO 

assessment) 

      

Stakeholder and Community 

Engagement Assessment report 

completed.  

   

Council briefing on the BPO 

Assessment process undertaken. 

   

Liaison with Horizons Regional 

Council regarding extension of 

time/variation to BPO decision. 

  

Feedback received from legal 

advisors on Local Government Act 

consultation requirements received. 

  

Testing for emerging contaminants in 

wastewater continued.       

A decision by Council on 

the BPO is required in 

August in order to meet 

statutory requirements of 

resource consent 

conditions.  

Prepare summary report of the 

review feedback for land-based 

discharge, outlining a final 

outcome & next steps document. 

 

Ongoing testing of trade waste 

discharges in wastewater 

network. 

 

Finalise the Planning Assessment 

with input from Rangitāne values 

assessment.  

 

Incorporate Māori values 

assessment (Rangitāne) and MCA 

(Raukawa), Iwi into the BPO 

assessment process. 

 

Assess potential BPO options 

against the BPO Criteria to 

identify preferred option. 

 

Peer review of all BPO assessment 

reports and BPO Recommend-

ation Report (by legal advisors). 

 

Council workshops as part of BPO 

recommendation process.   

 

Report to Council on final 

Recommended BPO.  

 

Stakeholder engagement and 

communications material to be 

prepared to report on BPO 

outcome. 

 

Develop Budget for new Financial 

Year.  To be confirmed upon 

decision on BPO. 

 

Performance review of technical 

consultants to determine if the 

next phase of project will be 

awarded (extension of contract), 

to continue with Stantec.   
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Sustainable Growth Catalyst Projects   

  What happened in June  Alerts (if any)  What’s Next   

Regional 

Ringroad, Rail, 

Airport and multi-

modal 

infrastructure to 

enable Longburn 

and NEIZ 

industrial growth 

Council evidence lodged for KiwiRail 

Freight Hub Hearing.  

 

Finalising Central NZ Distribution 

Hub (CNZDH) Strategy. 

 

Confirmed CNZDH and PNITI 

reference and steering groups. 

Gaps in KiwiRail proposal 

that will need to be 

addressed by KiwiRail at 

the hearing.  

Hold KiwiRail Notice of 

Requirement hearing. 

 

Confirm CNZDH strategy. 

 

First meeting of CNZDH and PNITI 

reference and steering groups 

 

Infrastructure for 

Residential 

Growth:   
Whakarongo,   
Aokautere, City 

West   
Urban 

Intensification,   
Ashhurst  

 

Tamakuku Terrace, Whakarongo: 

Earthworks and civil works 

progressing well and to plan and 

programme.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aokautere: Finalising structure plan.  

Hearing on designation to secure 

Abbey Road connection to Johnstone 

Drive approved – and then 

appealed.    
  
Kakatangiata: Investigation stage 

completed.  Preferred option 

released to landowners. 
  

Ashhurst: Technical analysis to 

inform District Plan Change.   
  

 

Roxburgh Crescent: Technical 

analysis to inform District Plan 

Change.   
 

Tamakuku Terrace, 

Whakarongo:  Council is 

working with Horizons to 

obtain a global consent for 

stormwater for the entire 

Whakarongo growth area.  

Obtaining resource 

consent for Stage 2 of the 

development cannot 

proceed until the required 

global consent is 

approved. 

 

Aokautere: Abbey Road 

connection to Johnstone 

Drive has been appealed.    

 

Tamakuku Terrace, Whakarongo: 

A public open day proposed in 

September 2021. The public 

section sales process will also 

begin in September 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aokautere: Finalise Plan Change 

and report to Council in 

September 2021. 
 

 

 

Kakatangiata Analysis continues 
  

 

Ashhurst: Technical analysis and 

consultation to inform District 

Plan Change.  Report to Council in 

October 2021. 
  
Roxburgh Crescent: Finalise Plan 

Change and report to Council in 

October 2021. 

City-wide 

Stormwater 

Management  

  

 

Whakarongo: Resource Consent for 

stormwater discharge lodged with 

Horizons on 12th July 2021. 

Agreement has been reached with all 

landowners on concept design. No 

objection was received in relation to 

development contribution that was 

distributed to all stakeholders. 

   

Stormwater Management   

Framework: Work on the framework 

is revived. A new engagement been 

finalised to kick-start the 

continuation of the final phase.   

 

 Whakarongo: A work programme 

for detailed design will be 

advanced immediately. Site visit 

to refine the alignment and soil 

investigation works for the 

downstream channel 

improvement works are on-going.    

 

 

Stormwater Management 

Framework: Review and finalise 

the draft document and proceed 

with stakeholder consultation. 

This will be reported to Council 
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Sustainable Growth Catalyst Projects   

  What happened in June  Alerts (if any)  What’s Next   

 

 

 

Stormwater Capital and Renewal: 

Programme of works for 21/22 is 

finalised, working together with the 

design team on design briefs and 

deliverables. Stormwater renewal of 

Botanical Rd is on-going.   

 

Pump stations: Some of the carry 

forwards works from last financial 

year is close to completion. 

 

 

 

once completed in the 2nd quarter 

of the 21/22 FY.  

 

Stormwater Capital and Renewal: 

Some big improvement projects 

such as Gasworks Dr 

improvement and piping of the 

Jamiesons Dr will be tendered 

out.  

 

Pump station: Investigation 

Engineers are investigating the 

scope of the programme for this 

financial year. The procurement 

plan is being advanced for pumps 

and other mechanical equipment.  

 

City-wide water 

supply, source and 

storage 

development  

 

 

Turitea Duplicate Water Main:  

The final 250 metres of pipe has 

been installed. Pressure testing is 

complete. Rider main connections 

are being completed prior to the last 

cross connection to the existing 

main. 

 

Papaioea Park Bore 3: Installation 

and commissioning of the UV is 

complete. Compliance reporting has 

been set up and the format 

approved by the Drinking Water 

Assessor. Inspection of the bore has 

revealed some damage which is 

likely to be causing sand ingress.  

 

Railway Road Bore: Construction of 

the walls for the Pump Station and 

Chemical Building completed. Pumps 

have been installed in the Pump 

Station building.  A draft plan was 

received from KiwiRail proposing a 

land swap with Council at the bore 

site to facilitate access for trains past 

the bore site.  

 

Ashhurst Rising Main Renewal Stage 

3A: Physical works complete. 

Reinstatement and as-built drawings 

only remaining work to be done.  

 Turitea Duplicate Water Main:  

Commissioning of the new 

duplicate main. 

 

 

 

 

Papaioea Park Bore 3: Visual 

inspection and construction 

records will be reviewed prior to 

discussion with the company that 

drilled the bore.   

 

 

 

 

Railway Road Bore: Re-design for 

gravity sewer without using pump 

chamber underway. Preparations 

being made for roofing and 

equipping of buildings. Need final 

designs and costs for access road 

and fencing to enable site to be 

fully commissioned. Continue 

discussions with KiwiRail about 

site and land swaps and offsets.  

 

Ashhurst Rising Main Renewal 

Stage 3A:  Finish reinstatement, 

create as-built drawings and close 

out finances.   
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  Major Internal Projects  

   What happened in June  Alerts (if any)  What’s Next   

Three Waters Model  
 

  

Following consultation across 

the country with local 

government and iwi, and 

analysis of RFI submissions 

across the country, the 

Government released its 

preferred option for multi-

region public owned 3 water 

service delivery entities.  High 

level decisions about the 

number of entities, the 

boundaries, their organisation 

form and governance have been 

provided. 

Palmerston North is proposed 

to be in one of 4 entities 

encompassing the east coast 

from Gisborne to Wellington 

Region, Horowhenua, 

Manawatu and Palmerston 

North, and the top of the South 

Island.  

Participation in the reform 

process to date, enabled a 

$9.34M grant to Council for 3 

Waters infrastructure 

investment (Nov 2020 to 31 

March 2022).  The programme 

of work for expenditure of this 

grant funding is progressing 

well – as outlined separately in 

this report. 

All information on the reform 

process and associated reports 

are available on the DIA website 

(Three Waters Reform 

Programme - dia.govt.nz) 

 Release of Government’s decision 

on future direction for 3 Waters 

Reform and a $2.5B support 

package was outlined at LGNZ 

Conference in Blenheim mid-July 

2021.  A total of $500M is 

allocated to ensure no Council is 

worse off as a result of the 

reforms, and $2B for Councils to 

invest in the future for local 

government, urban development, 

and the wellbeing of 

communities.  The $2B allocation 

is based on population (75%), 

relative deprivation (20%) and 

land area (5%), of which 

Palmerston North’s allocation is 

$32.63M. 

The Manawatu-Whanganui 

Regional Service Delivery Review 

work has been discontinued as a 

result of the reform process. 
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Supplementary Material for June 2021 Quarterly Report 
 

1. Groups of activities net result statement 
2. Capital expenditure by funding source and Group of Activities 
3. Capital expenditure by Programme (Programmes over $200,000) 
4. Capital expenditure by Programme (Programmes under $200,000) 
5. Financial Statements 

a. Summary of financial performance 
b. Statement of financial position  
c. Statement of cash flows  

6. Approved variations to Annual Budget 
7. Personnel 
8. Councillor Training 

 
  



 

P a g e  |    273 

IT
E
M

 1
6

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
3

 

  

Attachment 1 – Groups of Activities Net Result Statement 

 
Group of Activities Budget variance explanations (net $600k or more) 

• Innovative and Growing City has significantly increased revenue in building and planning services. 

The has also caused an increase in expenditure. 

• Transport has favourable net revenue within parking and roading.  

• Wastewater has decreased revenue due to slower progress than anticipated in the operational 

programs of the three-water reform funding. Increased expenditure due to additional work 

required on consent renewals.  

• Driven & Enabling Council has significantly lower expenditure due to slower progress than 

anticipated on Te Huringa. 

Group of Activities Budget variance explanations (revenue and expenses $800k or more) 

• Creative & Exciting City has increased revenue coming from venues although this is offset by 

increased expenditure.  

  



 

P a g e  |    274 

IT
E
M

 1
6

 -
 A

TT
A

C
H

M
E
N

T 
3

 

  

Attachment 2 – Capital expenditure by funding source and Group of Activities 
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Attachment 4 –Capital expenditure by Programme (programmes under $200,000)  
 
 
The following table highlights spend against budget of the programmes with budgets less than 
$200,000. 
 

 

Activity-Programme Name YTD 
Actuals($000) 

Total 
Budget($000) 

Variance($000) Status 

CAPITAL NEW 

Transport 

114-City-wide - New Cycle Stands and Shelters $10 $18 $8   

148-City-wide - Bus Stop Improvements $66 $64 ($2)   

235-Manawatu River (Ashhurst to Riverside Drive) - 
Cycle/Pedestrian Pathway( 1225-C/fwd - Manawatu 
River (Ashhurst to ) 

$122 $150 $29   

1039-Shared Path Connection - Riverside Drive to 
Railway Road 

- $33 $33   

1095-Palmerston North to Bunnythorpe Shared 
Path 

$12 $102 $91   

1125-Park Road (from Fitzherbert Avenue to 
Katene Street) - Cycle/Pedestrian Improvements 

$5 $53 $48   

1155-City-wide - Street Seats $11 $11 $1   

1216-City-wide - Additional Cycle Lanes( 1652-
C/fwd - City-wide - Additional Cycl ) 

$83 $104 $22   

1257-City-wide - Cycle Phases at Intersections( 
1653-C/fwd - City-wide - Cycle Phases at ) 

- $42 $42   

1361-Turitea Road - Pedestrian Path/Steps( 1647-
C/fwd - Turitea Road - Pedestrian P ) 

$84 $84 ($0)   

163-City-wide - New Street Tree Planting $85 $90 $5   

167-James Line (Schnell Dr to Kelvin Grove Rd) -  
Improvements ( 1651-C/fwd - Urban Growth - 
Whakarongo - ) 

$28 $119 $91   

719-College Street - Implementation Plan for 
Transport Upgrade 

$17 $37 $20   

910-Ferguson Street (Linton Street to Pitt Street) - 
Road Widening and Traffic Signal Installation 

$110 $150 $40   

1003-Whakarongo - Intersection Upgrades( 1641-
C/fwd - Urban Growth - Whakarongo - ) 

- $100 $100   

1089-NEIZ - Richardsons Line Upgrade( 1603-
C/fwd - Industrial Growth - NEIZ -  ) 

$60 $150 $90   

1183-Stoney Creek Road (School) Safety Upgrade( 
1658-C/fwd - Stoney Creek Road (School)  ) 

$39 $34 ($5)   

1615-City-wide - Parking and Traffic Signs and 
Marking( 1674-C/fwd - City Wide - Parking and Tra ) 

$27 $40 $13   

Active Community 

93-City Reserves - Memorial Park Reserve 
Development Plan Implementation( 1583-C/fwd - 
City Reserves - Memorial Pa ) 

$166 $149 ($17)   

95-Walkways and Shared Path - Construction $69 $72 $3   

111-Local Reserves - Roslyn - Edwards Pit Park 
Development 

$30 $31 $0   

158-City-wide - Safety Improvements to Reserves $35 $35 -   

160-City-wide - Improved Access to Reserves for 
Persons with Disabilities 

$38 $38 -   

165-Outdoor Adventure Reserves - Arapuke Forest 
Park/Kahuterawa Development 

$73 $65 ($8)   

196-Caccia Birch - Lagoon Embankment Upgrade( 
1649-C/fwd - Caccia Birch - Lagoon Emban ) 

$88 $88 $0   

558-Urban Growth - Local Reserves - Takaro - 
Oriana Reserve Development( 1634-C/fwd - 
Neighbourhood Reserves - Ta ) 

- $80 $80   
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560-Cultural/Heritage Reserves - Te Motu o Poutoa 
/ Anzac Park Reserve Development( 925-C/fwd - 
Cultural/Heritage Reserves - ) 

$64 $60 ($4)   

587-Neighbourhood Reserves - Kelvin Grove - 
Linklater Reserve Development 

$112 $113 $0   

697-Clearview Reserve Development( 761-C/fwd - 
Clearview Reserve Developmen ) 

- $31 $31   

708-Urban Growth - Aokautere - Reserves Land 
Purchase 

- $34 $34   

716-Urban Growth - Whakarongo - Walkways Land 
Purchases 

$2 $150 $148   

967-City-wide - Edibles Planting $5 $5 ($0)   

1097-Sportsfields - Drainage to Increased Capacity $88 $89 $0   

1099-Parks and Reserves - Shade Development $26 $28 $2   

1127-City Reserves - Victoria Esplanade - Bonsai & 
Shade House 

$9 $80 $72   

1175-City-wide - Shade Trees $10 $10 $0   

1182-City-wide - Recreation spaces - Improved 
Lighting 

$21 $21 -   

1407-Vacated Bowling Club Land - Conversion to 
Other Uses 

- $10 $10   

1439-Culture/Heritage - Urban Eels Project 
Contribution 

($9) - $9   

1454-City Reserves - Victoria Esplanade 
Development Plan 

$62 $61 ($1)   

1523-Ashhurst Pool Enhancements $147 $145 ($2)   

1622-Central Energy Trust Arena Manawatu - New 
Truss 

$101 $100 ($1)   

Creative & Exciting City 

1330-Placemaking Co-created Project (capital) $14 $15 $1   

1476-City Centre Laneways Programme $71 $70 ($0)   

Connected & Safe Community 

107-Cemeteries - Kelvin Grove - Ash Plot 
developments and Childrens area extension 

$62 $68 $6   

133-Cemeteries - Kelvin Grove - New Burial 
Sections Footpaths and Roading Extension 

$53 $44 ($9)   

147-Cemeteries - Kelvin Grove, Ashhurst and 
Bunnythorpe - New Burial Berms 

$42 $125 $83   

1196-Cemeteries - Kelvin Grove - Renewal of staff 
facilities  

$7 $5 ($1)   

Driven & Enabling Council 

60-Information Management Strategic Plan Project - 
New Software Applications 

$1 $16 $15   

1187-PNCC Website Customisation $12 $25 $14   

1676-Improve participation in Council and 
Committee meetings 

$4 $80 $76   

99-New Vehicles and Plant to enable the delivery of 
improved Council services  

$190 $185 ($6)   

Eco-City 

506-City-wide - Public Space Rubbish & Recycling 
Bins Development 

$38 $40 $2   

657-Urban Growth - Recycling - City-wide Wheelie 
Bins and Crates 

$66 $57 ($9)   

721-Awapuni Closed Landfill - Landscaping 
Development 

$15 $17 $2   

1371-Closed Landfills and Transfer Stations - 
Safety, Security and Development 

$199 $151 ($47)   

1373-City-wide - Recycling Drop Off Facilities - 
Development  

$71 $78 $7   

1077-Citywide - Biodiversity Enhancement Through 
Native Planting 

$18 $21 $2   

1451-Property - LED Lighting Upgrades $63 $61 ($1)   

1410-Recycling - City-wide Recycling Services to 
Commercial/orgnisational Properties Development 

$41 $32 ($8)   

Stormwater 
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51-Urban Growth - Development Contributions - 
Stormwater 

$35 $151 $116   

197-Urban Growth - NEIZ - Stormwater ( 1602-
C/fwd - Urban Growth - North East I ) 

- $100 $100   

Wastewater 

73-Urban Growth - Development Contributions - 
Wastewater 

- $103 $103   

210-Urban Growth - NEIZ - Wastewater( 1625-
C/fwd - Urban Growth - Installation ) 

$19 $100 $81   

1000-Urban Growth - Whakarongo - Wastewater( 
1659-C/fwd - Urban Growth - Whakarongo - ) 

($39) - $39   

1043-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - 
Inlet Main Duplication( 1624-C/fwd - Totara Road 
Wastewater Trea ) 

- $160 $160   

1048-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - 
Construction of New Food Waste Facilities( 1660-
C/fwd - Totara Road Wastewater Trea ) 

$193 $173 ($20)   

1412-Urban Growth - Ashhurst - Wastewater( 1627-
C/fwd - Urban Growth - Ashhurst - W ) 

$20 $20 ($0)   

1616-City-wide - Wastewater Pump Station - 
Capacity Upgrade 

$87 $100 $13   

1617-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - 
Biogas System Improvements 

$98 $150 $52   

1677-Upsizing of Kairanga Bunnythorpe Road 
Sewer and Storage 

$0 $50 $50   

1688-Three Waters Resilience - Installing Telemetry $4 $140 $136   

1689-Three Waters Data Centre Upgrade $128 $160 $32   

Water 

124-Turitea WTP - Drinking Water Standards 
Upgrades 

- $50 $50   

1004-Urban Growth - Whakarongo - Water Supply( 
1285-C/fwd - Urban Growth - Whakarongo - ) 

- $100 $100   

1005-Urban Growth - NEIZ - Water Supply( 1286-
C/fwd - Urban Growth - Installation ) 

$20 $100 $80   

1386-MOVED - Ashhurst - Water Supply Upgrade $60 $63 $3   

1607-City-wide - Health & Safety - Water Treatment 
Chemical Handling 

$60 $60 $0   

CAPITAL RENEWAL 

Transport 

648-City-wide - Supporting Cycle Infrastructure 
Renewals 

$9 $11 $2   

74-City-wide - Street Light Renewals $96 $141 $45   

82-Off-street Parking Renewals $8 $15 $7   

155-City-wide - Street Tree Renewals $64 $61 ($3)   

162-City-wide - Vehicle Crossing Renewals $101 $100 ($1)   

1443-City-wide - Road Drainage Replacements 
(Unsubsidised) 

$53 $123 $70   

Creative & Exciting City 

174-City-wide - Replacement of Furniture on 
Reserves 

$86 $83 ($3)   

177-City-wide - Replacement of Gardens on 
Reserves 

$31 $32 $1   

182-City-wide - Restoration of Waterways on 
Reserves 

$10 $10 -   

184-Walkways and Shared Paths - Refurbishments 
and Replacements 

$43 $47 $4   

190-City-wide - Replacement of Trees on Reserves $25 $13 ($12)   

195-City-wide - Renewal of Hardsurface Areas on 
Reserves 

$142 $142 ($0)   

257-Sportsfields and Outdoor courts - 
Fitzherbert/Manawaroa/Ongley Parks - Cricket 
Block Replacements 

$32 $32 $0   

258-City-wide - Refurbishment and Replacement of 
Boundary Fences on Reserves 

$36 $47 $11   
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267-Sportsfields and Outdoor Courts - 
Fitzherbert/Manawaroa/Ongley Parks - Cricket 
Wicket Renovations 

$17 $13 ($4)   

269-Sportsfields and Outdoor Courts - Vautier Park 
- Synthetic Court Refurbishments (Plexipave) 

$45 $46 $1   

598-Aquatics - Freyberg Community Pool - Asset 
Renewals 

$20 $20 $0   

819-Central Energy Trust Arena - Replacement of 
Equipment 

$43 $45 $2   

1474-City-wide - Renewal of park buildings and 
structures 

$14 $8 ($6)   

1490-I-Site LED screen renewal ($2) - $2   

Connected & Safe Community 

37-Cemeteries - Terrace End - Site Enhancements $17 $19 $2   

178-City Library (all sites) Replacement of Shelving, 
Furniture and Equipment( 1671-C/fwd - Central 
Library Replacement ) 

$117 $90 ($27)   

180-Social Housing - Renewals $114 $148 $35   

186-Public Toilets - Renewals $30 $121 $90   

203-Community Libraries, Youth Space, Blueprint 
and Mobile Library Interior Design Renewals( 1670-
C/fwd - Interior Design of Communit ) 

$63 $62 ($1)   

278-Cemeteries - Kelvin Grove - Roading and 
Footpath Refurbishment 

$26 $38 $12   

567-Cemeteries - Crematorium Chapel Interior 
Renewals 

- $66 $66   

1138-Digital Technology to Support 21st Century 
Citizens and Service (Renewal) 

$15 $15 $0   

1151-City Libraries - Building Security System 
Renewal 

$33 $31 ($1)   

1269-Bylaw Signage - Replacement - $6 $6   

Driven & Enabling Council 

58-Network Additions and Upgrades $32 $42 $9   

68-Aerial Photography $22 $28 $6   

86-Property - Furniture Replacements $139 $138 ($1)   

272-Staff Cafeteria - Replacement of Equipment $6 $6 ($0)   

318-Telecommunications Replacement - Council 
Buildings 

$11 $156 $146   

784-Replacement of Council's 
Photocopiers/Printers( 1672-C/fwd - Replacement 
of Council's Ph ) 

$22 $61 $40   

1512-CCTV replacements - $31 $31   

80-Council Small Mobile Plant and Equipment - 
Replacement 

$173 $174 $1   

85-Depot - Buildings and Structures Renewals $39 $90 $51   

Innovative & Growing City 

251-Conference & Function Centre - Replacement 
of Equipment 

$34 $36 $2   

270-Holiday Park - Renewals $156 $180 $24   

664-Conference & Function Centre - Renewals $5 $13 $8   

1166-Conference & Function Centre - Equipment 
Purchases 

$71 $71 $0   

Eco-City 

185-Closed Landfills and Transfer Stations - Site 
Renewals 

$53 $92 $39   

612-Recycling - City-wide Wheelie Bin and Crate 
Renewals 

$58 $60 $2   

1368-City-wide - Public Space Rubbish & Recycling 
Bins Renewals 

$15 $15 $0   

1374-City-wide - Recycling Drop Off Facilities - 
Renewals 

$4 $8 $4   

Wastewater 

1351-Eastern Trunk Main - Hokowhitu Campus 
Renewal 

$16 $142 $126   
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1693-PS Telemetry unit compatibilty upgrade $0 $50 $50   

Water 

1058- City-wide - Groundwater Bores Renewal $10 $60 $50   

1063- Turitea WTP - SCADA Renewals $73 $86 $13   

1385-Water Telemetry Disaster Resilience 
Additional Microwave Link( 1662-C/fwd - Water 
Telemetry Disaster Re ) 

$133 $129 ($4)   
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Attachment 5 – Financial Statements  
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Attachment 7 – Approved variations to Annual Budget  
 
After the 2020/21 Annual Budget was approved, the following changes were authorised by Council. 
These also impacted the debt levels. 
 

Profit ad Loss $000 

Annual Budget Net Surplus/(Deficit) Before Tax (3,607) 

Changes authorised by Council:  

Adjust budget for capital revenue as a result of carry forwards 384 

S17A Review of Economic Development (15) 

Bi Election (151) 

Three waters DIA funded projects Revenue 7,956 

Three waters DIA funded projects Expediture  (1,040) 

Additional Funding Revenue – Programme 1534 130 

Additional Expenditure – Maori Wards Option (30) 

 

Capital Expenditure Programme $000 

Annual Budget total capital expenditure  70,465 

Changes authorised by Council:   

Adjust budget carry forwards to 
actual 

 3,822 

Three Waters DIA funded 
projects 

 6,916 

Greens Road land acquisition 94 Walkways and Shared Path - Purchase 
of Land to Extend Network 

27 

Bunnythorpe Community Facility 234 - Sportsfields and Outdoor Courts -  
Changing Room Refurbishments 

(258) 

Bunnythorpe Community Facility 1413 - Bunnythorpe Community Facility 365 

Additional funding required  201 - City-wide - Roading Subdivision 
Contributions 

320 

Additional funding required 51 - City-wide - Stormwater Subdivision 
Contributions 

100 

Additional funding required 1005 - Industrial Growth - Installation of 
Water Supply Systems to an Expanded 
North East Industrial Zone 

100 

Additional funding required 210 - Urban Growth - Installation of 
Wastewater Systems for New Industrial 
Areas - NEIZ Extension Area 

100 

Additional funding required 197 - Urban Growth - North East Industrial 
Park Stormwater 

100 

Additional funding required 1089 - Industrial Growth - NEIZ - 
Richardsons Line Upgrade 

150 

Additional funding required 1001 - Urban Growth - Whakarongo - 
Installation of Stormwater Systems 

100 

Additional funding required 1055 - Urban Growth – City West 
Installation of Wastewater Systems 

300 

Reallocation of surplus funds 1488 -  Seal Extension Unsealed Roads (220) 

Reallocation of surplus funds 1578 – Monrad/Pencarrrow Roundabout 
Installation 

385 

Additional funding required 1694-Summerhill Drive - On-Street 
Parking Infrastructure 

234 

Additonal external funding 1534 – Central Energy Trust Arena 
Manawatu – Embankment Redevlopment 

130 

Additional funding required 324-Park Road / Cook Street - 
Intersection Improvements 

541 
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Additional funding required 1074-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment 
Plant - Earthquake Strengthening of Civil 
Structures 

400 

Additional funding required 1081-City Reserves -Victoria Esplanade - 
Park Road Entrance and Parking 
Reconfiguration 

190 
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Variations to Annual Budgets approved by Chief Executive 
 
The Delegations Manual provides that the Chief Executive may approve transfers of budgets 
where this will best achieve the outcome intended and savings can be made to offset the 
authorised increase. Where the amounts authorised cross activities, these are required to be 
reported quarterly to the Finance and Performance Committee. 
 

Profit and Loss Budget change  

Activity $000 

Corporate Support offsetting increase in 
both revenue and expenses due to 
Warm up Palmy 

Corporate Support: 30 Revenue  
Corporate Support: (30) Expense 

 

Movement of NZTA revenue budget from 
commercial or Strategic Investmens to 
Roading to align with nature of revenue 

Commercial or Strategic Investments (308) Revenue 
Roading 308 Revenue  

Recognition of capital revenue 
associated to clocktower insurance 
revenue 

Creative & Exciting City 99 Non-Operating Revenue 

 

Capital Renewal Programme $000 

Activity   

Water Distribution 663 Ashhurst - Bore to Reservoir Pipe 
Replacement 

157 

Water Distribution 218 City-wide - Water Pipe Replacements (139) 

Creative & Exciting City 98-City Reserve Renewals 142 

Active Community 174-Citywide Replacement of furntiure on 
reserves 

(43) 

Roads 115-City-wide - Sealed Pavement Renewals (780) 

Roads 139-City-wide - Sealed Road Resurfacing 780 

Wastewater tratement and 
disposal 

1059 – Totara Road Wastewater Treatment 
Plant - Replacement of Grit Removal Systems 

(45) 

Local Reserves 1108-Cultural/Heritage Reserve - Hokowhitu 
Lagoon - Bank Renewal 

43 

Rubish and Recycling 1374-City-wide - Recycling Drop Off Facilities - 
Renewals 

27 

Local Reserves 1474-City-wide - Renewal of park buildings and 
structures 

(43) 

 

Capital New Programme $000 

Activity   

Roads 1183 Stoney Creek Road (School) Safety 
Upgrade 

10 

Footpaths 1361 Turitea Road - Pedestrian Path/Steps 35 

Water Distribution 1386 Ashhurst water supply upgrade to address 
fire fighting shortfalls and cater for growth 

55 

Wastewater tratement and 
disposal 

1048 Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant 
- Construction of New Food Waste Facilities 

100 

Wastewater tratement and 
disposal 

1621 Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant 
- New Storage Shed for critical equipment. 

120 

Sport and Recreation 1523 -Ashurst pool enhancements  60 

Roads 719 College Street - Implementation Plan for 
Transport Upgrade 

(40) 

Wastewater collection 1043 Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant 
- Inlet Main Duplication 

(395) 

Social Housing 1219-Social Housing - Papaioea Place 
Redevelopment - Stage 2 

(133) 
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Rubish and Recycling 1371- Landfills and Transfer Stations - Safety, 
Security and Development 

61 

Community Halls and 
Facilities 

1413-Bunnythorpe Community Facility 133 

Rubish and Recycling 1373-City-wide - Recycling Drop Off Facilities - 
Development 

(6) 
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Attachment 8 – Personnel  

 

 
 
The decrease in FTE from 2020 to 2021 is due to the high number of vacancies within the 
organisation. It is anticipated that the FTE will increase as vacancies are filled. 
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Attachment 9 - Councillor Training 
June year to date spend is $24,871 against a full year budget of $34,656. 

 
 
Deputy Mayor Aleisha Rutherford 
NZ Planning Institute Conference 
Nelson 
24-26 March 2021 
 
Councillor Brent Barrett 
2Walk & Cycle Conference 
Dunedin 
16-19 March 2021 
 
 
 
 

Councillor Orphee Mickalad 
Sister Cities Conference 
Wellington 
15-16 April 2021 
 
The Mayor Grant Smith 
Deputy mayor Aleisha Rutherford 
Councillor Leonie Hapeta 
Councillor Renee Dingwall 
Councillor Orphee Mickalad 
Councillor Rachel Bowen 
Economic Development Conference 
Palmerston North 
16-18 May 2021 
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Revision to capital programme carry forward budgets requested 

As part of the adoption of the Long Term Plan Budget 2021/22, estimates for budgets to be carried forward 
from 2020/21 were included totalling $15.8M. These were based on the anticipated works that were unable to 
be completed by year end, that were considered still needing progress in 2021/22, with consideration to 
Covid-19 recovery in New Zealand and supply chain impacting on deliverability. 

With the 2020/21 financial year now complete, a more complete picture of carry forward requirements has 
now been analysed, and a revised carry forward budget increase of $2.44M is requested, with an increase of 
$562K to capital revenue and an Increase of $131K to operational expenditure.  

For three water reform funded programmes, it is requested capital and operational expenditure carry forward 
budget is increased by $2.48M and revenue is increased by $2.48M. 

 

The changes to carry forward requested have been broken down into five categories: 

 Increase to existing carry forwards 
 Reduction or no change to existing carry forwards 
 Carry forwards not identified in the Long-Term Plan with existing commitments 
 Carry forwards not identified in the Long-Term Plan without firm commitments currently in place 
 Three water reform funded carry forward programmes 

 
New  
$000 

Renewal 
$000 

Operational 
$000 

Total 
$000 

Carry forward included in 2021/22 Long Term 
Plan (including DIA funded programmes) 

12,022 3,792 0 15,814 

Adjustments (including DIA) 2,377 1,667 876 4,920 
Total carry forward (including DIA) 14,399 5,459 876 20,734 

 

External Funding (included in Long Term Plan) 1,781 1,707 0 3,488 

Adjustment to external funding 1,118 1,182 744 3,045 

Total external funding 2,899 2,890 744 6,534 

 

  New 
$000 

Renewal 
$000 

Operational 
$000 

Total 
$000 

Carry forward included in 2021/22 Long Term 
Plan (excluding DIA funded programmes) 

11,953 3,333 0 15,286 

Adjustment to actual carry forward available for those programmes included in the 2021/22 Long Term 
Plan: 
-       Increases to budget 1,912 796 0 2,708 
-       Reductions to budget -1,019 -564 0 -1,584 
Additional carry forward required for programmes unable to be completed by 30 June 2021: 

Works with existing commitments 649 400 0 1,049 

Works without existing commitments 131 0 131 263 

          
Total change to carry forward budgets 1,673 632 131 2,436 

          
Total to be carried forward to 2021/22 13,626 3,965 131 17,722 

 
Carry forward DIA funded programmes 
included in 2021/22 Long Term Plan 

69 459 0 528 

Adjustment to DIA funded programmes 653 1,086 744 2,484 

Total DIA funded programmes to be carried 
forward to 2021/22 

722 1,545 744 3,012 
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Table 1. Increase to existing carry forwards 

Programme 10YP 
2021-31 
Carry 
Forward 

Requested 
Carry 
Forward 
Amount 

Change in 
Carry 
Forward 
Requested 

Capital New       
1362-Roberts/Railway Road North Intersection Safety Realignment 223 261 38 
1413-Bunnythorpe Community Facility 344 579 234 
1578-Monrad Pencarrow Roundabout installation 196 395 199 
732-Summerhill Drive - Pedestrian and Cycle Improvements 103 172 69 
161-Public Toilets - New City-wide Toilets 96 111 14 
902-Property - Seismic Strengthening of Council Properties 1,618 1,633 16 
140-Neighbourhood Reserves- Aokautere - Peace Tree Reserve 
Development 

60 118 58 

1081-City Reserves -Victoria Esplanade - Park Road Entrance and 
Parking Reconfiguration 

159 436 277 

244-City Centre Streetscape Plan - Square East 351 555 205 
1089-NEIZ - Richardsons Line Upgrade 15 90 75 
324-Park Road / Cook Street - Intersection Improvements 200 474 274 
1615-City-wide - Parking and Traffic Signs and Marking 5 13 8 
910-Ferguson Street (Linton Street to Pitt Street) - Road Widening and 
Traffic Signal Installation 

9 40 31 

1004-Urban Growth - Whakarongo - Water Supply 50 100 50 
1005-Urban Growth - NEIZ - Water Supply 58 80 22 
1055-Urban Growth - Kakatangiata - Wastewater 315 345 30 
1388-Palmerston North - District Metering Areas for Water Supply 201 218 17 
1618-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - High Voltage Power 
resilience upgrades 

162 262 100 

1619-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - Inlet Screens 252 324 72 
91-Turitea WTP - Falling Main Duplication 1,046 1,170 125 
Capital New Total 5,463 7,375 1,912 

 

Capital Renewal       
65-City-wide - Wastewater Pump Station Renewal 193 263 70 
1351-Eastern Trunk Main - Hokowhitu Campus Renewal 40 126 86 
98-Citywide Reserves - Renewals (Victoria Esplanade, Memorial Park, 
Ashhurst Domain and Te Marae o Hine) 

54 82 28 

186-Public Toilets - Renewals 67 90 23 
115-City-wide - Sealed Pavement Renewals (Waka Kotahi Subsidies) 841 971 130 
122-City-wide - Road Drainage Renewals 8 66 59 
54-City-wide - Wastewater Pipe Renewal 240 446 206 
214-City-wide - Water Toby and Manifold Renewals 71 106 35 
185-Closed Landfills and Transfer Stations - Site Renewals 16 39 23 
1620-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - High Voltage Power 
renewals 

162 298 136 

Capital Renewal Total 1,692 2,489 796 
        
Total increase in existing carry forwards 7,156 9,864 2,708 
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Table 2. Reduction or no change in existing carry forwards 

Programme 10YP 
2021-31 
Carry 
Forward 

Requested 
Carry 
Forward 
Amount 

Change in 
Carry 
Forward 
Requested 

Capital New       

1257-City-wide - Cycle Phases at Intersections 42 42 (0) 

1575-Seismically brace the HVAC piping 260 101 (159) 
235-Manawatu River (Ashhurst to Riverside Drive) - Cycle/Pedestrian 
Pathway 45 29 (16) 

697-Clearview Reserve Development 31 31 (0) 

94-Walkways and Shared Path - Purchase of Land to Extend Network 349 305 (44) 

1473-City Centre Lighting and Projection Demonstration Project 118 104 (14) 

1039-Shared Path Connection - Riverside Drive to Railway Road 33 33 (0) 

1579-WWTP - Health and Safety Upgrades 152 152 0 

1676-Improve participation in Council and Committee meetings 80 (0) (80) 

144-Urban Growth - Whakarongo - Reserves Land Purchases 639 639 0 

1127-City Reserves - Victoria Esplanade - Bonsai & Shade House 66 66 0 

1219-Social Housing - Papaioea Place Redevelopment - Stage 2 686 682 (4) 
558-Urban Growth - Local Reserves - Takaro - Oriana Reserve 
Development 80 80 0 

1552-Animal Shelter - New Building 220 220 0 

716-Urban Growth - Whakarongo - Walkways Land Purchases 148 148 0 

279-City-wide - Minor transport improvements 16 16 0 
1440-Cuba Street urban streetscape improvements - Rangitikei to 
George Street (Stage 2) 478 446 (32) 

1003-Whakarongo - Intersection Upgrades 100 100 0 

1358-City-wide - Footpath extension 38 25 (13) 

1444-City-wide - Shared path resilience 125 (0) (125) 

1559-City-wide - Urban Cycle Infrastructure Network improvements 843 770 (73) 

1095-Palmerston North to Bunnythorpe Shared Path 90 90 0 

1694-Summerhill Drive - On-Street Parking Infrastructure 50 49 (1) 

651-City-wide - Water Supply Resilience - Seismic Strengthening 1,032 696 (335) 

1001-Urban Growth - Whakarongo - Stormwater 99 98 (1) 

210-Urban Growth - NEIZ - Wastewater 75 75 0 

1384-City-wide - Water Supply Resilience - Additional Reservoirs 391 271 (120) 
1621-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - New Storage Shed for 
critical equipment. 153 153 0 

124-Turitea WTP - Drinking Water Standards Upgrades 50 50 0 

Capital New Total 6,490 5,470 (1,019) 
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Programme 10YP 
2021-31 
Carry 
Forward 

Requested 
Carry 
Forward 
Amount 

Change in 
Carry 
Forward 
Requested 

Capital Renewal       

179-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - Minor Equipment 
Renewals 

316 164 (151) 

278-Cemeteries - Kelvin Grove - Roading and Footpath Refurbishment 13 12 0 

784-Replacement of Council's Photocopiers/Printers 40 40 0 

1269-Bylaw Signage - Replacement 6 6 0 

53-Computer Replacement - Rolling Replacements 191 174 (17) 

1512-CCTV replacements 31 31 0 

258-City-wide - Refurbishment and Replacement of Boundary Fences 
on Reserves 

18 11 (7) 

270-Holiday Park - Renewals 45 24 (21) 

281-CAB - Renewals 36 36 0 

567-Cemeteries - Crematorium Chapel Interior Renewals 66 66 0 

1443-City-wide - Road Drainage Replacements (Unsubsidised) 65 65 0 

207-Turitea WTP - Equipment and Facility Renewals 579 249 (331) 

199-City-wide - Water Supply Bore and Network Facility Renewals 188 152 (37) 

85-Depot - Buildings and Structures Renewals 47 47 0 

Capital Renewal Total 1,641 1,076 (564) 

        

Total reductions in existing carry forwards 8,131 6,547 (1,584) 
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Table 5. Three water reform funded carry forward programmes 

These programmes have unspent balances at year-end at a required to be carried over in order to complete 
necessary works. These are fully funded from DIA subsidies. 

Programme 10YP 
2021-31 
Carry 
Forward 

Requested 
Carry 
Forward 
Amount 

Change in 
Carry 
Forward 
Requested 

Capital New       

651-City-wide - Water Supply Resilience - Seismic Strengthening 0 366 366 

1384-City-wide - Water Supply Resilience - Additional Reservoirs 0 129 129 

1619-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - Inlet Screens 0 9 9 

1688-Three Waters Resilience - Installing Telemetry 69 136 67 

1677-Upsizing of Kairanga Bunnythorpe Road Sewer and Storage 0 50 50 

1689-Three Waters Data Centre Upgrade 0 32 32 

Capital New Total 69 722 653 

        

Capital Renewal       

1068-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - Replacement of Inlet 
Pumps 

217 259 43 

179-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - Minor Equipment 
Renewals 

 0 156 156 

207-Turitea WTP - Equipment and Facility Renewals  0 458 458 

54-City-wide - Wastewater Pipe Renewal  0 10 10 

199-City-wide - Water Supply Bore and Network Facility Renewals  0 151 151 

1685-Replacement of potable water service in WWTP 220 241 21 

1693-PS Telemetry unit compatibility upgrade 22 50 28 

218-City-wide - Water Main Renewals 0 223 223 

663-Ashhurst - Water Supply Rising Main Renewal - Stage 3 0 (4) (4) 

Capital Renewal Total 459 1,545 1,086 

        

Operating Jobs       

609-Totara Road Wastewater Treatment Plant - Desludging of Sludge 
Lagoons 

0 154 154 

1681-Flow filling large diameter abandoned sewers 0 300 300 

1682-Pioneer Highway - Improvements 0 150 150 

1683-Totara Rd WWTP - Migrate data collection and plant performance 
data to cloud based system 

0 (15) (15) 

1687-Project management for delivery programme 0 35 35 

1690-Condition assessment of critical 3 waters assets 0 0 0 

1691-Regional 3 Waters Collaboration Study 0 71 71 

1692-Turitea Dams - Catchment Protection 0 50 50 

Operating Jobs Total 0 744 744 

        

Total increase in DIA funded 3 Waters  528 3,012 2,484 
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COMMITTEE WORK SCHEDULE 

TO: Council 

MEETING DATE: 1 September 2021 

TITLE: Council Work Schedule  

 

 

‘RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

1. That the Council receive its Work Schedule dated September 2021. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Work Schedule ⇩   
    

COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_files/COU_20210901_AGN_10937_AT_Attachment_25545_1.PDF
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